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Focus on synergy and profi ts

Made up of 169 group companies, Aeon engages in comprehensive retail business with 

shopping mall development and operation at its core, realizing synergy by operating from 

a strong management base. Aeon offers a lineup of stores, goods and services that are 

all characterized by a distinctive local level of customer and community partnership, on 

the one hand, and by global breadth and sophistication of services, on the other.

 Aeon is now embarking on a new era of sustainable growth, revamping its business 

structure from the ground up to increase the agility with which it refl ects the customer’s 

point of view. In August 2008, Aeon will adopt a pure holding company structure, which 

will facilitate the creation of a new growth-oriented business model and enable selective 

centralization and decentralization of management tasks for optimum effi ciency and 

increased corporate value. 
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Highlights for the year

Financial highlights

Forward-looking statements

Statements contained in this report with respect to Aeon’s plans, strategies and beliefs that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements 
about the future performance of Aeon which are based on management’s assumptions and beliefs in light of the information currently available to it. 
These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause Aeon’s actual results, perfor-
mance or achievements to differ materially from the expectations expressed herein.

The growing dynamism of the Group’s business activities was refl ected in record 
revenues. For the year under review, consolidated operating income declined for the 
fi rst time in 10 years, mainly due to the short-term costs of strategic adjustments at 
certain subsidiaries.

Notes:
1.  For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥108=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2008. Such translations should not be construed as representa-

tions that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

2.  Japanese yen figures less than a billion yen are rounded down to the nearest billion yen, except for per share data.

3.  According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority interests and any 
deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amounts of equity as of February 20, 2007 and 2008 are not direct-
ly comparable to shareholders’ equity of prior years, stated above.

Years Ended February 20, ’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Total revenues (¥ billion) 3,546 4,195 4,430 4,824 5,167 47.8

Operating income (¥ billion) 132 146 166 189 156 1.4

Net income (¥ billion) 55 62 28 57 43 0.4

Equity (¥ billion) 479 632 676 1,200 1,167 10.8

Basic net income per share (¥) 83.1 88.7 39.6 77.3 55.7 0.5

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($)
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Revenues

 Japan 89%

 North America 5%

 Asia and Others 6%

Operating income

 Japan 88%

 North America –1%

 Asia and Others 13%

Revenues and operating income by geographical segment
Growing diversity through measured expansion

Revenues

 GMS and other retail store operations 73%

 Specialty store operations 11%

 SC development operations 3%

 Service and other operations 13%

Operating income

 GMS and other retail store operations 44%

 Specialty store operations 0%

 SC development operations 23%

 Service and other operations 33%

Revenues and operating income by industry segment
Performance that mirrors Aeon’s comprehensive 
product and service offering

Operating highlights
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On August 21, 2008, we will prepare the entire Aeon Group 

for even greater growth with our transition to a pure holding 

company structure. This process of continuing reform will be 

guided by our abiding commitment to Aeon’s Basic Principles. 

Strengthening corporate governance 
We formulated the Aeon Declaration and the Aeon Code of 

Conduct as practical, everyday expressions of our unchanging 

principles. Corporate governance reform is also a vital element 

of our work to assure continual improvement in corporate 

value. Aeon has adopted the “Company with Committees” 

governance system that draws a clear line between the 

supervisory role of the directors and the management 

functions of executive offi cers. Executive offi cers are granted 

substantial authority to make timely decisions that will achieve 

our medium- to long-term goals. This governance structure 

promotes high management transparency by strengthening 

the supervisory powers of the Board of Directors. To ensure 

that decisions are reasonable and appropriate, directors 

are subject to rigorous accountability regarding their duties 

and actions. Another way we maintain transparency is 

by appointing a majority of outside directors to the Audit, 

Nomination and Compensation committees. Aeon Co., Ltd. 

will retain the Company with Committees system after its 

transition to a pure holding company in August. 

Sterling behavior by employees and suppliers
The Aeon Code of Conduct guides the daily behavior of all 

employees. By fostering a corporate culture of good faith 

and innovation, we seek the lasting trust of the community. 

All employees are continually coached in the standards 

defined by our Code of Conduct. We also provide regular 

compliance education as part of a compliance structure 

based on up-to-date knowledge of laws and regulations. 

Everything Aeon does is for the sake of our customers. This perspective 
is the basis for our timely and appropriate adaptation to the ever-changing 
business environment, and for our continuing evolution as an enterprise 
dedicated to customer satisfaction. 
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 Aeon’s Topvalu private brand goods are manufactured 

under contract by over 500 suppliers worldwide. We work 

with companies under the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct, 

which requires them to comply with laws and regulations 

and be environmentally responsible. The Code of Conduct 

includes 13 requirements relating to human rights, work 

environments, corporate ethics and environmental protection. 

To assure compliance, we maintain our own extensive 

monitoring programs. 

Environmental protection and social contribution
Aeon takes its corporate social responsibilities very 

seriously. We aim to fulfill those responsibilities and 

continually improve corporate value by balancing a global 

perspective and a fi rm commitment to local communities, all 

underscored by highly proactive environmental protection 

and social contribution activities. 

 Aeon is the first retail organization in Japan to set 

specific numerical targets for reducing CO2 emissions. 

On March 14, 2008, we adopted the Aeon Manifesto on 

the Prevention of Global Warming, under which we pledge 

to maintain corporate growth while also reducing the 

environmental load. We aim to cut CO2 emissions by 30% 

from the fi scal 2006 level by fi scal 2012. 

 One of the ways we are involving customers with this goal 

is through a new policy reducing on store-provided plastic 

shopping bags. We introduced it at the Jusco Higashiyamanijo 

Store in Kyoto in January 2007. With the cooperation of 

customers, local governments and community groups, we 

have extended it to 42 outlets as of February 2008. Half of 

the savings from the reduction of plastic bag use is being 

donated to the local government and community groups toward 

environmental protection and community enrichment. The other 

half is being used to purchase CO2 emission credits, which 

we transfer to the government each year free of charge. We 

are also contributing to environmental protection through the 

establishment of Eco-Stores featuring advanced environmental 

technologies and systems. As of February 2008, there are four 

Eco-Stores in Japan. 

 The Aeon Environment Foundation sponsors tree-planting 

projects in Japan and overseas and supports environmental 

NGOs. The Foundation is also implementing a fi ve-year program 

to plant an additional one million trees near the Great Wall 

of China. This initiative was launched in 2007 on the 35th 

anniversary of the normalization of relations between Japan and 

China. Currently, there are 13 tree-planting projects in Japan 

and overseas, including Qingdao and Hong Kong in China and 

a project in Cambodia. The “Aeon Hometown Forests” program 

sponsors additional projects, bringing the cumulative total 

through Aeon’s initiative to around eight million trees. 

 The Aeon 1% Club works in partnership with UNICEF to 

support school construction in other countries. To date, we 

have helped build 149 schools in Cambodia, 57 in Nepal and 

62 in Laos. The Aeon 1% Club supported the construction 

of the newly opened Preah Norodom Sihanouk Angkor 

Museum, near the Angkor Wat World Heritage site, to 

house and exhibit 274 historically precious Buddhist statues 

excavated at the Banteay Kdei Temple.

 In 2008, we will celebrate Aeon’s 250th anniversary. 

Through continual improvement based on our “customer 

first” philosophy, we aim to become the leader in customer 

satisfaction. We will also continue to fulfi ll our responsibilities 

as a good corporate citizen through spirited environmental 

protection and social contribution activities.

Annual Report 2008

Aeon Basic Principles

Peace :  Aeon is a corporate group whose operations are dedicated to 
the pursuit of peace through prosperity.

People :  Aeon is a corporate group that respects human dignity and 
values personal relationships. 

Community :  Aeon is a corporate group rooted in local community life 
and dedicated to making a continuing contribution to the 
community.

The 
Customer

Peace

CommunityPeople

Akihiko Harada
Chairman of the Board
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Aeon will increase profi tability by remodeling its business 
structure as it rises to the challenge of enhancing corporate 
value and maximizing shareholder returns.

Aeon has implemented various policies such as investment in 

IT and distribution systems in order to respond quickly to the 

changing business environment and fulfi ll its responsibilities 

to consumers as a retailer. Moreover, we have become the 

largest retail business in Japan because we have continued 

to achieve growth through a combination of organic growth 

and our alliance strategy. Aeon announced its medium-term 

business plan in April 2008. The objectives of the plan are 

to establish new growth areas and strengthen our business 

structure. Going forward, Aeon will implement this plan in 

order to achieve growth as a “glocal” company—meaning one 

that is both highly global and intimately local. For example, 

we are planning to open our fi rst shopping mall in Beijing in 

2008 and to open more stores in China after that.

 Aeon, which is now in the 250th year since its founding, 

has also announced the Aeon Manifesto on the Prevention 

of Global Warming, which addresses an issue that requires 

an urgent response. The aims of the manifesto are to achieve 

simultaneously the two most important aims of our company, 

corporate growth and the reduction of our environmental 

impact. I ask for your continued support.

Motoya Okada
President
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ithin Japan, we faced an extremely challenging consumer 

spending environment. The situation in the year under review 

was further complicated by sharp rises in the prices of crude oil and 

raw materials, which resulted in higher prices for manufactured goods. 

Another factor was the termination of the fi xed-rate tax cut for individuals. 

This caused a decline in real incomes, accompanied by a rapid rise in 

defensive attitudes on the part of consumers. We also had to deal with a 

range of new business issues, including emerging public awareness of 

risks relating to food safety, as well as the need to implement decisive and 

progressive measures in relation to global warming. However, in China and 

other Asian markets, we continued to enjoy strong performance driven 

by expanding domestic demand. The pace of growth is extremely rapid 

in these markets and is expected to continue. We therefore regard China 

and Southeast Asia as our most important targets for future expansion.  

n the year ended February 20, 2008, our consolidated revenues 

exceeded ¥5 trillion for the first time, actually, ¥5.17 trillion 

(US$47.8 billion). If we include equity-method associated companies, the 

total rises to over ¥7 trillion. Consolidated operating income declined by 

¥33 billion (US$305 million) from the previous year’s level, to ¥156 billion 

(US$1.4 billion). This year-on-year decline in operating income, the fi rst in 

10 years, resulted in part from a change in accounting standards. Other 

factors included poor results at The Talbots, Inc. in the United States and a 

slump in the performance of Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd. because of the 

effects of changes in the Money Lender’s Law. Income was also affected 

by investment in new stores and systems to support the future growth of 

Mycal Corporation. The non-consolidated results for Aeon Co., Ltd. were 

substantially below the projected levels. This happened because low income 

from GMS operations, which account for the bulk of total group earnings, 

pushed down Aeon’s overall earning performance and fi nancial effi ciency. 

We see the reform of the GMS business as an urgent priority. 

How would you characterize  
Aeon’s business environment in 
the year ended February 2008? 

Q.1

What is your analysis of Aeon’s 
business performance in the 
year under review, and what are 
your thoughts on those results? 

Q.2

W

I



What are the key points 
of the medium-term 
management plan?

Q.3
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Targets to the year ending February 2011

Revenues

Operating income

Net income

Return on equity (ROE)

Return on assets (ROA)

Debt equity ratio

¥5,167 billion

¥156 billion

¥43.9 billion

4.9%

1.2%

1.2 times

02/2008

Over ¥5,850 billion

¥250 billion

¥100 billion

Over 10.0%

2.5% (Based on net income for the year ended February 20, 2008)

1.1 times

02/2011

irst, we have set target indicators to be reached by fi scal 2010: 

revenues of over ¥5,850 billion, operating income of ¥250 

billion and net income of ¥100 billion. To reach these levels, we plan 

to put through sweeping changes in our GMS operations in Japan and 

make a sustained shift to overseas expansion. Profitability will be the 

main focus. We aim to increase our ROE from 4.9% in the current year 

to over 10.0%, and our ROA from 1.2% to 2.5%. We also want to build a 

stable fi nancial base by achieving a debt-equity ratio of 1.1 times. 

 Now, I’d like to talk about the specific path we will take to get there. 

Making good use of our holding company structure, Aeon aims to improve 

profitability by maximizing returns and output from existing assets and 

infrastructure. Our priority goals are to concentrate management resources 

into strategic business areas that offer signifi cant opportunities for group-

level synergies. We also want to maximize the synergy benefits gained 

through cooperation among our various business operations. In particular, we 

will focus on radical changes to the income structure of our GMS operations 

and on transitioning to a new era of overseas business expansion.

  We will restructure our GMS operations through three initiatives. First, 

we will review the status of less profi table outlets. Second, we will develop 

new merchandise and reconfigure our sales floors. Third, we will make 

effective use of the infrastructure assets in which we have invested, 

including IT, logistics, private brand operations and e-money. 

 The first of these initiatives will be implemented steadily over the 

next three years. Where stores are operating at a loss, we will explore 

individual options for these outlets. Those options include format changes 

or scrap-and-build projects. Resources emerging from this process will 

be intensively reapplied in existing outlets. This will be the core focus of 

our GMS reform program. It is vital to make effective use of the assets we 

have acquired. 

F



 In the development of new products, we will fully integrate our 

knowledge of manufacturing and retailing by linking products in attractive 

new sales fl oors that match customer lifestyles. Our approach will focus 

on attentive incorporation of our customers’ opinions into our planning and 

designs and on assuming responsibility for all stages of the process, from 

the management of manufacturing to physical distribution and retailing. 

 Our emphasis on the effective utilization of existing infrastructure 

is a response to the extremely defensive mindset that has dominated 

consumer behavior over the past year. To survive in this environment, 

retailers need safe, high-quality private brand products that are truly 

competitive. Priority was given to consumer safety in the development of 

Aeon’s Topvalu private brand goods, and we have consistently sought to 

refl ect the wishes of customers in our products. We have also established 

our own stringent quality standards for these products. In fiscal 2007, 

sales of Topvalu lines amounted to approximately ¥265 billion (US$2.4 

billion). By 2010, we aim to increase this to ¥750 billion, in part by 

maximizing our scale advantages.

 The aim of our shift into overseas markets is to expand our business 

operations in China and elsewhere in Asia. These markets promise 

substantial future growth. In terms of vehicle sales, China is already the 

second most motorized country in the world, after the United States. We 

believe that conditions are now right for China to enter the shopping 

mall era. We will accelerate the opening of GMS or supermarket outlets, 

and by 2010 we aim to operate a total of 100 outlets in China and 90 

in Malaysia, Thailand and other Southeast Asian countries. Over the past 

three years we have invested ¥39 billion (US$361 million) in Aeon’s 

overseas business operations. In addition to our GMS operations and 

mall development business, we also plan to expand the Group’s specialty 

store operations and fi nancial service business. 

9
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Mid-term management plan

Promoting overseas business
Strengthening business in 

China and ASEAN countries

Improving the profi tability of existing domestic business

Financial strategy
Reinforcing the fi nancial 
foundation

Strengthening the group-wide 
cross-functional organization

Profi tability-oriented business focus
Improving the profi tability of GMS operations

Undertaking strategic 
group-wide mergers
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Our priority goals are to concentrate management 
resources into strategic business areas that offer signifi cant 
opportunities for group-level synergies.

e are predicting consolidated revenues of over ¥5.4 trillion, 

consolidated operating income of ¥165–175 billion and net 

income of between ¥11.0 and 15.0 billion in the coming year. The 

substantially lower net income fi gure refl ects restructuring costs, including 

the cost of closing GMS outlets and freshening sales fl oors, as well as the 

impact of changes in the tax benefi t accounting standards. 

he achievement of an optimal balance between shareholder 

returns and the improvement of corporate value over the medium 

to long term is a priority for Aeon. Our policy on returning profits with 

shareholders, who are our business partners, is based on this perspective. 

We have set a dividend floor of ¥15 (US$0.13) for the annual dividend, 

and our goal is to achieve a consolidated payout ratio of at least 15%. In 

2006, we paid ¥15 (US$0.13) per share, and in 2007 we increased this by 

¥2 to ¥17 (US$0.15). We are aiming for a payout ratio of 20% or higher, 

depending on future income results.

 Aeon is reinforcing its fi nancial base by reviewing portfolio management 

and then investing in strategic operations for investment within the 

bounds of business cash fl ow, as well as promoting asset securitization 

and optimizing group cash management to reduce interest-bearing debt.

 I hope my explanations here have earned us the continued understanding 

and support of our shareholders. 

What are your performance 
forecasts for the year ending 
February 2009? 

Q.4

Finally, what is your basic 
viewpoint on the shareholder 
returns and capital policy? 

Q.5

W

T
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Adopting a pure holding company structure
Aeon will switch to a pure holding company structure on August 

21, 2008, a reshaping of our group management aimed at stim-

ulating further growth and improving the overall value of the 

Group. Now an operating holding company, Aeon Co., Ltd. will 

become a pure holding company that owns the shares of sub-

sidiaries and other companies, with control over the entire 

Group, but without direct involvement in operations. This change 

will be achieved by handing over control of the current GMS, 

Supermarket and SC Development business divisions to a 

100% subsidiary Aeon Retail Co., Ltd. through an absorption-

type spin-off. The new, pure holding company will continue to 

offer stock to the public. After the switch, there will be a clear 

separation between the holding company (that makes strategy) 

and the operating companies (that execute business opera-

tions), sharpening each company’s focus on its specifi c duties.

 To raise corporate value, Aeon will promote a growth strate-

gy that looks beyond its current leading business areas. It will 

also seek a high level of group synergy by creating economies 

of scale, particularly for products, and by concentrating and 

streamlining common functions.

 As a pure holding company, Aeon Co., Ltd. will provide overall 

strategy, manage support functions and coordinate common 

functions for the overall Group. The Group will pursue agility and 

compact organization with an emphasis on strong communica-

tions. New chief executive offi cers (CEOs) will be appointed to 

each of the 11 business segments, and they will have full re-

sponsibility for management, including sales and budget plan-

ning for the business overall, enabling a stronger management 

structure for each business and faster management decisions.

 The Company with Committees governance structure will re-

main in place, thereby ensuring group management transparency. 

(For more details, see page 42.) Furthermore, the Aeon Manage-

ment Committee will be created as the top policymaking organiza-

tion of the Group. The number of participants in the Committee will 

be small to facilitate thorough discussion and prompt decision 

making. Further, an Investment Committee will be formed to ex-

amine carefully mid-term and yearly investment plans in order to 

make appropriate investments and resource allocations.

 Through these measures we will achieve our medium-term 

management plan and improve the corporate value of the 

overall Group. 

Nomination Committee

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Chief Merchandising Offi cer

Chief Human Resource Offi cer

CEO, International Business & Development

CEO, Financial Service Business

CEO, Strategic Small Store Business

Chief Financial Offi cer

CEO, Service Business

CEO, Drugstore Business

CEO, General Merchandising Store Business

Segmented Management System

Chief Information Offi cer

CEO, Chinese Operations

CEO, Shopping Center Development Business

Chief Environmental Management Offi cer

CEO, Nonstore Business

CEO, Specialty Store Business

CEO, Supermarket Business

Group Common Functions

G
roup com

panies

Chief Administration Offi cer

General Shareholders’ Meeting

Board of Directors

Chief Executive Offi cer

Chief Strategy Offi cer

Corporate Functions

Pure Holding Company Organization
Aeon Co., Ltd. (pending)
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Building profi ts group-wide 
with synergy and scale



Aeon has become Japan’s largest retail group, with total sales, 
including equity-method associated companies, of more than 
¥7 trillion. Aeon invested aggressively in IT and distribution 
systems to fulfi ll its responsibility on behalf of consumers to 
help streamline the complex distribution structure in Japan 
and make it more responsive. Through our efforts, we have 
become the sole retailer in Japan with suffi cient economies 
of scale to support an international supply chain management 
(SCM) and logistics infrastructure. To maximize this unique 
asset’s contribution to group competitiveness, we established 
companies to oversee private brand development, demand 
aggregation and SCM. Moreover, Marubeni Corporation and 
Mitsubishi Corporation will invest equity in those companies 
that will help us strengthen product procurement, streamline 
distribution and develop new overseas suppliers. Supply chain 
management is powering us to a new stage of growth. 

13
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Expansion of 
Topvalu private brand 
——Aeon Topvalu Co., Ltd.——

Strengthening and extending product selection to raise profi t

Improvement of 
national brand procurement capacity
——Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd.——

Expanding joint group-wide procurement of national brand 
products to cut costs and raise overall income

Strengthening of 
supply chain management functions
——Aeon Global SCM Co., Ltd.——

Comprehensive and effective logistics using SCM to support 
Aeon’s product strategy
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Policies to improve the brand
To justify the trust placed in Topvalu as the Aeon 

private brand, Aeon assumes responsibility for 

testing and inspection of all processes to ensure 

safety. We inspect 302 criteria, from planning 

and design of products, selection of the plants of 

companies to which we outsource manufacturing, 

and interviews of executives at those companies, 

to inspection of the farms from which we source 

raw materials. In addition, we enforce The Aeon 

Supplier Code of Conduct (Aeon Supplier 

CoC) to assure proper labor conditions at the 

aforementioned plants and are implementing 

s t r i c t  aud i ts  conducted  by  th i rd -par ty 

organizations. Topvalu products go on sale only 

after they have been through this strict inspection 

process. Then, we share detailed information on 

the Internet, including profi les of suppliers of our 

raw materials, records of cultivation and livestock 

breeding and list of inspection processes from 

each stage, beginning with cultivation and 

livestock breeding.

Aeon’s Topvalu private brand includes approximately 5,000 products and six sub-brands, and 
group-wide sales in the fi scal year ended February 20, 2008 came to approximately ¥265 billion 
(US$2.4 billion). Aeon has made the further expansion of the Topvalu brand one of its top 
priorities in its efforts to achieve further income growth. In May 2007 we established Aeon Topvalu 
Co., Ltd., which has overall control of product planning, development, marketing, production, 
sales promotion, etc., for the brand. As a result, we now have in place a structure to facilitate 
development and supply of products for the entire Group. Going forward, Aeon Topvalu will be a 
key driver of profi t growth for the entire Group, as its deployment swells to full potential.

Expansion of 
Topvalu private brand
— Aeon Topvalu Co., Ltd. —

Special feature 1

Topvalu product development fi rst centered on food 
products, but now we are expanding into clothing, home 
leisure products and home appliances to refl ect the high 
demand for private brand products in Japan. 
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 Topvalu features distinctive sub-brands, such as Topvalu Green-Eye and 

Topvalu Select. The former offers agricultural, marine or livestock products 

produced using minimal agricultural chemicals, chemical fertilizers, antibiotics 

and synthetic additives.  It also offers processed food using these products as 

raw materials. The latter offers specially selected, high-quality products with 

an emphasis on fl avor, ingredients, functions, and so on. Our ability to build 

the overall brand and to utilize marketing to plan products that incorporate 

the needs of customers to the maximum extent possible are advantages not 

held by the private brands of other companies. In addition to strengthening 

marketing functions and total branding, we will focus on quality, functions and 

taste in the development of regional products. Finally, we seek cost savings 

through streamlined distribution and global production, which are refl ected in 

our prices. 

Aiming for sales of ¥750 billion by 2010
Following the rise in crude oil and food prices, private brands that are comparable 

in quality to national brands, but at a lower price, are gaining wide acceptance. 

Japanese have traditionally favored name brands more strongly than Europeans 

or North Americans, but now, even in Japan private brands are highly rated. To 

refl ect the new trend, we are expanding the central focus of Topvalu product 

development from food products to clothing, home leisure products and home 

appliances, where, for example, we initiated joint development with Sanyo 

Electric Co., Ltd., a company known for outstanding technology.

 We are also expanding distribution through The Daiei, Inc., The Maruetsu, 

Inc. and other affiliated companies, who are introducing Topvalu products in 

their stores. Aeon has set a sales target of ¥750 billion for the fiscal year 

ending February 20, 2011 and intends to increase the share of total sales to 

approximately 20% in the GMS sector and 15%–20% in the SM sector by that 

date—taking advantage of economies of scale to improve gross margin ratio.

 We aim to scale up Topvalu to a brand that can offer sweeping lifestyle 

solutions for any situation, while maintaining price competitiveness. In the 

future, we will help drive the growth of Aeon by raising the proportion of sales 

accounted for by Topvalu to 30%–40% of total sales.

“  We aim to scale up Topvalu to 
  a brand that can offer sweeping 
lifestyle solutions for any situation.”

Tetsu Tomonaga
President, 

Aeon Topvalu Co., Ltd.
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Expansion of joint procurement
Total joint procurement totaled ¥145 billion (US$1.3 billion) in fi scal 2007. 

We plan to raise this to ¥300 billion in fi scal 2008 and to ¥460.0 billion in 

fi scal 2010. The aggregation ratio was 8.2% in fi scal 2007 and will rise to 

11.5% in fi scal 2008 and 14.8% in fi scal 2010. Cost savings will increase 

from ¥4 billion (US$37 million) in fi scal 2007 to ¥6 billion in fi scal 2008 

and ¥15 billion in fi scal 2010—resulting in a 3% improvement in the gross 

profi t ratio in all divisions in which joint procurement is implemented.

 The first measure is aggregation of procurement at all of our 

consolidated companies. Currently, 90% of the companies are participating 

in joint purchasing, and the remaining 10% are rapidly coming on board. 

We are working to introduce joint purchasing throughout Aeon. At this time, 

the platform has been largely completed, and we will use it to advance joint 

procurement wherever possible. 

 Regarding products, we plan to maintain a balance with private brand 

products, and expand food products and non-food products. We have set a 

goal of achieving an aggregation rate of 30% for our food products overall, 

relative to the Group’s total purchasing costs of ¥3,300 billion (US$30.5 

billion), and we will also increase this rate for the consumable sundries 

handled group-wide relative to total non-food products.

We have brought distinctive merchandising to our stores through private brands, which, at the 
same time, give us a powerful advantage in pricing competition and increase the gross margin. As 
we expand private branding, we will also be aggressively aggregating group demand for national 
brands and raw materials, seeking economies of scale that will minimize our wholesale and 
distribution costs. Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd., established in May 2007, is to lead these 
efforts as the central point for group procurement. We expect to cut costs substantially and make a 
major improvement to overall income. 

Improvement of 
national brand procurement capacity
— Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd. —

Special feature 1
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Greater direct sourcing
One of our priorities is to expand the volume of directly sourced products, 

which we purchase directly from the manufacturers without going through 

wholesalers. This enables us to eliminate price mark-ups by middlemen. Aeon 

has long engaged in direct sourcing with manufacturers to reduce purchase 

prices, and currently has agreements with 61 participating companies involving 

a total value of approximately ¥105 billion (US$972 million) annually. In fi scal 

2008, we are aiming to expand the number of participating manufacturers 

to 73, while at the same time extending the practice horizontally throughout 

the group companies. We have also set a target volume for direct sourcing of 

¥147 billion (43% higher than in fi scal 2007).

 We are also currently working on a plan to trial direct sourcing on a just-

in-time basis, eliminating warehouse inventories, beginning with beverages. 

Our medium-term goal is to eliminate all costs associated with intermediate 

distribution inventories by delivering products directly from the manufacturers 

to our stores.

Further benefi ts from the streamlining of management
Along with the promotion of joint procurement, we are simultaneously 

eliminating duplication in processes through system integration and 

the standardization of merchandising. By concentrating the purchasing 

responsibility for national brand products that are common to the whole 

Group in Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd., we allow each group 

company to concentrate on the merchandising areas that make it 

distinctive—and that will strengthen merchandising for Aeon as a whole. 

Aeon Global Merchandising will have primary responsibility for overall 

development of national brand product sales, including aggregation of the 

procurement, strengthening of merchandising, promotion of sales, and so 

on. Its mission is to provide products that are relevant to the daily lives of 

our customers as inexpensively as possible.

“ Currently, 90% of the companies are 
participating in joint purchasing, 

 and the remaining 10% are rapidly  
 coming on board.”

Yoshitomo Suzuki
President, 

Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd.
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Further strengthening of SCM
The company that is central to the SCM of Aeon is Aeon Global SCM Co., Ltd. 

SCM refers to the mechanism for integrated management and operation of the 

series of processes required for the supply of products, including procurement 

of the products from manufacturers, management of inventories and distribution 

to the stores. It reduces physical and time losses and waste in each distribution 

stage by removing barriers between manufacturing, wholesaling and sales to 

optimize the overall process. It also leads to a reduction of costs for the Group by 

lowering distribution costs and refl ecting this reduction in product costs. In fi scal 

2007, the reduction in distribution costs that was refl ected in lower product costs 

was ¥269 million (US$2.4 million) and Aeon plans to increase this to ¥2.32 

billion in fi scal 2008 and ¥3.882 billion in fi scal 2010.

Expansion of the SCM network
In order to expand SCM, it is essential for all group companies to join Aeon’s 

supply network. This is the key to reducing the distribution costs of the overall 

Group. Currently, we are steadily expanding the size of the network, primarily 

centered on GMS and supermarkets. In fi scal 2007, the Aeon companies in the 

Kyushu area decided to introduce low-temperature distribution. (Kyushu Low 

Temperature Cross-dock Center plans to commence operations in November 

2008.) In addition, we decided to introduce Topvalu products to The Daiei, Inc. 

The foundation that supports and realizes Aeon’s private brand strategy and national brand 
procurement strategy is our supply chain. Based on our Strategic IT Initiative and the 
Strategic Distribution Initiative, Aeon’s work on the development of information systems and 
distribution structures has produced good results, developing distribution functions based on 
its store opening strategy. Now, as a policy for improving income, we are working to expand 
the application of supply chain management (SCM) to all Aeon companies in order to further 
reduce distribution costs.

Strengthening of 
supply chain management functions
— Aeon Global SCM Co., Ltd. —

Special feature 1
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The Maruetsu, Inc. commenced trial supply of Topvalu products in ten stores in 

January 2008. Going forward, we plan to expand the use of SCM by Daiei and 

Maruetsu, commence full-scale supply of Topvalu products, and increase the 

supply of national brand directly-traded products. Furthermore, Maxvalu Tokai 

Co., Ltd. plans to join the network in the second half of 2009. In future we will 

aim to cut costs further by gradually expanding the network to other industry 

sectors, including drugstores, specialty stores, and so on. We are also working 

to enhance overseas distribution. For example, we are building a distribution 

structure in China to support the increasing number of stores we are opening 

there, and we are developing our business in Southeast Asian countries such 

as Thailand and Malaysia.

Improvement of SCM functions
Important elements include cutting distribution and inventory costs through 

the development and expansion of an SCM foundation, and how to strengthen 

functional aspects. Aeon commenced the introduction of Collaborative Planning 

Forecasting and Replenishment (CPFR) in 2005, and we will increase the 

precision of CPFR in order to produce reliable results.

 CPFR is a system for formulating product sales plans, making sales 

forecasts for each product and carrying out product restocking. Using this 

system, it is possible to calculate the basic demand for a product up to 24 

weeks in advance. Sharing information with manufacturers enables them to 

achieve more effi cient production and cut manufacturing costs, making product 

cost reduction possible. It also leads to more effi cient management because it 

promotes stable supply and the reduction of inventories. Going forward, we will 

also consider Topvalu demand forecasts in collaboration with Aeon Topvalu Co., 

Ltd. and further development of CPFR to national brands in collaboration with 

Aeon Global Merchandising Co., Ltd., and achieve further cost reductions by 

improving the precision of CPFR.

 In recent times the market has matured, making it even more imperative 

to procure and supply the high-quality items our customers want at the right 

time and in the right quantity. Aeon is focusing on the strengthening of its SCM 

foundation to achieve an optimal overall structure, and thus maximize profi ts 

and customer satisfaction.

“  We are working to expand the 
application of supply chain 
management (SCM) to all Aeon 
companies in order to further reduce 
distribution costs.”

Takao Iwamoto
President, 

Aeon Global SCM Co., Ltd.
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Aeon aspires to be a company that combines cutting edge management systems with 
close links to local communities. We are determined to achieve a high standard of customer 
satisfaction by continually evolving in step with changes in the business environment so that 
we can continue to respond promptly and accurately to evolving customer needs.

GMS and 
other retail store 

operations

Specialty store 
operations

SC development 
operations

Service and 
other operations

Overview
In the year ended February 20, 2008, Aeon Co., Ltd. and its 

140 consolidated subsidiaries reported consolidated revenues 

of ¥5,167 billion (US$47,845 million), an increase of 7.1% 

over the previous year’s result. Consolidated operating income 

amounted to ¥156 billion (US$1,444 million), 17.8% decline 

from the previous year’s fi gure. 

 Aeon continued to develop shopping malls and vigorously 

expand the range of its activities in the year under review, and 

this was refl ected in record revenues. However, consolidated 

operating income declined for the fi rst time in 10 years, mainly 

because of a write-down of goodwill by The Talbots, Inc. in the 

United States related to its acquisition of the J. Jill Group and 

a slump in the Japanese earnings of Aeon Credit Service Co., 

Ltd. because of changes in the Money Lenders’ Law. We also 

wrote off the goodwill of The Daiei, Inc., with the result that net 

income was below the previous year’s level for the fi rst time 

in two years. Because of a change in accounting standards 

applicable to the year under review, amortization of positive 

goodwill, amounting to ¥8.3 billion (US$77 million), is included 

in “selling, general and administrative expenses,” rather than in 

“other income (expenses).” 

 Manufacturers raised prices to reflect sharply higher 

raw material and crude oil costs, which made consumers 

increasingly defensive and price conscious. The entire Group 

responded to this situation by working to expand sales of our 

Topvalu private brand goods that deliver high product value 

for reasonable prices. The large growth in Topvalu sales at the 

group companies resulted in a 20.3% year-on-year increase 

in Topvalu sales, amounting to approximately ¥265 billion 

(US$2,453 million), an all-time record. 

 Aeon’s first-in-class logistics network allows it to deal 

directly with manufacturers. In the year ended February 20, 

2008, we moved even further toward maximizing synergies 

by establishing three new companies to take over common 

group functions from Aeon Co., Ltd.–private brand product 

development, procurement based on group-level demand 

aggregation and supply chain management (SCM). We will use 

these three companies to improve our price competitiveness 

and gross margins by further expanding our private brand 

range and leveraging demand aggregation for receiving 

discounts from national brand manufactures. 

 In the year under review, we expanded our presence in 

financial services with the milestone establishment of Aeon 

Bank, Ltd. and the introduction of the Waon e-money service. 

Aeon will continue to grow through entry into new business 

areas, including overseas business, while maintaining its core 

focus on the shopping mall business and other retail activities. 



REVENUES:

GMS and other retail store operations

Specialty store operations

SC development operations

Service and other operations

     Total 

Eliminations of intersegment revenue  

TOTAL REVENUES

OPERATING INCOME:

GMS and other retail store operations

Specialty store operations

SC development operations

Service and other operations

     Total 

Eliminations of intersegment 
operating income

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

’04

Millions of Yen

’05 ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08Years Ended February 20, 

 $ 38,274,888

  5,924,828

  1,314,264

  6,810,227

 $ 52,324,208

  (4,478,224)

 $ 47,845,984

 $ 642,050

  (5,156)

  331,785

  479,078

 $ 1,447,757

  (2,933)

 $ 1,444,823

 ¥ 3,836,401

  609,665

  126,992

  662,351

 ¥ 5,235,410

  (410,635)

 ¥ 4,824,775

 ¥ 75,184

  16,218

  38,538

  61,586

 ¥ 191,528

  (1,800)

 ¥ 189,728

 ¥ 3,641,742

  499,132

  68,409

  607,271

 ¥ 4,816,555

  (386,269)

 ¥ 4,430,285

 ¥ 63,346

  21,911

  21,023

  60,635

 ¥ 166,916

  (810)

 ¥ 166,105

 ¥ 3,481,224

  463,812

  58,915

  575,311

 ¥ 4,579,264

  (383,420)

 ¥ 4,195,843

 ¥ 55,853

  19,846

  17,927

  53,436

 ¥ 147,063

  (286)

 ¥ 146,777

 ¥ 2,837,009

  449,161

  49,240

  501,962

 ¥ 3,837,373

  (291,157)

 ¥ 3,546,215

 ¥ 47,903

  24,104

  13,849

  45,792

 ¥ 131,649

  562

 ¥ 132,212

 ¥ 4,133,688

  639,881

  141,940

  735,504

 ¥ 5,651,014

  (483,648)

 ¥ 5,167,366

 ¥ 69,341

  (556)

  35,832

  51,740

 ¥ 156,357

  (316)

 ¥ 156,040

Note:  For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥108=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2008. Such translations 
should not be construed as representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.
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GMS and 
other retail store 
operations

GMS and other retail store operations
Aeon’s activities in this segment are based primarily on 

general merchandise stores (GMS), supermarkets and 

convenience stores. Our aim is to maximize customer 

satisfaction in all aspects of our operations, including our 

stores and services. We are also working to improve 

profi tability by making optimal use of our infrastructure, 

including IT, logistics, private brand and e-money. Revenues 

from GMS and other retail store operations amounted to 

¥4,133 billion (US$38,274 million), a year-on-year increase 

of 7.7%. Operating income reached ¥69.3 billion (US$642 

million), 7.8% below the previous year’s result. This segment 

contributed 44.4% of consolidated operating income. 

GMS operations
Performance review 
In the year ended February 20, 2008, revenues from 

domestic GMS operations increased by 9.5% year on year 

to ¥3,204 billion (US$29,675 million), while operating 

income amounted to ¥41.4 billion (US$383 million), a 

decline of 13.3% from the previous year’s fi gure. The non-

consolidated results for Aeon Co., Ltd. were affected by 

unseasonable weather conditions and a deterioration of 

consumer spending outside of the metropolitan areas. As a 

result, existing-store sales were 0.4% below the previous 

year’s level, although revenues were 5.5% higher at ¥2,068 

billion (US$19,154 million). Operating income declined by 

5.5% to ¥31.7 billion (US$293 million). 

 Mycal Corporation opened two new stores, both of which 

fared well. The gross margin ratio for directly operated stores 

improved, thanks to higher sales of Topvalu private brand 

goods, aggressive group-level integration and revised sales 

systems. However, despite the higher sales, income was lower 

because of investment in new stores and the refurbishment 

of existing stores, as well as IT investment relating to the 

introduction of common group infrastructure. 

GMS business strategy
We continued to adapt our store network to local changes 

through an ongoing scrap-and-build program, which opened 

Aeon is going all out to redefi ne its GMS 
operations with a new, independent 
management and innovative merchandising. 

63.3

3,641
4,133

69.3

3,836

75.1

FY ’06 ’08’07

GMS and other retail store 
operations

(¥ billion)

FY ’06 ’08’07
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15

GMS scrap-and-build 
operations

 Revenues  Operating income  scrap  build
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15 new outlets and closed 14, leaving the total number of 

GMS outlets at 606. This includes outlets of the acquired The 

Daiei, Inc. outlets. 

 In terms of both sales fl oor area and sales, Aeon is Japan’s 

largest GMS operator. Our GMS outlets offer apparel, foodstuffs 

and household items in sales displays that resonate with and 

help to enhance the lives of consumers throughout Japan. We 

achieve this by grouping merchandise under new categories, 

such as “travel,” “walking,” “relaxation” and “fi tness.”

 In food sales areas, we promoted local consumption of 

local products to build closer ties with the community, further 

aided by making our facilities available for community activities. 

At the same time, we provided local producers with access to 

a nationwide market through our extensive store network. In 

the year under review, Aeon opened its fourth outlet based on 

the environment-friendly “Eco-Store” format.

Supermarket operations
Performance review
Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd., Maxvalu Nishinihon Co., Ltd. and Maxvalu 

Kyushu Co., Ltd. grew both revenues and operating income. 

However, while total revenues from supermarket operations in 

Japan increased by 6.5% year on year to ¥694 billion (US$6,430 

million), operating income slipped to ¥17.2 billion (US$159 

million), a 0.5% decline. Reasons include lower income from 

Maxvalu Tohoku Co., Ltd. and Maxvalu Chubu Co., Ltd. 

Supermarket business strategy
We are building Japan’s fi rst national supermarket chain, from 

Hokkaido to Okinawa. During the year, we opened 62 new 

supermarkets in Japan and closed 32, bringing the total 

number to 1,182. This includes outlets of The Maruetsu, Inc. 

and Belc Co., Ltd.

 Our supermarkets continued to build competitiveness and 

profi t margins by expanding sales of Topvalu products and 

expanding demand. Aeon supermarket companies also pursued 

localization strategies designed to add a regional twist to their 

merchandise, such as the popular locally produced items like 

fresh vegetables and local delicacies. 

 While encouraging supermarkets to grow through their own 

efforts, Aeon is also preparing for future growth by forming 

operational and capital alliances. In the year ended February 

20, 2008, we acquired shares in Kohyo Co., Ltd., an urban 

supermarket chain based in Osaka and Hyogo Prefectures, to 

strengthen our business base in the Kansai region. 

 Convenience store operator Ministop Co., Ltd. has built its 

network on an unconventional format that includes on-site 

preparation of fast food. In the year under review, it grew fast 

food operations by developing and promoting original 

products, including dessert items prepared on-site. These 

efforts helped raise same-store sales in Japan by 0.8%. 

Overseas, Ministop Korea Co., Ltd., with around 1,000 outlets, 

continued its strong sales growth, and both revenues and 

operating income were higher.

Revenues of 
Aeon Kyushu

(¥ billion)
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FY ’06 ’08’07
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Revenues of 
Aeon Co., Ltd.
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Revenues of 
Aeon Hokkaido 

(¥ billion)

3,919
4,286
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Revenues of 
Aeon Stores 
(Hong Kong) (HK$ million)

Revenues of 
Aeon Co. (M) Bhd.

(RM$ million)

1,962 1,941

2,886

FY ’06 ’08’07

One of Aeon’s biggest strengths is the full range of shopping needs and 
lifestyles it serves, with everything from produce to entertainment.
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GMS operations in China and Southeast Asia
Performance review
In the year ended February 20, 2008, revenues increased 

substantially by 17.5% to ¥205 billion (US$1,905 million), and 

operating income soared by 28.4% to ¥10.6 billion (US$98.2 

million). Our operations in China continued to perform well. 

Revenues rose by 14.2% to ¥95.6 billion (US$886 million), while 

operating income was 46.4% higher at ¥5.6 billion (US$51 

million).

Overseas business strategy
During the year, we opened 10 new GMS outlets and super-

markets in China and Southeast Asia and closed two, bringing 

the total number to 68.

 Aeon opened its fi rst overseas GMS outlet in Malaysia in 

1985. Today, we have stores in China, Malaysia and Thailand. 

In 2007, we established Beijing Aeon Co., Ltd. to strengthen 

our business infrastructure in the rapidly growing areas of Bei-

jing and northern China. In Autumn 2008, we will open the 

largest suburban mall-type shopping center in China, Interna-

tional Shopping Mall  (tentative name).

 Aeon Malaysia opened two new GMS outlets and three 

supermarkets and refurbished existing stores, continuing to 

Aeon is bringing synergy and nationwide economies of scale to 
supermarket operations that also feature local products.

Number of retail facilities in GMS and 
other retail store operations by store type

As of February 20, 2008 2007

GMS  606 471

Supermarkets  1,182 765

Convenience stores  3,082 2,974

Others 241 197

 Total  5,111 4,407

Notes: 1 Including Daiei stores
 2 Including Maruetsu and Belc stores
 3 Home centers, discount stores, department stores, and so on

enhance the range of tenants in its shopping malls for in-

creased revenues and income. 

 The focus of Aeon’s activities is shifting from the mature 

Japanese market to growing overseas markets, especially 

China and Southeast Asia. In China, we are using our total 

group resources to develop mall-type shopping centers. By 

the end of fi scal 2010, we aim to have 100 outlets in China 

and 90 in Malaysia and Thailand. We will accelerate overseas 

growth by using management systems developed in Japan to 

provide high-quality management, including the highest 

standards of safety and security.
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Aeon Shunde Shopping Center opened 
in February 2007 in GuangDong Province in China.

Aeon is speeding up the opening of its 

stores abroad, especially in China and 

Southeast Asia. This plan includes the 

scheduled autumn 2008 opening of 

International Shopping Mall (tentative 

name) in Beijing, which will have parking 

for 8,000 vehicles. Aeon is accelerating the 

opening of supermarkets and GMS stores 

in northern and southern China. By 2010, 

we plan a network of 100 supermarkets 

and GMS stores in China and 90 in other 

parts of Asia. 

China
EXPANDING OUR NETWORK IN 

AND OTHER ASIAN COUNTRIES
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Specialty store
operations

Specialty store operations
Performance review 
In the year ended February 2008, total specialty store revenues 

increased by 5.0% over the previous year’s result to ¥639 

billion (US$5.9 billion). However, this segment registered an 

operating income loss of ¥556 million (US$5 million) because 

of a major fall in income from overseas specialty stores. 

Specialty store business strategy
Aeon has a wide array of specialty stores from Japan and 

overseas offering carefully selected merchandise. These 

stores cater to individual lifestyles by supplying goods ranging 

from fashion apparel and sundries to foodstuffs and daily 

necessities. 

 The specialty store The Talbots, Inc. has built a solid reputation 

as one of America’s leading retailers of women’s apparel by 

offering coordinated fashion ideas based on its “American 

classic” brand concept. In 2006, Talbots merged with The J. 

Jill Group, Inc., an American multi-channel retailer of women’s 

apparel, accessories and shoes. In the year under review, this 

merger yielded increased revenues. However, unseasonable 

weather conditions and lower consumer spending in the 

United States caused sales to stagnate, especially in the area 

of casual apparel, with the result that operating income was 

lower. Talbots is now working under its new CEO to achieve a 

recovery in business performance by focusing on its core area 

of women’s apparel. It will withdraw from operations in the U.K., 

children’s apparel and menswear in the third quarter of 2008. 

 Aeon Forest Co., Ltd., operator of the Body Shop chain 

in Japan, raised both revenues and operating income by 

strengthening its selling systems and building brand recogni-

tion. The apparel retailer Blue Grass Co., Ltd. was affected 

by unseasonable weather and changing fashion trends, which 

resulted in slow sales of key products. Same-store sales at 

Blue Grass fell by 10.7%. 

 Across Japan, total revenues from specialty store operations 

increased, but operating income was lower. 

 In the drugstore segment, Aeon is further enhancing the 

health, beauty care and senior care areas in its GMS outlets. 

These offer a wide range of products and services, including 

Our specialty store operations are marked 
for their sophisticated retail designs and 
attractive products from around the world.

Specialty store operations

(¥ billion)

639

FY ’06 ’07

–0.5

’08

21.9

499

609

16.2
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prescription services. Aeon also continued to build Aeon 

Welcia Stores into one of Japan’s largest national drugstore 

chains, with net sales of ¥700 billion, in partnership with 

nine leading Japanese pharmacy and drugstore operators 

(one consolidated subsidiary, six equity-method associated 

companies and two affi liated companies). In the year ended 

February 20, 2008, the number of outlets increased by 289 

to a total of 1,730. Including the 436 drugstores operated by 

Aeon Co., Ltd. and other group companies, the total climbed 

to 2,166 stores operated by 14 companies. 

Number of specialty stores

As of February 20, 2008 2007

Talbots  (U.S.-based apparel retailer)  1,149 1,125
J. Jill  (U.S.-based multi-channel women’s apparel retailer)  273 239
Taka:Q *  (Men’s clothing) 239 204
Yamaya *  (Liquor and imported food store) 186 175
Tsuruya Shoe Store *  (All-round shoe store) 67 63
Cox  (Family casual wear retailer)  218 197
Blue Grass  (Women’s fashion apparel retailer)  542 560
Abilities Jusco  (CD, DVD and book retailer) 9 8
Aeon Forest  (Japanese operator of The Body Shop stores [U.K.])  156 135
Claire’s Nippon *  (Japanese operator of U.S. casual fashion accessory store)  198 194
Talbots Japan  (Japanese operator of Talbots stores [U.S.])  45 47
Nustep  (Family shoe store)  298 270 
Miraiya Shoten  (Bookstore chain)  153 145 
Petcity  (Pets and pet supplies)  80 59 
Mycal Cantevole  (Fresh in-store bakery)  54 54 
Aeon Bakery Systems  (Fresh in-store bakery) 21 — 
Origin Toshu (Retailer of take-out prepared meals)  596 702 
Mega Sports  (Japanese operator of The Sports Authority stores [U.S.])  72 70 
Mega Petro  (Gas stations at shopping malls) 59 48
Aeon Body  (Operator of cosmetics, skincare and health stores) 1  —
Laura Ashley Japan  (Japanese operator of Laura Ashley stores [U.K.])  88 81
   Total  4,504 4,376 
Note:  Equity-method associated company

20.9

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

20.7 21.0

29.6

FY ’06 ’07 ’08
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Revenues of 
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Revenues of 
Blue Grass

(¥ billion)

Aeon is the exclusive operator in Japan of famed British fashion and 
home decoration store, Laura Ashley.
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SC development
operations

SC development
operations
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Aeon shopping mall 
operations mix state-of-the-
art management systems with 
extreme care to match each 
store to its community.
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SC development operations
Performance review 
In the year ended February 2008, the shopping center (SC) devel-

opment business generated revenues of ¥141 billion (US$1,314 

million), an increase of 11.8% over the previous year’s result. 

Operating income amounted to ¥35.8 billion (US$331 million), 

7.0% below the previous year’s result. This segment accounted 

for 22.9% of consolidated operating income.

SC development business strategy
As Japan’s pioneering specialist shopping mall developer, Aeon 

creates shopping malls in Japan and overseas. Anchored by 

GMS outlets, Aeon operates shopping malls with a wide vari-

ety of specialty stores and services and contributes to regional 

development and the evolution of vibrant communities. 

 In the year under review, Aeon Mall Co., Ltd., which merged 

with Diamond City Co., Ltd. on August 21, 2007, opened three 

new shopping malls, using the rich know-how of location de-

velopment and tenant leasing cultivated by the two companies. 

This brought the total number of malls as of February 2008 to 

46. In addition to the establishment of new malls, Aeon Mall 

also took steps to enhance the earning potential of existing 

facilities, including refurbishment projects. These efforts were 

refl ected in a 2.3% increase in the sales of specialty stores 

in existing shopping malls and a consequent growth in both 

revenues and operating income. Equity-method affi liate Loc 

Development Co., Ltd. opened fi ve new shopping malls, bring-

ing its total as of February 2008 to 38.

 We will continue to use our accumulated expertise as Ja-

pan’s biggest developer of commercial facilities to expand our 

operations not only in Japan, but also in China and Southeast 

Asia. Changes to three urban development laws in Japan will 

make it diffi cult for our competitors to open large-scale shop-

ping malls. Aeon has 606 GMS stores and 1,182 supermar-

kets, numbers that qualify us as the No. 1 retailer in Japan. We 

will further strengthen our competitive position by extensively 

refurbishing our existing outlets.
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Service and other
operations

Service and other operations
Performance review 
In the year ended February 2008, revenues from service 

operations increased by 11.0% to ¥735 billion (US$6,810 

million), while operating income amounted to ¥51.7 billion 

(US$479 million), a decline of 16.0% from the previous year’s 

result. This segment accounted for 33.1% of consolidated 

operating income.

Service and other business strategy
Aeon helps its customers to enjoy lifestyles of convenience 

and fulfi llment by providing a wide range of services, including 

fi nancial services, such as credit cards and banking, amusement 

services, entertainment and restaurants. Aeon Delight Co., 

Ltd., which provides general building maintenance services, 

achieved growth in both revenues and operating income. 

Contributing factors included new contracts for commercial 

Service is about fl exibility and effi ciency, 
qualities that are helping companies like 
Aeon Delight to attract new customers 
outside the Group.

Service and other
operations

(¥ billion)

735

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

607
662

51.760.6 61.5

49.4

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

34.4

48.9

Revenues of 
Aeon Fantasy

(¥ billion)

4.4

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

4.4 4.5

Revenues of 
Zwei

(¥ billion)

66.6

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

47.4

59.6

Revenues of 
Certo

(¥ billion)

137.5

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

62.3

111.1

Revenues of 
Aeon Delight

(¥ billion)

 Revenues  Operating income
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In the year under review, Aeon launched several 

new fi nancial services. Since April 2007, 

Waon e-money has come to 25,000 Aeon 

stores across Japan, with around 4.90 million 

e-money cards issued (through June 30, 2008). 

In October 2007, Aeon Bank debuted as the 

fi rst bank of a Japanese retailer to offer the full 

range of banking services. As of February 2008, 

there were 13 in-store Aeon Bank branches. 

Customer growth has been outstanding, with 

250,000 new accounts and deposits of about 

¥140 billion (US$1.2 billion) .

New Level
ADVANCING TOWARD A 

OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Waon is the name of Aeon’s 
exclusive e-money card

Users of Waon automatically 
receive points and special 
discounts along with its innovative 
e-money convenience.

JMB Waon
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facilities outside of the Group, as well as the expansion of 

fi nancial facility services, such as cash transportation and 

custody services. Certo Corporation, which provides business 

supplies and operates vending machines, the retail shoe-

repair and clothing alteration company Reform Studio Co., 

Ltd., and the travel agency Jusvel Co., Ltd. also recorded 

increased revenues and operating income. The core company 

in this segment is Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd., which recently 

celebrated the 20th anniversary of its Hong Kong subsidiary. 

Despite buoyant performance trends in overseas markets, 

including Hong Kong, Thailand and Malaysia, the results for 

the year ended February 2008 were affected by law changes 

in Japan, with the result that revenues were higher, even as 

operating income declined temporarily. In December 2007, 

the Malaysian subsidiary, Aeon Credit Service (M) Berhad 

was listed on the Malaysian stock exchange Main Board. 

 In October 2007, we established Aeon Bank, Ltd. As a full retail 

bank created through the convergence of commerce and fi nance, 

this institution will provide customer-focused services through 

in-store branches in Aeon shopping malls. Initial results are very 

encouraging. The bank had approximately 250,000 accounts 

and deposits of ¥140 billion (US$1,296 million) by the end of 

February 2008. (Following a third-party share issue in October 19, 

2007, Aeon Bank, Ltd. ceased to be a consolidated subsidiary of 

Aeon Co., Ltd. and instead became an equity-method associated 

company.) In April 2007, Aeon began to roll out its Waon e-money 

service in the Kanto region. Since then, the service area has 

expanded nationwide, and by June 30, 2008, 4.90 million cards 

had been issued and the service was available in 25,000 stores. 

 Along with a broad business alliance, which Aeon and Japan 

Airlines Corporation agreed to on October 9, 2007, new affi liate 

cards, “JMB Waon” and “Aeon JMB Card,” were issued. 

 The insurance agency operations of Aeon Co., Ltd., Aeon 

Mall Co., Ltd. and NCS Kosan Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Aeon 

Credit Service Co., Ltd., were merged on February 21, 2008 

and Aeon Insurance Service Co., Ltd. was established. The 

aim of this change is to achieve further improvements in 

effi ciency and competitiveness by sharing business expertise 

and human resources. 

In December 2007, one of the subsidiaries, Aeon Credit Service (M) 
Berhad was listed on the Malaysian stock exchange Main Board.

Number of stores in service and other operations

As of February 20,  2008 2007

Aeon Credit Service*1 (Credit card company)  56 58

Aeon Bank*1 (In-store financial services)  13 —

Aeon Eaheart (Food court and restaurant operator)  533 509

Aeon Fantasy (Indoor game and amusement “theme parks”)  342 322

Zwei (Marriage-partner introduction services)  51 50

Aeon Cinemas (Operates cinemas at Aeon shopping malls)  7 7

Jusvel (Travel agency services)  27 26

Reform Studio (Repair of shoes, clothing, handbags, keys, etc.) 572 539

Warner Mycal*2 (Operates cinemas at shopping malls)   58 50

 Total   1,659 1,561

Notes:  1. The number of service branches
2. Equity-method associated company

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

955 1,020
1,075121.5

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

109.7
125.1

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

6,472

7,730

8,988 151.7

FY ’06 ’07 ’08

69.1

116.0

Revenues of 
Aeon Credit Service
(non-consolidated basis)       (¥ billion)

Revenues of 
Aeon Credit Service (Asia)

(HK$ million)

Revenues of 
Aeon Thana Shinsap 
(Thailand)                    (Bt million)

Revenues of 
Aeon Credit Service (M)
Berhad                      (RM$ million)
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Special feature 2

Partnering with customers and 
the earth for greener, 
more effi cient retailing
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In March 2008, Aeon adopted the Aeon Manifesto on 
the Prevention of Global Warming, which calls for the 
reduction of total CO2 emissions by 30% by fi scal 2012, 
compared with the level in fi scal 2006. Aeon is the fi rst 
Japanese retailer to set a specific numerical target. To 
achieve this goal, Aeon is accelerating initiatives to reduce 
CO2 emissions through its core activities–focusing on 
customers, stores and products.

With customers, reducing CO2 
emissions by 310,000 tons
Aeon will reduce CO2 in partnership with its customers, 
including tree-planting programs and campaigns to 
encourage shoppers to bring their own shopping bags.

Saving 500,000 tons through 
initiatives in stores
CO2 emissions will be reduced through the development 
of “Eco-Stores” that incorporate the latest environment-
friendly technologies and systems. 

Saving 570,000 tons through 
product-related initiatives 
We wi l l  reduce product-related CO2 emissions 
through initiatives at all levels, from the introduction of 
environment-friendly packaging to reducing emissions at 
the logistics stage. 

Saving 470,000 tons using 
the Kyoto mechanisms
We wil l also reduce CO2 emissions using Kyoto 
mechanisms, which are market-based systems that 
promote sustainable development through technology 
transfer and investment. 

Aeon Kagoshima Shopping Center,
Aeon’s fourth Eco-Store, opened in October, 2007
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Working with customers to plant trees in Japan and overseas 
Under the “Aeon Hometown Forests” program, Aeon invites the local 

community to plant native tree species in the grounds of each of its 

shopping malls. In the year under review, Aeon planted trees at 13 locations 

in Japan and overseas, bringing the cumulative total to 6.83 million trees. 

 In 2007, the Aeon Environment Foundation commemorated the 35th 

anniversary of the normalization of relations between Japan and China 

by launching a fi ve-year program to increase the cumulative total of trees 

planted along the Great Wall since 1998 to one million. Including those 

planted under the “Aeon Hometown Forests” program, Aeon has planted 

nearly eight million trees, suffi cient to absorb 12,770 tons of CO2 annually. 

Aeon aims to increase the cumulative total to 11 million trees by fi scal 2012. 

April 2008 marked the start of the implementation phase of 
the Kyoto Protocol. Japan has an obligation to reduce average 
emissions between 2008 and 2012 by 6% compared with the 
level in 1990. Since 1989, Aeon has included environmental 
initiatives in its management strategies as part of its corporate 
social responsibilities. Our latest initiative is the Aeon 
Manifesto on the Prevention of Global Warming, which calls for 
the reduction of total CO2 emissions by 30% by fiscal 2012, 
compared with the level in fiscal 2006. Aeon plans to invest 
approximately ¥30 billion over the next five years to achieve 
this goal. This is equivalent to the amount of money invested in 
the establishment of one or two new stores.
 Aeon will accelerate its efforts to reconcile corporate growth 
with reduction of environmental load by implementing a variety 
of measures through its core business activities.

Global warming is a worldwide problem requiring urgent action. 
Aeon has a responsibility to ensure that the children of future 
generations will enjoy a quality living environment. 

FY2006 FY2012

3.7
million tons

2.6
million tons

As a result of business growth, Aeon’s CO2 
emissions are estimated to grow relative to 
FY2006, if nothing is done. We propose a 30% 
reduction from FY2006,  about 1.85 million tons. 

Without
reduction

After
reduction

2.6
million t

-30%
CO2 emissions
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Bring your own shopping bag campaign
Since 1991, Aeon has been encouraging customers to bring their own 

shopping bags. We are actively working to reduce the number of free 

checkout bags used through various initiatives, including the “My Bag” and 

“My Basket” campaigns, which encourage shoppers to bring their bags 

or baskets to carry their purchases. With the support of local government 

leaders and community groups, we have launched a program to terminate 

the distribution of checkout bags in our stores. The program began at the 

Jusco Higashiyamanijo Store in Kyoto, and by the end of the year under 

review, it had been extended to 42 Aeon outlets. As a result of this program, 

the number of checkout bags used in the year ended February 2008 was 

reduced by 234.9 million, which is equivalent to approximately 21,495 

200-liter barrels of oil. Aeon aims to increase the average checkout bag 

refusal ratio for its stores throughout Japan to 80% by expanding the number 

of stores that no longer provide free checkout bags to approximately 1,000 

by 2012. CO2 emissions will be further reduced by switching to checkout 

bags made from plant-derived bio-plastics instead of fossil fuels. 

Building a food-recycling network 
On May 30, 2008, Aeon was recognized as the fi rst retailer in Japan to 

formulate a “Recycling Business Plan” under the new food recycling law 

for its “food recycling loop.” Aeon processes food waste from its stores 

into animal feed, which is fed to pigs. The pigs are, in turn, processed 

into food for sale in Aeon stores, beginning with Jusco. This system will 

contribute to the effective utilization of food resources. Aeon recycled 

32.6% of its food waste in fi scal 2007 instead of burning it and expects 

to save 17,000 tons of CO2 in fi scal 2012 by bringing the food-recycling 

ratio to 45%. 

Processed
pork

Expired food*
Stores

Liquid feed

Pig farm Feed factory

Vegetable 
trimmings and 
others

* Excluding meat 
  and seafood

Green fashion is in. Aeon’s My Bag reusable shopping 
totes prove that stylishness and functionality make 
attractive partners.

Food processor
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New “Eco-Stores” feature environment-friendly technologies
By reducing environmental loads through such advanced technologies as wind 

and solar power generation and wall greening, Aeon aims to deliver signifi cant 

reductions in CO2 emissions through new earth-friendly malls known as “Eco-

Stores.” Eco-Stores adhere to standards for “hardware,” such as structural 

facilities, and “software,” in the form of operational measures implemented in 

stores. Our first Eco-Store was opened in May 2005 at the Aeon Chikusa 

Shopping Center in Aichi Prefecture. Two more Eco-Stores were opened in 

2006, and the addition of another, at the Aeon Kagoshima Shopping Center in 

Kagoshima Prefecture in fi scal 2007, brought the total to four. 

 In fi scal 2008, we plan to establish new Eco-Store standards capable of 

reducing CO2 emissions by 30%. The Eco-Store concept will be applied to all 

new stores opened from fi scal 2009 onwards. 

Group-wide implementation of environment-friendly technologies 
Eco-Stores incorporate all of the environmental design features introduced 

by Aeon over the years, including wind and solar power generation, heat 

pump systems that freeze ice during the night for use in air conditioning in 

the daytime and automatic adjustment of interior illumination levels. Energy 

conservation systems and knowledge accumulated in the past will also be used 

in existing stores. By 2012, we will install solar power systems at 200 outlets, 

including existing stores, and we will also help tenants to reduce environmental 

loads by supplying them with Aeon technology. 

Using Kyoto mechanisms  
Aeon’s respect for the spirit of the Kyoto Protocol is refl ected in its ongoing 

efforts to reduce CO2 emissions. In 2003, we established a forestry joint 

venture, Adelaide Blue Gum Pty Ltd. (ABL), in Adelaide, Australia. We plan to 

secure CO2 emission rights based on Kyoto mechanisms through participation 

in an environmental scheme based on the systematic planting, growing and 

logging of trees.

Aeon is working to reduce CO2 emissions by radically 
upgrading facilities and through sweeping changes affecting 
all stages of product life cycles, including planning, design, 
manufacturing and logistics.

State-of-the-art solar panel arrays are 
one way Aeon is working to achieve a 
30% reduction in CO2 emissions.

Special feature 2
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Comprehensive reduction of product-related CO2

Aeon’s Topvalu private brand products include the “Kyokan Sengen” 

[Environmental Harmony Declaration] brand, which is used for ecologically 

sound products developed with the concepts of recycling, clean and natural. 

The “Kyokan Sengen” products reflect Aeon’s goal of contributing to 

environmental protection in partnership with its customers. Aeon achieves 

this by supplying products made by recycling materials recovered in stores. 

Aeon ensures that its products are kind to the natural environment and do 

not cause air or water pollution. And these products use natural materials 

instead of materials that create heavy environmental loads. 

 Packaging reduction is another aspect of Aeon’s efforts to cut CO2 

emissions. We began to source packaging materials from plant-based 

biomass in fi scal 2003. 

 Aeon is also working to reduce CO2 emissions by improving the effi ciency 

of its logistical operations. In fi scal 2006, we began to implement a modal 

shift program that is expected to cut CO2 emissions by 90% through the use 

of environmentally responsible rail transportation in place of trucks where 

possible throughout Japan. Future plans call for the active development of 

networks that contribute to the reduction of CO2 emissions. 

Proposing environment-friendly products to customers 
The “Kyokan Sengen” [Environmental Harmony Declaration] of products 

include toilet paper made entirely from recycled paper and food storage 

wrapping that does not produce dioxins when incinerated. Aeon has also 

started to sell nickel-hydride storage batteries, which are expected to replace 

disposable batteries in the future. They can be recharged approximately 

1,300 times. We continue to expand our range of environment-friendly 

“Kyokan Sengen” products.

“Kyokan Sengen” rechargeable nickel-hydride 
batteries eliminate the waste of throw-away 
cells and save money, too.

Topvalu “Kyokan Sengen” products offer 
practical solutions to the most pressing 
environmental considerations. 
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Social contribution activities

Aeon’s unchanging principles are the pursuit of peace, respect 

for humanity and contribution to local communities, always 

with the customer as the starting point. This commitment 

is refl ected in a management strategy that calls for the 

fulfi llment of our social responsibilities as a good corporate 

citizen through a positive commitment to social contribution 

activities. Aeon approaches these initiatives in partnership 

with its customers and local communities. 

Store-based social contribution activities
To date, some 888 Aeon stores and business sites have 

pledged to work with local governments and provide support in 

times of disaster by signing comprehensive disaster prevention 

cooperation agreements. After the offshore earthquake 

that struck the Niigata-Chuetsu region in July 2007, Aeon 

and its group companies, based on the above agreements, 

collaborated in organization and distribution of emergency 

relief supplies in support of the emergency task force set up 

by the Niigata Prefectural Government. Aeon will continue to 

sign disaster prevention cooperation agreements as the basis 

for a community-focused contribution in times of emergency. 

We will also work to improve disaster-preparedness. 

 Aeon aims to provide facilities in which all people can 

enjoy a safe and pleasant shopping experience. We are 

achieving this by ensuring that the buildings and facilities are 

barrier-free, and by encouraging our staff to qualify as service 

assistants under a system maintained by a non-governmental 

organization. We are also the fi rst retail organization to join a 

campaign jointly sponsored by the Ministry of Health, Labour 

and Welfare and a non-profi t organization to sign up one 

million people as supporters for dementia sufferers to meet 

the needs of an aging society. 

 By designating the 11th day of each month as “Aeon 

Day,” we create opportunities for thought and action on 

environmental and social contribution themes in partnership 

with our customers in local communities. The emphasis is 

on local action and ecological initiatives. Activities include 

the “Aeon Happy Yellow Receipt Campaign,” through which 

1% of all sales are returned to volunteer groups and other 

community organizations. There are also “Clean & Green” 

projects, in which employee volunteers clean up streets 

around our stores, local parks and river banks. Now in their 

eighth year, these activities have become an integral part of 

life in local communities. 

 Through shopping mall-based activities, Aeon continues to 

contribute to local communities. 

Product-based social contribution activities
By selling Fairtrade products, Aeon supports the aims of the 

Fairtrade movement, which seeks to support economic and 

social sustainability and environmental protection by ensuring 

that producers receive fair prices for their raw materials and 

manufactured goods. We have focused in particular on coffee, 

which is characterized by stable production volumes and 

demand. We began to develop commercial products a few 

years ago, and in 2004 we added coffee to our Topvalu private 

brand goods. These products are now sold by several group 

companies. In October 2006, we became the fi rst retailer in 

Japan to sell roses grown in fl ower nurseries in Kenya, using 

environmentally responsible methods. The fl ower nurseries 

are certifi ed by Fairtrade Labelling Organizations International. 

Profi ts from the sale of these fl owers are returned to Kenya 

for use in education, hospital construction and other socially 

benefi cial activities. Aeon plans to expand its sale of Fairtrade 

products to provide its customers with opportunities to 

participate through shopping in social contribution activities 

on a more personal level. 

Aeon 1% Club
Aeon established the Aeon 1% Club in 1989 to advance 

its social contribution activities as a good corporate citizen. 

Through this organization, Aeon supports local community 

initiatives, especially in the areas of environmental protection, 

international cultural and human exchange, human resource 



Aeon is assisting with fi nancial support of 

projects that seek to build schools in areas 

where there are insuffi cient facilities, giving 

children the best possible opportunity for 

success. Aeon, in partnership with the Japan 

committee for UNICEF, has provided fi nan-

cial support for 268 such projects to date: 

149 schools in Cambodia, 57 in Nepal and 

62 in Laos. Aeon will continue this effort in 

the future to meet this important need. 
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Social Contribution 

development and regional cultural and social development. 

Aeon group companies donate 1% of their pre-tax income to 

support these environmental and social contribution activities. 

Environmental protection and social contribution 
activities by the Aeon 1% Club
One of the ongoing initiatives supported by the Aeon 1% Club 

is the “Teenage Ambassador” program, which was launched in 

1990 as a way of fostering international understanding and 

friendship among young people. To date, 430 high school 

students have been brought to Japan under this international 

exchange program. The students have come from 12 countries, 

including the United Kingdom, Brazil and Australia, as well 

as several Asian countries. In the year under review, 20 high 

school students were brought to Japan from Vietnam.

 In April 2006, we launched the “Aeon Scholarship” to 

support foreign students in Japan, especially those from Asian 

countries. Through this program, we aim to contribute to the 

education of skilled merchants who will be able to make a 

real contribution to the international community and to the 

advancement of retailing. 

 The “Aeon Cheers Club” was established to promote the 

healthy growth and development of children. By taking part in 

ecological activities in the areas around Aeon shopping malls, 

the children learn to think about the environment and take an 

interest in environmental matters. By participating in group 

activities, they also learn social rules and manners. 

 The Aeon 1% Club is also an active provider of support and 

donations for various causes. After the earthquake that struck 

the Noto Peninsula area in the Hokuriku region of northern 

Japan, ¥20 million (US$185 thousand), including customer 

donations and Aeon 1% Club contributions, was donated to 

Ishikawa Prefecture. Customer donations and Aeon 1% Club 

contributions totaling ¥80 million (US$740 thousand) were 

given to Niigata Prefecture after the Niigata-Chuetsu region 

was hit by an offshore earthquake in July 2007. When areas 

of Bangladesh were devastated by Cyclone Sidr in November 

2007, the Club donated emergency relief funds totaling ¥10 

million (US$92.5 thousand). 

Support for construction of the Preah Norodom 
Sihanouk Angkor Museum
On November 2, 2007, the Preah Norodom Sihanouk Angkor 

Museum, which received construction support from the 

Aeon 1% Club, was donated to the Kingdom of Cambodia 

by Sophia University and the Aeon 1% Club. It is managed 

and administered by the Authority for the Protection and 

Management of Angkor and the Region of Siem Reap 

(APSARA). The museum was built in order that the priceless 

heritage of Cambodian culture could be studied and preserved 

on Cambodian soil. Its collection was discovered by the Sophia 

University Angkor International Mission in 2001.

Support for school construction in Asia
In recent years, the Aeon 1% Club has supported the 

construction of 149 schools in Cambodia and 57 in Nepal, 

in partnership with the Japan Committee for UNICEF. As 

a result of this activity, over 90,000 children have been able 

to attend school. In 2006, we launched the three-year Laos 

School Construction Support Program, building 30 schools that 

year toward a goal of 100. During 2007, we implemented a 

fundraising campaign in Aeon stores and offi ces. Customers 

donated ¥55.2 million (US$511 thousand), to which the Aeon 

1% Club has added a further ¥56 million (US$462 thousand), 

bringing the total amount given to ¥111.2 million (US$1,030 

thousand). This money will be used to build 32 schools. In 2008, 

which will be the third year of the program, Aeon 1% Club 

aims to raise funds with cooperation of customers suffi cient to 

donate 38 more, to bring the total to 100 schools.
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Board of directors (As of May 15, 2008)

Executive officers 
Before August 21, 2008: From August 21, 2008:

President Vice President President

Motoya Okada* Yuhou Iesaka Motoya Okada*
Nobuhisa Takahashi

Executive Vice President Hideshi Shigita Vice President

Naoki Hayashi Korehide Arai Naoki Hayashi
Masaaki Toyoshima Koichi Matsuhaba Masaaki Toyoshima
Yoshiharu Nishitani Kuniaki Miyachi Kunio Sakano
Kunihiko Hisaki Shigeyuki Hayamizu Yoshiki Mori
Shouhei Murai Mamoru Kuchihiro Akihito Tanaka
Kazunori Umemoto Hideki Wakabayashi Hiroshi Yokoo

Ryoichi Morimoto Yutaka Furutani
Senior Vice President Akeshi Nishioka
Masato Nishimatsu Yoshiharu Nishitani
Atsunobu Agata Tsutomu Kajita
Yuichiro Okauchi Kunihiko Hisaki
Tsutomu Kajita Mitsuko Tsuchiya
Yasuhide Chikazawa Atsunobu Agata
Yoshihiro Izuka Yuichiro Okauchi
Tsunenori Goda Mamoru Kuchihiro
Kunio Nakamura Kazunori Umemoto
Mitsuko Tsuchiya Masato Nishimatsu

Hideki Wakabayashi

Board of directors

Akihiko Harada
Chairman of the Board, Aeon Co., Ltd.

Motoya Okada
President, Aeon Co., Ltd.

Yoshiki Mori
Chairman, Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Financial Service Business Executive Committee, 
Aeon Co., Ltd.

Naoki Hayashi
Director
Chairman of the Shopping Center Development Business

Genzo Yamazaki
Attorney at Law

Masami Ishizaka
Chairman of the Board of Directors, OKURA ZAIMU KYOKAI

Hideki Kurashige
Representative Director and Chairman, Senior Managing Director, 
RHJ International Japan, Inc.

Executive officers

As of May 15, 2008, the following officers will serve prior to and/or 
after the transition of Aeon Co., Ltd. to a pure holding company on August 21, 2008.

* Representative Executive Officer
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Corporate governance reforms 
Our ongoing program of corporate governance reforms is 
one of the most important ways in which we can ensure 
continuing improvement of Aeon’s corporate value. Since 
2003, the focus of these reforms has been separation of the 
supervisory and executive functions of management. 
 Aeon has adopted the “Company with Committees” 
system as its governance structure. The structure consists 
of our directors and executive officers, together with the 
nomination, audit and compensation committees, all with 
a majority of outside directors. Under this system, there is 
a clear separation of the management functions, with the 
directors performing a supervisory role while executive 
functions are provided by the executive officers. Broad 

authority has been delegated to the executive officers, 
allowing them to make the prompt management decisions 
needed to achieve the Company’s medium-term and long-
term goals. At the same time, the directors’ supervisory 
capabilities have been strengthened to ensure that all 
decisions are transparent and objective. Through these 
changes, we are working to improve shareholder value.
 In 2008, Aeon will make the transition to a pure holding 
company structure. To maintain management transparency 
under this new structure, we will continue to strengthen our 
management and supervisory functions under the “Company 
with Committees” system.  

Independent A
uditors

Executive Officers
President

and 26 other executives

Chairman of the Board: non-execution

Appointment/dismissal
for each committee

(Two double as a director)

Board of Directors

Aeon Executive Committee

Aeon Management Committee

Appointment/
dismissal

Supervision*,
Appointment/

dismissal

Audit

Propose appointment/
dismissal of independent auditors

Propose appointment/
dismissal of directors

Appointment/
dismissal

Shareholders’ Meeting

Executive
Officers

Outside
Directors

Inside
Directors

Nomination Committee

Audit Committee

Compensation
decisions

Compensation Committee

A
ccounting audit

*The same person may serve as outside director
  no more than six times consecutively.

As of the May 15, 2008 resolution
 by the Board of Directors

Aeon sees open management as the key to success for any truly 
global enterprise. We are continually improving and strengthening 
our management structures to support effective supervision, 
executive functions and prompt decision-making. 
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Basic policy on internal control systems 
Aeon is developing internal control systems designed to 
achieve continuing growth and improvement in its business 
activities. The most fundamental aspect of this work is the 
reinforcement of systems relating to corporate ethics. Under 
the Aeon Code of Conduct, which was adopted in 2003, we 
are working to instill and consolidate good business ethics 
among all Aeon employees. 
 Outlined below are resolutions adopted by the Board 
of Directors in relation to the functioning of the Audit 
Committee, systems to ensure that executive officers 
perform their duties in accordance with laws, regulations and 
the articles of incorporation, and other systems essential to 
the proper performance of the Company’s operations. 

1. Audit systems
•  The Internal Audit Department assists the Audit Committee 

in the performance of its duties, and the approval of 
the Audit Committee is required for any changes to the 
Internal Audit Department.

•  The Audit Committee receives regular reports on internal 
audits, the state of internal control systems, as well as any 
information notified through internal reporting systems, 
which are available to employees. 

•  Members of the Internal Audit Department attend 
important meetings, receive reports from executive officers 
and others on the performance of their duties and report 
to the Audit Committee. 

2. Information storage and management systems
Secretariats prepare and retain minutes of all meetings. 
Written records of decisions will be retained and managed 
appropriately by those who propose them. 

3. Risk management systems
Risk management officers are appointed to establish risk 
management systems under the guidance of the Aeon 
Executive Committee, as the most senior management 
organ. The administration of these systems is supervised by 
the Internal Audit Department. 

4. Efficient executive systems
To ensure the organized and efficient administration of 
business operations, the responsibilities and authority 
pertaining to each position are defined in accordance with 
the professional responsibility and authority regulations. To 
provide checks and balances, officers are required to consult 
with specific organizational units. 

5. Compliance systems
The Company will maintain the Aeon Code of Conduct and 
ensure that all employees are aware of its provisions. Regular 
compliance training will be implemented, and compliance 
systems will be based on the latest amendments to laws. 

6. Group company management systems
Management plans for group companies are reviewed and 
discussed by the Aeon Management Committee, which is the 
supreme group management meeting, and in other forums. 
Corporate divisions of Aeon Co., Ltd., which is the group parent 
company, will provide operational guidance as the basis for 
integrated group management, but individual group companies 
also retain management autonomy and independence. 

ss Principal duties

 1.  Supervision of the performance of duties of 
directors and executive officers 

 2.  Decisions on matters that require resolution by 
the Board of Directors under the provisions of 
Article 416 of the Japanese Company Law that 
cannot be delegated to executive officers

 1.  Auditing of the performance of duties of directors 
and executive officers

 2.  Decisions pertaining to the content of motions to 
be put to shareholders’ meetings concerning the 
appointment, dismissal and non-reappointment 
of independent auditors

  Decisions concerning the content of motions to 
be put to shareholders’ meetings concerning the 
appointment and dismissal of directors

  Decisions concerning the content of personal 
remuneration received by directors and executive 
officers

Organization No.*

Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

7

13

3

5Compensation 
Committee

Duties
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Compliance
The entire group known as Aeon operates under shared policies 
concerning ethical conduct and compliance with laws and 
regulations and the balancing of economic, environmental and 
social priorities. Our aim is to earn and maintain the confidence of 
society by fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities. 

The Aeon Code of Conduct 
Aeon aims to achieve sustained improvement in its corporate 
value by working to maximize customer satisfaction while 
remaining faithful to its unchanging principles: the pursuit 
of peace, respect for humanity and contribution to local 
communities, always with the customer as the starting 
point. We have established guidelines for the realization of 
these principles in the form of the Aeon Code of Conduct, 
which provides individual employees with a basic philosophy 
and clearly defined judgment criteria for their day-to-day 
activities, from the perspectives of customers, communities, 
suppliers, shareholders and Aeon employees. 
 We aspire to earn and maintain the trust of society by 

fostering a progressive corporate culture based on good faith 
by adopting the principle of always putting the customer first 
as a value to be shared by the whole group employees. To live 
up to our ideals and fulfill our corporate social responsibilities, 
we need to apply long-term perspective to the realization 
of our unchanging principles. That is why we are constantly 
working to instill and consolidate the Aeon Code of Conduct 
among our employees. 

The Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct
We believe that Aeon must be accountable to society not 
only for the quality and safety of the goods that it sells, but 

The Aeon Code of Conduct Commitment

�   Aeon people are always grateful to the many other 
individuals who provide support and help, never 
forgetting to act with humility.

�   Aeon people value the trust of others more than 
anything else, always acting with integrity and sincerity 
in all situations.

�   Aeon people actively seek out ways to exceed 
customer expectations.

�   Aeon people continually challenge themselves to find 
new ways to accomplish the Aeon ideals.

�   Aeon people support local community growth, 
acting as good corporate citizens in serving 
society. Relevant laws and regulations

Rules of action/manuals

Our commitments to
customers together with

partners and Aeon people

The Aeon Code of
Conduct Commitment

In establishing 
the Aeon Code of Conduct

Corporate Commitment

Basic Principles

T
he A

eon C
ode of C

onduct

M
orality

Econom
ic

efficiency

ss Positioning of the Aeon Code of Conduct
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also for the processes used to manufacture those goods. 
We continually audit and monitor contract manufacturers of 
our Topvalu range of private brand products under the Aeon 
Supplier Code of Conduct, which was adopted in 2003. 
The Code requires manufacturers to comply with laws and 
regulations in the countries and regions where products 
are manufactured. Our aim is to ensure that manufacturers 
respect the human rights of factory workers and provide 
safe, healthy working environments and appropriate wages. 
Aeon has explained the Supplier Code of Conduct to the 
500 companies involved in the manufacture of Topvalu 
private brand products. All 500 submitted compliance 
declarations in response to Aeon’s request for cooperation. 
 We monitor compliance with the Aeon Supplier Code of 
Conduct and confirm that any remedial measures required 
have been implemented properly through third-party audits. 
We have also established support systems to help suppliers 
make any changes that may be needed. All suppliers are 
subject to a rigorous ongoing program of compliance 
checks, based on second-party audits by Aeon auditors, 
and third-party audits by specialist audit organizations. As of 
February 20, 2008, we had completed third-party audits of 
675 factories.

SA8000 certification 
In 2004, Aeon became the first retailer in Japan to achieve 
certification under SA8000, the international standard 
relating to corporate ethics, human rights and labor 
standards. The certification covers management of Topvalu 
suppliers and the corporate operations of Aeon Co., Ltd. 
 SA8000 was established to provide clear criteria 
relating to working conditions and environments. It 
requires establishment and continual improvement of 
management systems to ensure compliance in eight areas, 
including protection of human rights and the elimination 
of discrimination in employment. SA8000 certification 
and the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct are both key 
elements in our continuing efforts 
to ensure social accountability in 
our business processes. In January 
2008, Aeon’s SA8000 certification 
was renewed following a three-
yearly renewal audit.

ss Requirements of the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct

Suppliers are required to comply with statutory standards of social responsibility enacted 
in the countries where they run manufacturing and sourcing operations.

Observe laws and regulations...Comply with laws and regulations of relevant countries.

�   Child labor...Illegal child labor is prohibited.
�   Forced labor...Forced, prison or restricted labor is prohibited.
�   Occupational safety, hygiene and health...A safe and healthy workplace must be provided.
�   Freedom of association and the right of collective bargaining...

Employees’ rights must be respected.
�   Discrimination...Employers must not discriminate against employees on the basis of 

religious belief or birth attributes, such as race.
�   Discipline...Employers must not impose harsh discipline on their employees.
�   Working hours...Laws and regulations on working hours must be observed.
	   Wages and benefit packages...Laws and regulations on wages and benefit packages must be observed.

   Management responsibility...Suppliers are asked to sign a declaration promising to observe the Aeon Supplier CoC.
�   The environment...Suppliers are asked to engage in prevention and control of environmental contamination and destruction.
�   Business dealings...Suppliers are asked to observe the laws and regulations governing business dealings.
   Certification, auditing and monitoring...Suppliers are asked to receive certification, auditing 

and monitoring under the Aeon Supplier CoC. 
�   Prohibition of gift giving...Gift giving between Aeon employees and our suppliers is prohibited.
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Risk management organization
Risk management is an important management priority 
for Aeon, and all organization units are required to take 
responsibility for the maintenance of appropriate systems. 
Day-to-day risk management activities are implemented by 
individual group companies and organizational units under 
the supervision of internal control units, including the General 
Affairs Department, the Customer Service Department and 
the Quality Control Department. If a contingency arises, the 
General Affairs will immediately form a response team and 
coordinate initiatives to minimize the effect. Task forces, with 
members drawn from many organizational units, are formed 
to predict and prevent risks, especially those with potentially 
serious consequences. 

Disaster prevention in local communities 
Aeon wants its shopping malls to function as hubs of community 
life and as facilities that help consumers to achieve enhanced 

lifestyle security and satisfaction. As part of this commitment, 
Aeon is expanding its cooperation with local communities in the 
area of disaster preparedness. As of February 20, 2008, 888 
Aeon stores and business sites have signed comprehensive 
disaster prevention cooperation agreements with local 
governments. In addition to the supply of relief goods, including 
foodstuffs and other essential goods, participating businesses 
also make their parking lots available as evacuation areas 
and provide storage space for disaster prevention materials 
and equipment. Other initiatives include disaster awareness 
activities and participation in joint exercises. After the offshore 
earthquake that struck the Niigata-Chuetsu region on July 16, 
2007, the entire Group undertook a variety of support activities, 
including the emergency distribution of relief supplies under 
disaster prevention agreements. Aeon will continue to prepare 
for emergencies through emergency preparedness activities 
based on specific countermeasures in local communities. 

Protection of personal information 
In keeping with its basic principles, Aeon places great 
importance on the protection of personal information. We 
treat information about individuals with great care as part of 
our commitment to customer peace of mind and quality of 
life. Personal information reflects the autonomy and values of 
an individual and must be treated with the same respect as 
we would accord to the person concerned. We will continue 
to build solid relationships of trust by treating all information 
received from customers appropriately and securely. 

 On November 16, 2005, Aeon Co., Ltd. was certified by 
the Japan Information Processing Development Corporation 
(JIPDEC). As a result, we are now authorized to use the 
“Privacy Mark,” which indicates that the company concerned 
has implemented appropriate systems for the handling 
and protection of personal information. We aim to maintain 
the trust of customers and shareholders by continually 
improving our information security and personal information 
protection systems. 

Aeon has established risk management systems to avert business 
risks and to ensure prompt action to minimize the effects when 
problems arise. 

ss Aeon joint disaster prevention drills

q q

Aeon Co., Ltd.

Reporting Feedback

2: Unified drills on September 1

 7 Reports to the earthquake folder
 8  Postquake checking of facilities, 

equipment

q
q

1:  Primary drills

 1 Collecting information from municipal offices 
 2 Assumption of damage to Aeon stores
 3  Measures to prevent merchandise 

from dropping and equipment from falling
 4 Reading through rules for antiquake measures
 5 Confirmation of entries in earthquake handbooks
 6  Test-use of 171 Disaster Message Dial 

telephone service

 3: Store-specific drills

  9 Intrastore communication
10 Confirmation of employees’ safety
11 Direction of customers to safety (simulation)
12 Over-the-counter sales (simulation)
13  In-store public address system 

announcement (simulation)
14 Power-failure responses (simulation)
15 Other drills by stores on their own

Drills conducted by stores

Risk management 
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Financial summary

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars *1

Years Ended February 20, ’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08
OPERATING RESULTS
REVENUES

Net sales  ¥ 3,258,628  ¥ 3,813,635  ¥ 4,040,600  ¥ 4,345,308  ¥ 4,650,088  $ 43,056,377
Rental and other revenues   287,587   382,208   389,684   479,466   517,277   4,789,606

Total revenues   3,546,215   4,195,843   4,430,285   4,824,775   5,167,366   47,845,984
COST OF SALES   2,343,430   2,782,590   2,895,595   3,086,681   3,313,381   30,679,454

Gross profit   1,202,785   1,413,253   1,534,690   1,738,093   1,853,985   17,166,529
SELLING, GENERAL AND 
  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES   1,070,573   1,266,476   1,368,584   1,548,365   1,697,944   15,721,706

Operating income   132,212   146,777   166,105   189,728   156,040   1,444,823

OTHER EXPENSES—NET   6,493   9,953   65,861   35,962   31,465   291,347

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 
  AND MINORITY INTERESTS

  125,718   136,823   100,244   153,765   124,575   1,153,475

INCOME TAXES   47,625   49,277   43,568   61,778   56,611   524,176
MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME   22,777   25,479   27,743   34,331   24,031   222,517
NET INCOME  ¥ 55,316  ¥ 62,066  ¥ 28,932  ¥ 57,656  ¥ 43,932  $ 406,781

CASH FLOWS
Net cash provided by operating activities  ¥ 174,050  ¥ 69,089  ¥ 137,054  ¥ 141,644  ¥ 200,050  $ 1,852,315
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment   133,239   174,817   199,182   244,892   270,505   2,504,680

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets  ¥ 2,609,271  ¥ 2,752,088  ¥ 2,928,682  ¥ 3,534,346  ¥ 3,591,406  $ 33,253,768
Long-term liabilities   926,106   870,842   958,492   1,101,427   1,090,169   10,094,162
Equity *3   479,090   632,022   676,151   1,200,783   1,167,477   10,809,976

Yen U.S. Dollars *1

’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08
PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK DATA*2

Basic net income  ¥ 83.05  ¥ 88.71  ¥ 39.61  ¥ 77.31  ¥ 55.75  $ 0.52
Diluted net income   88.64   39.56   77.30   55.75   0.52
Cash dividends applicable to the year   11.00   12.00   15.00   15.00   17.00   0.16

Notes: 1.  For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥108=$1, the rate of exchange at February 20, 2008. Such translations should not be construed as 
representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

2.  On October 18, 2004, the Company made a stock split by way of a free share distribution at the rate of 2 shares for each outstanding share. Each figure included in PER 
SHARE OF COMMON STOCK DATA of FY’04 and ’05 was retroactively adjusted for the stock split.

3.  According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority interests 
and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amounts of equity as of February 20, 2007 and 
2008 are not directly comparable to shareholders’ equity of prior years, stated above.
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Financial review

Consolidated revenues and operating income
In the fiscal year ended February 20, 2008, Aeon Co., Ltd. 
and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Aeon”) again achieved 
record-high consolidated revenues. However, consolidated 
operating income fell below the level of the previous fiscal 
year, for the first time in 10 years.
 Consolidated revenues amounted to ¥5,167 billion 
(US$47,845 million), a 7.1% growth from the previous fiscal 
year, reflecting steady revenue increases in all business 
segments. However, consolidated operating income dropped 
by 17.8% to ¥156 billion (US$1,444 million). This sharp 
decline was attributable mainly to a significant decrease in 
the operating income of The Talbots, Inc. brought on by 
slowed consumption in the U.S.A., stagnant domestic 
performance of Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd. due to 
enactment of the revised Money Lenders’ Law, and also 
performance of Aeon Co., Ltd., which was lower than its 
forecast, reflecting unexpected unsettled weather.
 Review by business segment shows that general 
merchandise store (“GMS”) and other retail store operations, 
Aeon’s mainstream business segment, marked a 7.7% growth 
in its revenues to ¥4,133 billion (US$38,274 million), 
although its operating income resulted in a 7.8% drop from 
the previous fiscal year to ¥69 billion (US$642 million). 
Throughout Aeon, the domestic GMS operations, which 
account for the largest portion of consolidated revenues, 
increased revenues by 9.5% to ¥3,204 billion (US$29,675 
million). As a GMS operator, Aeon Co., Ltd. alone recorded a 
5.5% increase in its non-consolidated revenues to ¥2,068 
billion (US$19,154 million). However, affected mainly by 

deteriorated consumption, especially in rural areas, as well as 
sluggish performance in clothing sections which brought 
increased inventory losses, non-consolidated operating 
income of Aeon Co., Ltd. decreased by 5.5% to ¥31 billion 
(US$293 million). Accordingly, the operating income of the 
domestic GMS operations dropped by 13.3% from the 
previous fiscal year to ¥41 billion (US$383 million).
 For specialty store operations, which recorded a 5.0% 
increase in revenues to ¥639 billion (US$5,924 million), the 
fiscal year under review was a year of challenges. Mainly due 
to the unseasonable weather and the downturn in 
consumption observed worldwide, the overall comparable 
store sales growth stagnated. As a result, the segment 
marked a sizable decrease in its operating income to record  
an operating loss of ¥0.5 billion (US$5 million).
 Shopping center (“SC”) development operations have 
been carrying out more efficient utilization of resources and 
stronger cost-competitiveness, and for this purpose Aeon 
Mall Co., Ltd. (“Aeon Mall”) merged with Diamond City Co., 
Ltd. (“Diamond City”). Supported by newly opened shopping 
centers and renewals of existing stores, the revenues of this 
segment rose by 11.8% to ¥141 billion (US$1,314 million). 
However, its operating income decreased by 7.0% to ¥35 
billion (US$331 million).
 The businesses of services and other operations during 
the fiscal year under review were highlighted by the 
introduction of electronic money “Waon” and the launch of 
Aeon Bank, Ltd. The aggregate revenues of this segment 
amounted to ¥735 billion (US$6,810 million), an 11.0% 
increase year on year. However, mainly due to the 

166
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performance of Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd., which was 
pulled down by a reduction in the statutory maximum interest 
rate and increased costs and expenses for new business, the 
operating income of the segment dropped by 16.0% to ¥51 
billion (US$479 million).

Consolidated net income
Consolidated net income resulted in a significant drop of 
23.8% to ¥43 billion (US$406 million). The major factors of 
this downturn include not only decreased consolidated 
operating income but also loss on valuation of investment 
securities posted on investments in an associated company, 
The Daiei, Inc. As a result of the decrease in consolidated net 
income, the ratio of net income to revenues also dropped by 
0.3 percentage points to 0.9%.

Consolidated financial position
Consolidated total assets as of the year-end amounted to 
¥3,591 billion (US$33,253 million), marking a slight increase 
of 1.6% on the previous fiscal year-end. Major positive factors 
include a ¥34 billion (US$316 million) increase in notes, 
accounts and installment receivables brought by expansion in 
operations of financial subsidiaries, a ¥115 billion (US$1,068 

million) increase in property, buildings and equipment as a 
result of new store openings and addition of Aeon Hokkaido 
Corporation to consolidation, and a ¥76 billion (US$709 
million) increase of investments in associated companies 
such as The Daiei, Inc. and The Maruetsu, Inc. On the other 
hand, the major negative factor was cash and cash 
equivalents, which decreased by ¥225 billion (US$2,083 
million) due to stepped up investment activities and purchase 
of treasury stock.
 Consolidated liabilities stood at ¥2,423 bill ion 
(US$22,443 million), a 3.9% increase on the previous fiscal 
year. This rise was largely attributable to a ¥52 billion 
(US$485 million) increase in trade notes and accounts 
payable brought by financial subsidiaries that expanded their 
operations and by newly consolidated subsidiaries. There was 
also a ¥40 billion (US$373 million) increase in construction 
payables to meet financial needs for new store openings. 
Interest-bearing debt amounted to ¥1,041 billion (US$9,641 
million), almost the same level as the previous fiscal year.
 Consolidated equity decreased by 2.8% to ¥1,167 billion 
(US$10,809 million) compared with the previous fiscal year. 
Although ¥43 billion (US$406 million) of consolidated net 
income for the year was added, there were negative factors 

Financial income/expense Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Years Ended February 20, ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Interest income  ¥ 1,950  ¥ 3,796  ¥ 4,110  $ 38,057

Dividend income   988   1,201   1,351   12,509

Financial income  ¥ 2,939  ¥ 4,998  ¥ 5,461  $ 50,567

Interest expense   4,494   8,565   10,274   95,129

Interest on bonds   2,106   2,236   2,500   23,149

Interest on commercial paper   8   56   39   362

Financial expense  ¥ 6,609  ¥ 10,858  ¥ 12,813  $ 118,641

Net financial charges  ¥ (3,670)  ¥ (5,859)  ¥ (7,351)  $ (68,074)

Debt Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

As of February 20, ’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Short-term loans principally from banks  ¥ 95,421  ¥ 95,359  ¥ 104,713  $ 969,572

Bank overdraft   292   3,620   1,649   15,276

Commercial paper   11,000   6,000   3,000   27,777

Unsecured bonds   194,111   228,509   227,596   2,107,379

Long-term loans from banks and insurance companies   557,015   708,100   704,306   6,521,351

Debt under securitization of future cash flow   11,400   6,000   55,555

Total  ¥ 857,840  ¥ 1,052,989  ¥ 1,047,266  $ 9,696,916
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that made a larger impact, such as ¥11 billion (US$111 
million) in cash dividends and ¥60 billion (US$561 million) in 
purchases of treasury stock.

Consolidated cash flows
Net cash provided by operating activities increased by ¥58 
billion to ¥200 billion (US$1,852 million) from the previous 
fiscal year. The major cash-inflow factors were income before 
income taxes and minority interests of ¥124 billion 
(US$1,153 million) and depreciation and amortization of 
¥134 billion (US$1,244 million). The major cash-outflow 
factors, on the other hand, included payment of income taxes 
of ¥79 billion (US$738 million), an increase in financial loans 
receivable of ¥44 billion (US$410 million) and an increase in 
trade notes, accounts and installments receivable of ¥44 
billion (US$408 million).
 Net cash used in investing activities was ¥291 billion 
(US$2,697 million), a ¥72 billion drop year on year. This 
decline was largely due to a sizable decrease of ¥159 billion 
(US$1,481 million) in cash paid in conjunction with the 
purchases of consolidated subsidiaries.
 Net cash used in financial activities amounted to ¥141 
billion (US$1,308 million), compared to a ¥314 billion cash-

inflow recorded in the previous fiscal year. To meet the 
financial needs for planned capital expenditures, ¥193 billion 
(US$1,787 million) in common stock was issued in the 
previous fiscal year. Long-term debt as well, which accounted 
for ¥147 billion (US$1,367 million) in net cash-inflow in the 
previous fiscal year, became a net cash-outflow of ¥49 billion 
(US$461 million).
 As a result of these cash flows, the balance of cash and 
cash equivalents as of the fiscal year-end resulted in ¥159 
billion (US$1,479 million), a ¥223 billion (US$2,065 million) 
decrease from the previous fiscal year.

Consolidated financial ratios
Return on equity* fell by 2.4 percentage points to 4.9% from 
the previous fiscal year, due to a sizable drop in consolidated 
net income.
 The equity ratio* also declined by 1.6 percentage points 
to 24.2%, reflecting a 4.7% decrease in equity against a 
1.6% increase in total assets.

(*)  The equity used in calculation of return on equity and equity ratio does not 
include stock acquisition rights and minority interests.

Principal financial ratios ’04 ’05 ’06 ’07 ’08

Return on assets (%) 2.4 2.3 1.0 1.8 1.2

Return on equity (%)* 12.2 11.2 4.4 7.3 4.9

Operating income to revenues (%) 3.7 3.5 3.7 3.9 3.0

Equity ratio (%)* 18.4 23.0 23.1 25.8 24.2

676
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07 ’08 ’08

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 8 and 16.a) ¥   386,855 ¥   161,833 $  1,498,461 

Time deposits 11,519 13,440 124,448

Marketable securities (Note 5) 4,478 7,282 67,429

Receivables:

Notes and accounts—trade 62,199 69,783 646,144

Installment (Notes 4 and 8) 260,790 287,335 2,660,509

Financial loan (Notes 4 and 8) 500,949 503,814 4,664,950

Other 57,848 71,516 662,188

Merchandise inventories (Note 8) 322,182 346,682 3,210,020

Deferred tax assets (Note 15) 35,773 37,432 346,597

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 7) 54,419 60,011 555,659

Allowance for doubtful accounts (41,681) (49,201) (455,569)

Total current assets 1,655,334 1,509,930 13,980,841

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT (Notes 6, 8 and 9):

Land 282,069 316,649 2,931,941

Buildings and structures 719,892 786,075 7,278,476

Furniture and fixtures 117,775 120,347 1,114,330

Vehicles 1,138 2,459 22,772

Construction in progress 22,431 33,172 307,156

Total property, buildings and equipment 1,143,307 1,258,705 11,654,677

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:

Investment securities (Notes 5 and 8) 101,263 98,470 911,759

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiary 
  and associated companies

40,412 117,057 1,083,866

Goodwill-net (Notes 3 and 6) 82,886 82,651 765,293

Intangible assets (Note 6) 57,387 56,397 522,200

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors (Notes 7 and 8) 342,259 354,770 3,284,908

Deferred tax assets (Note 15) 45,583 52,006 481,545

Other (Notes 6 and 8) 84,751 79,606 737,097

Allowance for doubtful accounts (18,840) (18,189) (168,421)

Total investments and other assets 735,703 822,770 7,618,249

TOTAL ¥3,534,346 ¥3,591,406 $33,253,768 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated balance sheets
February 20, 2007 and 2008
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’07 ’08 ’08

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Short-term borrowings (Note 8) ¥   104,979 ¥   109,363 $  1,012,627 

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) 178,946 186,098 1,723,138

Current portion of secured and unsecured obligations under 
  reorganization proceedings of subsidiary (Note 9)

2,501 1,904 17,629

Payables:

Notes and accounts—trade 517,469 569,889 5,276,754

Construction 96,216 136,546 1,264,320

Other 74,369 80,703 747,254

Income taxes payable 57,854 38,006 351,914

Accrued expenses 77,894 81,978 759,057

Provision for store closing expenses 3,209 7,791 72,143

Allowance for point program 3,776 5,272 48,818

Other current liabilities (Notes 8, 10 and 17.a) 114,916 116,204 1,075,970

Total current liabilities 1,232,134 1,333,760 12,349,629

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Long-term debt (Note 8) 769,062 751,804 6,961,151

Lease deposits from lessees (Note 8) 209,105 221,468 2,050,635

Secured and unsecured obligations under 
  reorganization proceedings of subsidiary (Note 9)

11,911 9,845 91,158

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 11) 48,690 48,217 446,455

Provision for store closing expenses 8,794 9,869 91,383

Allowance for loss on refund of interest received 6,989 8,540 79,082

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 15) 17,046 6,983 64,663

Other (Note 17.a) 29,826 33,440 309,631

Total long-term liabilities 1,101,427 1,090,169 10,094,162

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Notes 17, 18 and 19)

EQUITY (Note 12):

Common stock—authorized, 2,400,000,000 shares; 

Issued:  2007 — 800,208,044

             2008 — 800,446,214 198,791 199,054 1,843,097

Capital surplus 264,704 264,968 2,453,408

Stock acquisition rights 305 427 3,961

Retained earnings 419,438 453,399 4,198,142

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 23,547 14,977 138,679

Deferred gain (loss) on derivatives under hedge accounting (135) (916) (8,487)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 7,139 (220) (2,044)

Treasury stock—at cost, 633,550 shares 
  in 2007 and 35,312,828 shares in 2008

(848) (61,515) (569,585)

Total 912,943 870,174 8,057,172

Minority interests 287,840 297,302 2,752,804

Total equity 1,200,783 1,167,477 10,809,976

TOTAL ¥3,534,346 ¥3,591,406 $33,253,768 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

REVENUES:
Net sales ¥4,040,600 ¥4,345,308 ¥4,650,088 $43,056,377 

Rental and other revenues (Note 17.b) 389,684 479,466 517,277 4,789,606

Total revenues 4,430,285 4,824,775 5,167,366 47,845,984

COST OF SALES 2,895,595 3,086,681 3,313,381 30,679,454

Gross profit 1,534,690 1,738,093 1,853,985 17,166,529

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 1,368,584 1,548,365 1,697,944 15,721,706

Operating income 166,105 189,728 156,040 1,444,823

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):

Interest and dividend income 2,939 4,998 5,461 50,567

Amortization of negative goodwill—net (Note 2.b) 8,452 3,865

Amortization of negative goodwill (Note 2.b) 11,226 103,948

Interest expense (6,601) (10,801) (12,774) (118,279)

Loss on valuation of investment securities 
  and investment in associated company

(81) (327) (13,699) (126,848)

Loss on impairment of long-lived assets (Notes 6, 17.a and 22) (83,335) (32,804) (46,339) (429,069)

Other—net (Note 14) 12,763 (893) 24,660 228,333

Other expenses—net (65,861) (35,962) (31,465) (291,347)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTERESTS 100,244 153,765 124,575 1,153,475

INCOME TAXES (Note 15):

Current 61,531 82,934 63,249 585,644

Deferred (17,963) (21,156) (6,638) (61,467)

Total income taxes 43,568 61,778 56,611 524,176

MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME 27,743 34,331 24,031 222,517

NET INCOME ¥     28,932 ¥      57,656 ¥     43,932 $     406,781 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Note 20):

Basic net income ¥39.61 ¥77.31 ¥55.75 $0.52 

Diluted net income 39.56 77.30 55.75 0.52

Cash dividends applicable to the year 15.00 15.00 17.00 0.16

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of income
Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008

Thousands Millions of Yen

Outstanding
Number of 
Shares of

Common Stock

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized Gain 
on Available-

for-sale 
Securities

Deferred Gain 
(Loss) on 

Derivatives under 
Hedge Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Treasury
Stock Total Minority

Interests
Total

Equity

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2005 724,887 ¥101,798 ¥167,710 ¥356,004 ¥12,454 ¥(5,222) ¥(721) ¥632,022 ¥632,022

Net income 28,932 28,932 28,932

Cash dividends, ¥12 per share (8,698) (8,698) (8,698)

Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors (260) (260) (260)

Purchase of treasury stock (24) (43) (43) (43)

Net increase in unrealized gain on 
  available-for-sale securities 15,574 15,574 15,574

Net change in foreign currency 
  translation adjustments 8,068 8,068 8,068

Other 554 554 554

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2006 724,863 101,798 167,710 376,532 28,028 2,845 (763) 676,151 676,151

Reclassified balance as of 
  February 20, 2006 (Note 2.o) ¥232,280 232,280

Net income 57,656 57,656 57,656

Cash dividends, ¥15 per share (10,872) (10,872) (10,872)

Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors (322) (322) (322)

Issuance of common stock (Note 12) 74,798 96,992 96,992 193,985 193,985

Purchase of treasury stock (88) (85) (85) (85)

Disposal of treasury stock 1 2 2

Decrease due to change in interests 
  in consolidated subsidiaries (4,004) (4,004) (4,004)

Issuance of stock acquisition rights ¥321 321 321

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (16) (16) (16)

Other 449 449 449

Net change in the year (4,481) ¥(135) 4,293 (323) 55,559 55,236

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2007 799,574 198,791 264,704 305 419,438 23,547 (135) 7,139 (848) 912,943 287,840 1,200,783

Net income 43,932 43,932 43,932

Cash dividends, ¥15 per share (11,994) (11,994) (11,994)

Issuance of common stock 238 263 263 526 526

Purchase of treasury stock (Note 12) (34,697) (60,687) (60,687) (60,687)

Disposal of treasury stock 17 20 21 21

Increase resulting from application of 
  U.S. GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries 2,022 2,022 2,022

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 138 138 138

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (16) (16) (16)

Net change in the year (8,570) (781) (7,360) (16,711) 9,462 (7,248)

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2008 765,133 ¥199,054 ¥264,968 ¥427 ¥453,399 ¥14,977 ¥(916) ¥   (220) ¥(61,515) ¥870,174 ¥297,302 ¥1,167,477

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized Gain 
on Available-

for-sale 
Securities

Deferred Gain 
(Loss) on 

Derivatives under 
Hedge Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Treasury
Stock Total Minority

Interests
Total

Equity

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2007 $1,840,661 $2,450,967 $2,826 $3,883,694 $218,032 $(1,253) $66,104 $(7,853) $8,453,178 $2,665,189 $11,118,368 

Net income 406,781 406,781 406,781

Cash dividends, $0.1 per share (111,063) (111,063) (111,063)

Issuance of common stock 2,435 2,435 4,870 4,870

Purchase of treasury stock (Note 12) (561,924) (561,924) (561,924)

Disposal of treasury stock 5 193 198 198

Increase resulting from application of U.S. 
  GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries 18,730 18,730 18,730

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 1,283 1,283 1,283

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (148) (148) (148)

Net change in the year (79,353) (7,233) (68,148) (154,735) 87,614 (67,120)

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2008 $1,843,097 $2,453,408 $3,961 $4,198,142 $138,679 $(8,487) $(2,044) $(569,585) $8,057,172 $2,752,804 $10,809,976 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥  100,244 ¥  153,765 ¥ 124,575 $ 1,153,475 
Adjustments for:

Income taxes—paid (50,900) (75,417) (79,766) (738,582)
Depreciation and amortization 103,871 122,663 134,457 1,244,975 
Amortization of negative goodwill—net (8,452) (3,865)
Amortization of negative goodwill (11,226) (103,948)
Amortization of goodwill 8,346 77,286 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)—net 9 (2) 622 5,764 
Equity in (earnings) losses of associated companies (2,040) 5,226 548 5,081 
Gain on sales of property, buildings and equipment (1,399) (2,552) (4,979) (46,107)
Loss on disposals and sales of property, buildings and equipment 3,111 5,663 5,830 53,988 
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets 83,335 32,804 46,339 429,069 
Loss on valuation of investment securities and investment in associated company 81 327 13,699 126,848 
Net gain on sales of securities (2,670) (7,950) (8,648) (80,080)
Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization
  proceedings of subsidiary (5,391)

Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries (4,805) (44,494)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from 
  newly consolidated subsidiaries:

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable—trade 2,028 (7,041) (5,103) (47,255)
Increase in installment receivable (36,839) (65,403) (39,037) (361,453)
Increase in financial loan receivable (86,017) (76,497) (44,311) (410,287)
Decrease (increase) in merchandise inventories 9,681 (23,825) (17,314) (160,321)
Increase in notes and accounts payable—trade 3,738 8,212 42,583 394,293 
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts 19,061 39,648 40,257 372,758 
Increase in liability for retirement benefits 5,235 7,860 3,048 28,227 
Increase (decrease) in provision for store closing expenses 4,222 (3,956) 1,123 10,401 
Increase in allowance for loss on refund of interest received 224 5,335 1,551 14,361 
Other assets and liabilities (10,555) 20,209 (9,203) (85,217)

Other—net 6,476 6,440 1,461 13,531 
Total adjustments 36,810 (12,120) 75,474 698,839 
Net cash provided by operating activities 137,054 141,644 200,050 1,852,315 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of marketable securities (5,000) (3,205) (6,685) (61,905)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 6,102 8,155 4,893 45,311 
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment (199,182) (244,892) (270,505) (2,504,680)
Proceeds from sales of property, buildings and equipment 24,194 25,464 50,759 469,997 
Purchases of investment securities (13,078) (11,601) (97,930) (906,762)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 5,699 12,241 11,028 102,112 
Redemption of preferred securities and government bonds 8,000 74,074 
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of
  consolidated subsidiaries (Note 16.b) (8,273) (169,517) (9,517) (88,126)

Cash received in conjunction with the purchases of
  consolidated subsidiaries (Note 16.b) 969 8,068 74,706 

Payments for fixed leasehold deposits to lessors (25,209) (25,823) (25,716) (238,113)
Collection of fixed leasehold deposits to lessors 36,899 25,236 28,502 263,909 
Proceeds from lease deposits from lessees 19,132 36,195 25,184 233,188 
Repayments of lease deposits from lessees (12,958) (18,083) (17,066) (158,024)
Other—net 4,880 613 (298) (2,760)

Net cash used in investing activities (166,793) (364,248) (291,283) (2,697,073)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 24,009 (16,215) (2,464) (22,817)
Proceeds from long-term debt 215,112 283,646 143,477 1,328,496 
Repayments of long-term debt (138,763) (135,980) (193,359) (1,790,363)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 193,096 526 4,870 
Repayments of secured and unsecured obligations under reorganization
  proceedings of subsidiaries (48,353) (2,951) (2,807) (25,997)

Proceeds from issuance of subsidiaries’ stock to minority shareholders 909 737 2,398 22,212 
Repurchase of subsidiaries’ stock from minority shareholders (2,485) (233) (1,427) (13,216)
Purchase of treasury stock (43) (14) (60,687) (561,924)
Dividends paid to shareholders (8,698) (10,872) (11,994) (111,063)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (5,903) (8,284) (9,539) (88,326)
Other—net 0 11,421 (5,388) (49,892)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 35,785 314,348 (141,266) (1,308,021)
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS ON 
  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,974 2,399 9,898 91,652 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 11,020 94,143 (222,601) (2,061,127)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 274,366 285,387 382,851 3,544,920 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASED (DECREASED)
  RESULTING FROM CHANGES OF SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 3,320 (504) (4,675)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR (NOTE 16.A) ¥ 285,387 ¥ 382,851 ¥ 159,744 $ 1,479,118 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of cash fl ows
Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Notes to consolidated fi nancial statements
Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law (formerly, the Japanese 
Securities and Exchange Law) and its related accounting regulations, 
and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as 
to application and disclosure requirements of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
 On December 27, 2005, the Accounting Standard Board of 
Japan (“ASBJ”) published a new accounting standard for the 
statement of changes in equity, which is effective for fiscal years 
ending on or after May 1, 2006. The consolidated statement of 
shareholders’ equity, which was previously voluntarily prepared in line 
with the international accounting practices, is now required under 
generally accepted accounting principles in Japan and has been 
renamed “the consolidated statement of changes in equity” for the 
fiscal year ended February 20, 2007.
 Japanese yen figures less than a million yen are rounded down 
to the nearest million yen, except for per share data.
 In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain 
reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the 
consolidated financial statements issued domestically in order to 
present them in a form which is more familiar to readers outside 
Japan. In addition, certain reclassifications have been made in the 
2006 and 2007 financial statements to conform to the classifications 
used in 2008.
 The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese 
yen, the currency of the country in which Aeon Co., Ltd. (the 
“Company”) is incorporated and operates. The translation of 
Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for 
the convenience of readers outside Japan and has been made at the 
rate of ¥108 to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at February 
20, 2008. Such translation should not be construed as representation 
that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars 
at that or any other rate.
 U.S. dollar figures less than a thousand dollars are rounded 
down to the nearest thousand dollars, except for per share data.

a. Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements as of 
February 20, 2008 include the accounts of the Company and its 140 
significant (130 in 2006 and 129 in 2007) subsidiaries (together, 
the “Group”).
 Under the control or influence concept, those companies in 
which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control 
over operations are fully consolidated, and those companies over 
which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence are 
accounted for by the equity method.
 Investments in 28 (27 in 2006 and 25 in 2007) associated 
companies are accounted for by the equity method.
 Investments in 1 (3 in 2006 and 1 in 2007) unconsolidated 
subsidiary and 1 associated company in 2006, 2007 and 2008 
are stated at cost. If the equity method of accounting had been 
applied to the investments in these companies, the effect on 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements would not 
be material.
 The differences between the cost of an acquisition and the fair 
value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of 
acquisition are recorded as goodwill and are amortized within 20 
years (estimated effective period) for the Company and consolidated 
domestic subsidiaries.
 Goodwill held by consolidated subsidiaries in the United 
States of America (“U.S. subsidiaries”) is not amortized and is 
evaluated for impairment at least annually in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP.
 Goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of Origin Toshu Co., 
Ltd. (“Origin Toshu”) of ¥41,903 million and Diamond City (current 
Aeon Mall) of ¥55,625 million is amortized over a period of 20 
years. Negative goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of Mycal 
Corporation (“Mycal”) of ¥95,763 million is amortized over a period 
of 9 years.
 U.S. subsidiary recorded an impairment loss on goodwill amounting 
to ¥15,639 million ($144,806 thousand) for the fiscal year 2008, 
and as a result, goodwill held by U.S. subsidiaries at the fiscal year 
2008 amounted to ¥14,620 million ($135,377 thousand).
 All significant intercompany balances and transactions have 
been eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit 
included in assets resulting from transactions within the Group 
is eliminated.

1. Basis of presenting consolidated 
financial statements 2. Summary of significant 

accounting policies
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b. Business combination
In October 2003, the Business Accounting Council (the “BAC”) 
issued a Statement of Opinion,  “Accounting for Business 
Combinations,” and on December 27, 2005, ASBJ issued ASBJ 
Guidance No.10, “Guidance for Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations and Business Divestitures.” These new accounting 
pronouncements were effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2006.
 This standard requires that amortization expense of goodwill is to 
be presented in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” and 
amortization of negative goodwill is to be presented in “Other income,” 
although the net of amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill was 
presented in “Other income” in the consolidated statements of income 
for the years ended February 20, 2006 and 2007.
 The effect of adoption of this accounting standard was to 
decrease operating income by ¥8,346 million ($77,286 thousand) 
and had no impact on income before income taxes and minority 
interests for the year ended February 20, 2008. The effect on 
segment information is presented in Note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
 The Company invested ¥14,415 million ($133,472 thousand) to 
acquire 89.9% of the issued share of Kohyo Co., Ltd. (“Kohyo”) in 
December 2007 and accounted for it by the purchase method of 
accounting in accordance with this accounting standard. The related 
goodwill of ¥12,605 million ($116,712 thousand) is amortized over 
20 years (See Note 3).
 The Company transferred its general merchandising business in 
Hokkaido area to its subsidiary, Aeon Hokkaido corporation (“Aeon 
Hokkaido”) on August 21, 2007 and Aeon Hokkaido recognized the 
assets and liabilities transferred at their carrying amounts in the 
accounts of the transferring entity at the date of transfer, as a 
transfer of assets between entities under common control in 
accordance with this accounting standard.
 Diamond City, 60.1% owned subsidiary was merged into Aeon 
Mall, 56.0% owned subsidiary on August 21, 2007 and Aeon Mall 
recognized the assets and liabilities transferred at their carrying 
amounts in the accounts of the transferring entity at the date of 
transfer as a merger between entities under common control in 
accordance with this accounting standard. As a result of this 
transaction, goodwill of ¥2,774 million ($25,685 thousand) is 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet and is amortized over 20 
years, and a gain on change in interests of consolidated subsidiaries 
of ¥2,172 mil l ion ($20,111 thousand) is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of income.

c. Cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets—Cash 
equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets are short-term 
investments that are readily convertible into cash and that are 
exposed to insignificant risk of changes in value.
 Cash equivalents include time deposits, certificate of deposits, 
commercial paper and bond funds, all of which mature or become 
due within three months of the date of acquisition.

d. Merchandise inventories—Substantial ly al l  merchandise 
inventories of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries are stated 
at cost determined by the retail method. Other inventories of certain 
consolidated subsidiaries are stated at cost determined by the 
moving-average method.

e. Marketable and investment securities—Marketable and 
investment securities are classified and accounted for, depending on 
management’s intent, as follows: (1) held-to-maturity debt securities, 
which are expected to be held to maturity with the positive intent and 
ability to hold to maturity are reported at amortized cost, and (2) 
available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized 
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, reported in a separate 
component of equity.
 Non-marketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost 
determined by the moving-average method. For other than temporary 
declines in fair value, investment securities are reduced to net 
realizable value by a charge to income.

f. Allowance for doubtful accounts—The allowance for doubtful 
accounts is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based 
on the past credit loss experience and an evaluation of potential 
losses in receivables and other assets such as fixed leasehold 
deposits to lessors.

g. Property, buildings and equipment—Property, buildings and 
equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, buildings and 
equipment is computed under the straight-line method based on the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is 
principally from 20 to 39 years for store buildings, from 38 to 50 
years for office buildings, from 3 to 20 years for structures, from 2 to 
20 years for furniture and fixtures, and from 4 to 6 years for vehicles. 
Accumulated depreciation of property, buildings and equipment at 
February 20, 2007 and 2008 were ¥786,227 million and ¥861,445 
million ($7,976,346 thousand), respectively.

h. Intangible assets—Intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization. Amortization of intangible assets of the 
Group is calculated by the straight-line method except for intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives held by U.S. subsidiaries. Software 
is amortized mainly over 5 years. 
 Intangible assets with indefinite lives held by U.S. subsidiaries 
are not amortized and are evaluated for impairment at least annually 
in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 U.S. subsidiary recorded an impairment charge of trademarks 
amounting to ¥1,820 million ($16,858 thousand) for the fiscal year 
2008. Trademarks held by U.S. subsidiaries at the fiscal year 2008 
amount to ¥14,936 million ($138,297 thousand).

i. Long-lived assets—The Company and consolidated domestic 
subsidiaries review their long-lived assets, including goodwill, for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate the 
carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss would be recognized if the carrying amount of an 
asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future 
cash flows expected to result from the continued use and eventual 
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disposition of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would 
be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the 
discounted cash flows from the continued use and eventual 
disposition of the asset or the net selling price at disposition. 
Consolidated foreign subsidiaries have previously adopted similar 
impairment accounting standards.

j. Stock issue costs—Stock issue costs are amortized by the straight-
line method over 3 years. Stock issue costs at February 20, 2007 and 
2008 that are included in investments and other assets–other are 
¥1,063 million and ¥665 million ($6,160 thousand), respectively.

k. Provision for store closing expenses—The provision for store 
closing expenses, such as rental agreement cancellation penalties 
and facility restoration costs, is recognized at the time when a 
decision to close a store is made by management and such expenses 
are reasonably estimated.

l. Retirement and pension plans—The Company and certain 
consolidated domestic subsidiaries have a defined benefit pension 
plan, advance payment plan and defined contribution pension plan 
covering substantially all employees.
 U.S. subsidiaries have a non-contributory funded defined benefit 
pension plan and defined contribution pension plan covering 
substantially all employees. 
 Liability for employees’ retirement benefits are accounted for 
based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the 
balance sheet date.
 Retirement allowances for directors and corporate auditors are 
provided by certain domestic subsidiaries and included in liability for 
retirement benefits to state the liability at the amount that would be 
required if all directors and corporate auditors retired at each 
balance sheet date.

m. Allowances for loss on refund of interest received—The 
allowance for loss on refund of interest received (the amount of 
interest that exceeds the ceiling rate imposed by the Interest Rate 
Restriction Law) is provided by the consolidated financial services 
subsidiaries and is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate 
based on the subsidiaries’ past refund experiences.
 In October 2006, “Application of auditing for provision of 
allowance for loss for reclaimed refund of interest in the accounting 
of consumer finance companies” of the industry audit practice 
committee report No. 37 by the Japanese Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants was issued and was adopted at the beginning of the 
fiscal year ended February 20, 2007.
 The effect of adoption of this report was to decrease income 
before income taxes and minority interests by ¥2,402 million and to 
reclassify allowance for doubtful accounts to allowance for loss on 
refund of interest received by ¥1,430 million for the year ended 
February 2007.

n. Allowance for point program—The allowance for the point 
program is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on 
the companies’ past redemption experience.

o. Presentation of equity—On December 9, 2005, the ASBJ 
published a new accounting standard for presentation of equity.
 Under this accounting standard, certain items which were 
prev ious ly  presented as l iab i l i t ies are now presented as 
components of equity. Such items include stock acquisition rights, 
minority interests, and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives 
under hedge accounting.
 This standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 
1, 2006.

p. Leases—All leases of the Company and consolidated domestic 
subsidiaries are accounted for as operating leases. Under Japanese 
accounting standards for leases, finance leases that deem to transfer 
ownership of the leased property to the lessee are to be capitalized, 
while other finance leases are permitted to be accounted for as 
operating lease transactions if certain “as if capitalized” information 
is disclosed in the notes to the lessee’s financial statements.

q. Income taxes—The provision for income taxes is computed 
based on the pretax income included in the consol idated 
statements of income. The asset and liability approach is used to 
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected 
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax 
laws to the temporary differences. A valuation al lowance is 
provided for any portion of the deferred tax assets that is not 
considered to be realizable.

r. Advertising costs—Advertising costs which are expensed as 
incurred and included in selling, general and administrative expense 
were ¥88,086 million, ¥101,365 million and ¥115,820 million 
($1,072,409 thousand) for the years ended February 20, 2006, 
2007 and 2008, respectively.

s. Appropriations of retained earnings—Appropriations of 
retained earnings are reflected in the financial statements for the 
fol lowing year upon the Board of Directors ’  resolut ion or 
shareholders’ approval.

t. Foreign currency transactions—All short-term and long-term 
monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at 
each balance sheet date. The foreign exchange gains and losses 
from translation are recognized in the statements of income to the 
extent that they are not hedged by forward exchange contracts.



60

Annual Report 2008

u. Foreign currency financial statements—The balance sheet 
accounts of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated 
into Japanese yen at the current exchange rate as of each balance 
sheet date except for equity, which is translated at the historical 
rate. Differences arising from such translation were shown as 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” in a separate component 
of equity.
 Revenue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into yen at the average exchange rate.

v. Derivatives and hedging activities—The Group uses derivative 
financial instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange and interest rates. Derivative financial 
instruments are comprised principally of foreign exchange forward 
contracts, currency swaps and interest rate swaps utilized by the 
Group to reduce foreign currency exchange and interest rate 
risks. The Group does not enter into derivatives for trading or 
speculative purposes.
 Der ivat ive f inancia l  instruments and foreign currency 
transactions are classified and accounted for as follows: (a) all 
derivatives are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured 
at fair value, and gain or loss on derivative transactions are 
recognized in the statements of income and (b) for derivatives used 
for hedging purposes, if derivatives qualify for hedge accounting 
because of high correlation and effectiveness between the hedging 
instruments and the hedged items, gain or loss on derivatives are 
deferred until maturity of the hedged transactions.
 Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the contracted rates if the forward contracts qualify for 
hedge accounting. Gain and loss related to qualifying hedges of firm 
commitments or anticipated transactions are deferred and recognized 
in income or loss when the hedged transaction occurs.
 Long-term debt denominated in foreign currencies for which 
currency swaps are used to hedge the foreign currency fluctuations 
are translated at the contracted rate if the forward contracts qualify 
for hedge accounting.
 Interest rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate exposures 
of long-term debt. In principle, these swaps which qualify for hedge 
accounting are measured at market value at the balance sheet date 
and the unrealized gain or loss, net of applicable taxes are deferred 
until maturity as “Deferred Gain (Loss) on Derivatives under Hedge 
Accounting” in a separate component of equity.
 Interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet 
specific matching criteria are exceptionally not remeasured at market 
value but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements 
are recognized and included in interest expenses or income.

w. Per share information—Basic net income per share is computed 
by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the 
period, retroactively adjusted for stock splits. Diluted net income per 
share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities were 
exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted net income per 
share of common stock assumes full conversion of the outstanding 
convertible bonds at the beginning of the year (or at the time of 
issuance) with an applicable adjustment for related interest expense, 

net of tax and full exercise of outstanding stock acquisition rights.
 Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income are dividends applicable to the 
respective years including dividends to be paid after the end of the 
year, retroactively adjusted for stock splits.

x. New accounting pronouncements
Measurement of inventories
Under Japanese GAAP, inventories are currently measured either by 
the cost method, or at the lower of cost or market. On July 5, 2006, 
the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 9, “Accounting Standard for 
Measurement of Inventories,” which is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after April 1, 2008 with early adoption permitted. 
This standard requires that inventories held for sale in the ordinary 
course of business be measured at the lower of cost or net selling 
value, which is defined as the selling price less additional estimated 
manufacturing costs and estimated direct selling expenses. The 
replacement cost may be used in place of the net selling value, if 
appropriate. The standard also requires that inventories held for 
trading purposes be measured at the market price.
 The Company is currently in the process of assessing the 
potential impact that this standard will have on the Companies’ 
financial position.

Lease accounting
On March 31, 2007, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 13, 
“Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions,” which revised the 
existing accounting standard for lease transactions issued on June 
17, 1993. Under the existing accounting standard, finance leases 
that deem to transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee 
are to be capitalized, however, other finance leases are permitted to 
be accounted for as operating lease transactions if certain “as if 
capitalized” information is disclosed in the note to the lessee’s 
financial statements. The revised accounting standard requires that 
all finance lease transactions should be capitalized. The revised 
accounting standard for lease transactions is effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after April 1, 2008 with early adoption 
permitted for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2007. 
 The Company is currently in the process of assessing the 
potential impact that this standard will have on the Companies’ 
financial position.

Asset retirement obligations
Under the existing accounting standard, many businesses currently 
employ an income-statement approach, recognizing the costs 
related to such obligations ratably over an asset’s l ife as a 
component of depreciation or expensing the obligations as they are 
incurred. On May 31, 2008, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 
18, “Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations” and 
ASBJ Guidance No. 21 “Guidance for Accounting Standard for 
Asset Retirement Obligations.”
 The new accounting standard shifts to a balance-sheet 
approach, requiring businesses to recognize legal obligations to 
perform asset retirement activities when the entity is legally 
obligated to perform asset retirement activities if and when the 
asset is retired.
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 The new standard requires that the entity recognize an asset 
retirement obligation for a long-lived asset at the point an obligating 
event takes place—provided it can reasonably estimate its fair value 
(or at the earliest date it can make a reasonable estimate) and 
record the obligation at its fair value, either the amount at which 
the liability could be settled in a current transaction between willing 
parties in an active market, or—more likely—at a substitute for 
market value, such as the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows required to satisfy the obligation. Additionally, to offset 
the credit portion of the asset retirement liability entry, the entity 
must capitalize the asset retirement costs as an increase in the 
carrying amount of the related long-term asset, and include certain 
costs in the income statement during the asset’s life—namely 
depreciation on the asset, including additional capitalized retirement 
costs, and interest for the accretion of the asset retirement liability 
due to the passage of time.
 The new accounting standard for asset retirement obligations 
is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010 with 
early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning on or after April 
1, 2009.

Segment reporting
On March 21, 2008, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 17, 
“Accounting Standard for Disclosures about Segments of an 
Enterprise and Related information,” and ASBJ Guidance No. 20, 
“Guidance on the Accounting Standard for Disclosures about 
Segments of an Enterprise and Related information,” The standard 
will converge reporting practices under the current Japanese GAAP 
with international reporting practices.
 The revised standard requires an entity to report financial and 
descriptive information about its reportable segments, which are 
operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that 
meet specified criteria. Operating segments are components of an 
entity about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding 
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
 Major items that the new standard prescribes and requires to be 
disclosed are as follows:

1) General information about how the entity identified its 
operating segments and the types of products and services 
from which each operating segment derives its revenues 

2) Financial and descriptive information about its reportable 
segments

3) Information about the reported segment profit or loss, 
including certain specified revenues and expenses included 
in segment profit or loss, segment assets and segment 
liabilities and the basis of measurement

4) Reconciliations of the total of the reportable segments’ 
disclosed amounts to the entity’s financial statements 
amounts

5) Information about the revenues derived from the enterprise’s 
products or services (or groups of similar products and 
services)

6) Analyses of revenues and certain non-current assets by 
geographical area – with an expanded requirement to 
disclose revenues/assets by individual foreign country (if 
material), irrespective of the identification of operating 
segments

7) Information about transactions with major customers. If 
revenues from transactions with a single external customer 
amount to 10 per cent or more of the entity’s revenues, the 
total amount of revenue from each such customer and the 
segment or segments in which those revenues are reported 
must be disclosed

8) Information about loss on impairment of long-lived assets 
recognized regarding reportable segment

9) Information about goodwill regarding reportable segment

The revised accounting standard for segment reporting is effective 
for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2010.

Unification of accounting policies applied to foreign 
subsidiaries for the consolidated financial statements
Under Japanese GAAP, a company currently can use the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries which are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in their respective 
jurisdictions for its consolidation process unless they are clearly 
unreasonable. On May 17, 2006, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Practical 
Issues Task Force (PITF) No.18, “Practical Solution on Unification of 
Accounting Policies Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.” The new task force prescribes: 
1) the accounting policies and procedures applied to a parent 
company and its subsidiaries for similar transactions and events 
under similar circumstances should in principle be unified for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 2) financial 
statements prepared by foreign subsidiaries in accordance with 
either International Financial Reporting Standards or U.S. GAAP 
tentatively may be used for the consolidation process, 3) however, 
the following items should be adjusted in the consolidation process 
so that net income is accounted for in accordance with Japanese 
GAAP unless they are not material:

1) Amortization of goodwill
2) Actuarial gains and losses of defined benefit plans recognized 

outside profit or loss
3) Capitalization of intangible assets arising from development 

phases
4) Fair value measurement of investment properties, and the 

revaluation model for property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets

5) Retrospective application when accounting policies are 
changed

6) Accounting for net income attributable to a minority interest

The new task force is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2008 with early adoption permitted. 
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Fiscal Year ’07
The Company invested ¥122,037 million to acquire 95% of the 
issued shares of Origin Toshu through tender offering in March 2006 
and 32% of the issued shares of Diamond City, which was the 
associated company of the Company, in May 2006. Goodwill of 
¥41,903 million in connection with the acquisition of Origin Toshu 
and goodwill of ¥55,625 million in connection with the acquisition of 
Diamond City are amortized over 20 years.
 The Company’s consolidated subsidiary The Talbots, Inc. invested 
$524,391 thousand to acquire 100% of the issued shares of The 
J.Jill Group, Inc. in May 2006. Goodwill of $211,977 thousand in 
connection with the acquisition of The J.Jill Group, Inc. is not 
amortized and is evaluated for impairment at least annually in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Fiscal Year ’08
On December 17, 2007, the Company acquired 89.9 % of the issued 
shares of Kohyo. Kohyo operates a supermarket business, classified 
as GMS and other retail store operations. This acquisition was made 
to realize prosperity and growth of supermarket business in the 
Kansai area, in view of significance of the business for our group. 
The results of operations for Kohyo will be included in the 
consolidated financial statements of income from next fiscal year. 
 The Company accounted for this acquisition by the purchase 
method of accounting.
 The acquisition cost was ¥14,415 million ($133,472 thousand) 
in cash, which included the purchase price of ¥14,388 million 
($133,222 thousand) in accordance with the Share Purchase 
Agreement dated December 14, 2007, and direct costs of acquisition 
of ¥26 million ($240 thousand). The total cost of acquisition has 
been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 
based on their respective fair values. Goodwill recorded in connection 
with the acquisition totaled ¥12,605 million ($116,712 thousand) 
and is amortized over 20 years.
 The estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Current assets  ¥ 5,820  $ 53,888

Fixed assets   8,460   78,333

Total assets  ¥ 14,281  $ 132,231

Current liabilities   6,018   55,722

Long-term liabilities   6,251   57,879

Total liabilities  ¥ 12,269  $ 113,601

Installment and financial loans are operating receivables of the 
consolidated financial services subsidiaries.
 During the years ended February 20, 2007 and 2008, the 
consolidated financial services subsidiaries securitized a part of 
those receivables and subsequently transferred the cash flow 
interests in those assets mainly to unconsolidated special purpose 
entities in total of ¥40,217 million and ¥76,086 million ($704,500 
thousand), respectively.
 During the year ended February 20, 2008, the consolidated 
financial services subsidiaries securitized a part of those installment 
receivables and financial loans and subsequently transferred the 
cash flow interests in those assets via foreign consolidated 
subsidiaries in total of ¥8,048 million ($74,518 thousand).
 Some of the interests in the securitized financial assets are 
retained in the form of seller or subordinated tranches (“remaining 
interests”), which are recorded as installment or financial loan 
receivables.
 The remaining interests included in receivables as of February 
20, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Receivables:

Installment  ¥ 342  ¥ 614  $ 5,685 

Financial loan   6,787   1,543   14,287 

Total  ¥ 7,129  ¥ 2,157  $ 19,972

4. Receivables3. Acquisitions
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Marketable and investment securities as of February 20, 2007 and 2008 consisted of the following:

The carrying amounts and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at February 20, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

5. Marketable and investment securities

Millions of Yen

February 20, 2007 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

available-for-sale:

Equity securities  ¥ 42,632  ¥ 45,250  ¥ (2,037)  ¥ 85,845 

Debt securities   4,030   (11)   4,019 

Other   389   22   (31)   380 

Held-to-maturity debt securities   990   (3)   986 

Millions of Yen

February 20, 2008 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

available-for-sale:

Equity securities  ¥ 50,894  ¥ 29,520  ¥ (2,995)  ¥ 77,419 

Debt securities   6,322   1   (73)   6,249 

Other   128   6   (20)   113 

Held-to-maturity debt securities   2,604   29   2,634 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

February 20, 2008 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

available-for-sale:

Equity securities  $ 471,241  $ 273,339  $ (27,732)  $ 716,849 

Debt securities   58,537   13   (681)   57,868 

Other   1,191   55   (192)   1,054 

Held-to-maturity debt securities   24,118   274   24,392 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Current—Government and corporate bonds  ¥ 4,478  ¥ 7,282  $ 67,429 

Non-current:

  Equity securities  ¥ 93,115  ¥ 84,987  $ 786,923 

  Government and corporate bonds   534   1,574   14,578 

  Other   7,614   11,907   110,257 

Non-current total  ¥ 101,263  ¥ 98,470  $ 911,759 
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Carrying Amount

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Available-for-sale — Equity securities  ¥ 7,269  ¥ 7,568  $ 70,074 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due in one year or less  ¥ 6,717  $ 62,197 

Due after one year through five years   2,122   19,654 

Due after five years through ten years   14   136 

Total  ¥ 8,854  $ 81,987 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Proceeds  ¥ 1,646  ¥ 11,062  ¥ 5,662  $ 52,430 

Gross realized gains   785   7,955   4,386   40,616 

Gross realized losses   (27)   (4)

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Stores Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Northern Japan 101  ¥ 13,092 52  ¥ 9,183 89  ¥ 5,730  $ 53,059

Kanto 166   17,628 132   5,112 126   3,155   29,215

Chubu 86   12,207 56   7,002 82   3,133   29,009

Western Japan 177   31,406 62   7,385 124   7,298   67,578

Stores Buildings and 
structures and others Taiwan and other 57   843 183   150 102   693   6,425

Idle assets Land, buildings and 
structures and others Chubu and others 14   1,652 15   360 14   714   6,615

Total 601  ¥ 76,829 500  ¥ 29,194 537  ¥ 20,725  $ 191,904

Available-for-sale securities whose fair value is not readily determinable as of February 20, 2007 and 2008 were mainly as follows:

Proceeds, gross realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

The carrying values of debt securities by contractual maturities for securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at February 20, 2008 are 
as follows:

The Group reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment as for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and, as a result, recorded an 
impairment loss of ¥83,335 million, ¥32,804 million and ¥46,339 million ($429,069 thousand) on the following group of long-lived assets, respectively.

a. GMS and other retail store operations 

6. Long-lived assets
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Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Stores Buildings and 
structures and others

Northern Japan 57  ¥ 419 19  ¥ 216 31  ¥ 427  $ 3,955

Kanto 131   1,359 182   1,397 163   1,024   9,486

Chubu 57   467 20   478 25   102   950

Western Japan 100   1,518 36   593 42   291   2,701

U.S. and others 6   44 27   580   5,378

Idle assets Land Western Japan 4   3

Goodwill and 
trademarks U.S. 1   17,459   161,664

Total 351  ¥ 3,808 261  ¥ 2,689 289  ¥ 19,886  $ 184,136

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Stores Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Kanto 1  ¥ 1,303

Chubu 1   247

Western Japan 3  ¥ 5,091  $ 47,146

Stores Land Kanto 1  ¥ 579

Idle assets Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Chubu and others 5   622

Western Japan 2   400   3,707

Total 7  ¥ 2,173 1  ¥ 579 5  ¥ 5,492  $ 50,854

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Stores Buildings and 
structures and others

Northern Japan 10  ¥ 62 11  ¥ 14 10  ¥ 25  $ 233

Kanto 25   179 28   156 18   84   781

Chubu 18   78 11   70 6   31   291

Western Japan 36   176 31   99 28   93   866

Idle assets Land Northern Japan 3   25

Total 92  ¥ 523 81  ¥ 341 62  ¥ 234  $ 2,173

b. Specialty store operations

c. SC development operations

d. Service and other operations
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Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Buildings and structures  ¥ 46,870  ¥ 19,459  ¥ 17,178  $ 159,064

Land   14,137   7,132   4,455   41,251

Furniture and fixtures   8,449   2,817   3,937   36,460

Leased property held under finance leases   7,137   1,898   1,669   15,454

Goodwill and trademarks   17,459   161,664

Other intangible assets and others   6,740   1,497   1,638   15,173

Total  ¥ 83,335  ¥ 32,804  ¥ 46,339  $ 429,069

The breakdown of impairment loss for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008, were as follows:

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries (“Companies”) have 
securitized certain amounts of fixed leasehold deposits to lessors by 
transferring these deposits to unconsolidated special purpose entities 
such as J-one Assets Corporation. The aggregate amounts of securitized 
deposits as of February 20, 2007 and 2008 were ¥51,187 million and 
¥41,508 million ($384,334 thousand), respectively.
 These special purpose entities have options to sell the transferred 
deposits back to the Companies in certain cases, including lessors’ 

insolvency. When the special purpose entities exercise their put options, 
they also cancel interest rate swap agreements, which they entered into 
with financial institutions for hedging interest exposures, incorporated in 
these transactions, and the cancellation gains or losses are borne by the 
Companies. The unrealized gain on these interest rate swap agreements 
as of February 20, 2007 was ¥8 million and the unrealized loss on them 
as of February 20, 2008 was ¥424 million ($3,927 thousand).

Short-term borrowings at February 20, 2007 and 2008 consisted of the following:

7. Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors

8. Short-term borrowings and long-term debt

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Short-term loans principally from banks,
  0.46% to 9.25% (2007) and 0.086% to 9.25% (2008)  ¥ 95,359  ¥ 104,713   $ 969,572 

Bank overdraft, 0.846% to 7.1% (2007) and 1.85% to 5.832% (2008)   3,620   1,649   15,276 

Commercial papers, 0.58% to 0.79% (2007) and 0.8% to 0.75% (2008)   6,000   3,000   27,777 

Total  ¥ 104,979  ¥ 109,363  $ 1,012,627  

The Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries mainly categorize 
stores as standard units, which are the minimum cash-generating units, and 
idle assets as individual independent units. 
 The book values of the stores which incurred or are expected to incur 
continuous operating losses, and idle assets which are not scheduled to 
be used, were reduced to recoverable amounts, and such deducted 
amounts were recorded as impairment loss in other expenses. 
 The recoverable amounts of the asset groups are measured at net 
selling price or value in use.  
 The net selling price for land is measured based on evaluations 
based on real estate appraisal value or assessed value of fixed assets.  

The net selling price for other assets is measured on a best estimate 
based on past transaction cases.  The value in use is based on the 
present values of expected cash flows with the discount rate. The 
discount rates for fiscal years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 
were  2.1% to 10.0%, 2.1% to 10.4% and 2.5% to 13.7%, respectively.
 Goodwill and trademarks held by U.S. subsidiaries are evaluated 
for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of 
SFAS No.142.
 The Talbots, Inc. recorded an impairment loss on goodwill and 
trademarks related to J.Jill brand of ¥17,459 million ($161,664 thousand) 
for this fiscal year. 
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Long-term debt at February 20, 2007 and 2008 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Issued by Aeon Co., Ltd.:
 Unsecured 2.50% Japanese yen notes due 2009  ¥ 5,000  ¥ 5,000  $ 46,296 
 Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2010   10,000   10,000   92,592 
 Unsecured 1.71% Japanese yen notes due 2008   20,000       
 Unsecured 2.44% Japanese yen notes due 2011   10,000   10,000   92,592 
 Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2026   15,000   15,000   138,888 
 Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2016   20,000   20,000   185,185 
 Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and
 early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 1)   4,500   4,500   41,666 
 Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and
   early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 2)   26,500   26,500   245,370 
Issued by Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd.:
 Unsecured 1.97% Japanese yen notes due 2008   10,000       
 Unsecured 1.22% Japanese yen notes due 2009   15,000   15,000   138,888 
 Unsecured 1.47% Japanese yen notes due 2010   15,000   15,000   138,888 
 Unsecured 0.81% Japanese yen notes due 2011   10,000   10,000   92,592 
 Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2012   10,000   10,000   92,592 
 Unsecured 1.08% Japanese yen notes due 2013   20,000   20,000   185,185 
 Unsecured 1.55% Japanese yen notes due 2013   10,000   10,000   92,592 
 Unsecured 1.79% Japanese yen notes due 2014   20,000   20,000   185,185 
 Unsecured 1.78% Japanese yen notes due 2013   20,000   185,185 
Issued by Aeon Hokkaido Corporation:
 Unsecured 0.89% Japanese yen notes due 2009   300   2,777 
 Unsecured 0.69% Japanese yen notes due 2009   200   1,851 
 Unsecured 0.81% Japanese yen notes due 2010   150   1,388 
 Unsecured 0.71% Japanese yen notes due 2010   150   1,388 
 Unsecured 0.95% Japanese yen notes due 2010   330   3,055 
Issued by Aeon Thana Sinsap (Thailand) Plc.:
 Unsecured 4.45% Thai baht notes due 2009   1,805   1,715   15,879 
 Unsecured 4.77% Thai baht notes due 2009   1,877   1,783   16,514 
 Unsecured 4.94% Thai baht notes due 2011   1,083   1,029   9,527 
Issued by Aeon Credit Service (M) Berhad:
 4.30% Medium term notes due 2010   686   653   6,046 
 Medium term notes due 2010 (Note 3)   686   654   6,055 
 Medium term notes due 2012 (Note 4)   1,372   1,266   11,730 
 Medium term notes due 2011 (Note 5)   1,339   12,398 
 Medium term notes due 2013 (Note 6)   1,338   12,396 
 Medium term notes due 2011 (Note 7)   1,673   15,494 
Issued by other consolidated subsidiaries (Note 8):
 Unsecured notes, due through 2013 with interest rates ranging from 
   0.61% to 3.70%:   4,014   37,169 
Loans from banks and insurance companies, due through 2030 with interest
  rates ranging from 0.00% to 7.3% (2007) and from 0.00% to 7.3% (2008):
 Collateralized   107,767   97,211   900,108 
 Unsecured   600,333   607,094   5,621,245 
Debt under securitization of future cash flow   11,400   6,000   55,555 
Total   948,009   937,903   8,684,289 
Less current portion   (178,946)   (186,098)   (1,723,138)
Long-term debt, less current portion  ¥ 769,062  ¥ 751,804  $ 6,961,151 

Notes: 1. Interest rate: 3.25% per annum till September 29, 2016 and 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
 2. Interest rate: 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 1.40% till September 29, 2016, and 6-Month Euro Yen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
 3. Profit return rate: 4.30%
 4. Profit return rate: 4.50%
 5. Profit return rate: 4.18%
 6. Profit return rate: 4.41%
 7. Profit return rate: 4.48%
 8. Consolidated subsidiaries: Joy Co., Ltd. and 2 other companies
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9. Secured and unsecured obligations under reorganization proceedings

Annual maturities of long-term debt at February 20, 2008 were as follows: The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for short-term 
borrowings, long-term debt and other at February 20, 2008 were as follows:

On December 31, 2005, Mycal made early repayments and brought to 
close its reorganization proceedings. However, at February 20, 2008, it is 
still obligated to redeem the remaining ¥11,749 million ($108,788 
thousand) secured and unsecured indebtedness in accordance with the 
original reorganization plan. Annual maturities of secured and unsecured 
obligations under the reorganization proceedings at February 20, 2008 
were as follows:

Obligations under the reorganization proceedings at February 20, 2008 
consisted of the following:

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for secured 
obligations under the reorganization proceedings of ¥8,308 million 
($76,927 thousand) at February 20, 2008 were as follows:

The maturity schedules above are principally based on the original 
reorganization plan of the consolidated subsidiary, which has been revised
based on the best estimate of management.

Collateralized short-term borrowings, long-term debt and other at February 
20, 2008 were as follows:

Year Ending February 20 Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2009  ¥ 186,098  $ 1,723,138 

2010   143,162   1,325,581 

2011   174,830   1,618,805 

2012   124,356   1,151,450 

2013   100,173   927,530 

2014 and thereafter   209,280   1,937,784 

Total  ¥ 937,903  $ 8,684,289 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Land  ¥ 66,093  $ 611,972 

Buildings and structures—net of 
  accumulated depreciation   96,124   890,045 

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors   862   7,981 

Investments and other assets—other   30   286 

Installment and Financial loan receivables  19,870   183,990 

Merchandise inventories   202   1,870 

Cash and cash equivalents   4   37 

Total  ¥ 183,187  $ 1,696,184 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Short-term borrowings  ¥ 16,073  $ 148,832 

Long-term debt   97,211   900,108 

Other current liabilities   8,308   76,927 

Lease deposits from lessees   2,323   21,509 

Total  ¥ 123,916  $ 1,147,378 

Year Ending February 20 Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2009  ¥ 1,904  $ 17,629 

2010   1,792   16,596 

2011   1,790   16,578 

2012   1,780   16,486 

2013   1,666   15,427 

2014 and thereafter   2,815   26,069 

Total  ¥ 11,749  $ 108,788 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Secured  ¥ 8,308  $ 76,927 

Unsecured   3,441   31,861

 Total   11,749   108,788

Less current portion   (1,904)   (17,629)

Secured and unsecured obligations 
  under the reorganization 
  proceedings, less current portion  ¥ 9,845  $ 91,158  

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Land  ¥ 3,003  $ 27,813 

Buildings and structures—
  net of accumulated depreciation   6,842   63,356 

Total  ¥ 9,846  $ 91,169 
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The Company transferred depository rights derived from store cash 
receipts to an unconsolidated special purpose entity, to hedge the risk of 
loss on an uninsured portion of the cash deposits.

 The proceeds from this transaction included in other current liabilities 
of consolidated balance sheets at February 20, 2007 and 2008 were 
¥1,833 million and ¥1,842 million ($17,056 thousand), respectively.

10. Other current liabilities

The Group has severance payment plans for employees, directors and 
corporate auditors, except that the Company ceased the severance 
payments for the directors and corporate auditors effective May 15, 2003.
 The Company and certain consolidated domestic subsidiaries have a 
defined benefit pension plan, advance payment plan and defined 

contribution pension plan covering substantially all employees.
 U.S. subsidiaries have a non-contributory defined benefit 
pension plan and defined contribution pension plan covering 
substantially all employees. 

11. Retirement and pension plans

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Service cost  ¥ 5,644  ¥ 5,737  ¥ 5,406  $ 50,061 

Interest cost   3,119   3,379   3,442   31,878 

Expected return on plan assets   (1,875)   (2,229)   (2,166)   (20,056)

Amortization of prior service cost   (319)   (319)   (284)   (2,632)

Recognized actuarial loss   3,322   3,547   2,949   27,308 

Other   3,192   3,314   3,999   37,036 

Net periodic benefit costs   13,083   13,430   13,348   123,594 

Loss on transfer of pension plan resulting from changes in scope of consolidation   78   729 

Gain on transfer of pension plans   (62)

Total  ¥ 13,021  ¥ 13,430  ¥ 13,427  $ 124,324 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Projected benefit obligation  ¥ 124,688  ¥ 127,702  $ 1,182,426 

Fair value of plan assets   (65,157)   (66,893)   (619,387)

Unrecognized prior service cost   2,187   1,868   17,296 

Unrecognized actuarial loss   (15,027)   (15,846)   (146,724)

Net liability  ¥ 46,691  ¥ 46,830  $ 433,611 

The liability for employees’ retirement benefits at February 20, 2007 and 2008 consisted of the following:

The components of net periodic benefit costs and relevant gain and loss for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

“Other” includes payments for advance payment plan and contributions 
for defined contribution pension plan.
 Assumptions used for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 
2008 are set forth as follows:

The Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries

’06 ’07 ’08

Discount rate Mainly 2.40% Mainly 2.40% Mainly 2.40%

Expected rate of return
 on plan assets Mainly 1.95% Mainly 2.31% Mainly 2.05%

Amortization period of
 prior service cost 10 years 10 years 10 years

Recognition period of
 actuarial gain/loss 10 years 10 years 10 years
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On and after May 1, 2006, Japanese companies are subject to a new 
corporate law of Japan (the “Corporate Law”), which reformed and 
replaced the Commercial Code of Japan (the “Code”) with various 
revisions that are, for the most part, applicable to events or transactions 
which occur on or after May 1, 2006 and for the fiscal years ending on or 
after May 1, 2006. The significant changes in the Corporate Law that 
affect financial and accounting matters are summarized below:

(a) Dividends 
Under the Corporate Law, companies can pay dividends at any time during 
the fiscal year in addition to the year-end dividend upon resolution at the 
shareholders meeting. For companies that meet certain criteria such as: (1) 
having the Board of Directors, (2) having independent auditors, (3) having 
the Board of Corporate Auditors, and (4) the term of service of the 
directors is prescribed as one year rather than two years of normal term by 
its articles of incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare dividends 
(except for dividends in kind) at any time during the fiscal year if the 
company has prescribed so in its articles of incorporation. The Board of 
Directors of companies with board committees (an appointment committee, 
compensation committee and audit committee) can also do so because 
such companies with board committees already, by nature, meet the above 
criteria under the Corporate Law, even though such companies have an 
audit committee instead of the Board of Corporate Auditors. 
 The Board of Directors of the Company can declare dividends without 
resolution at the shareholders meeting since the Company is organized as 
a company with board committees and meet the above criteria. 
 The Corporate Law permits companies to distribute dividends-in-kind 
(non-cash assets) to shareholders subject to a certain limitation and 
additional requirements.
 Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a year upon 
resolution by the Board of Directors if the articles of incorporation of the 
company so stipulate. The Corporate Law provides certain limitations on 
the amounts available for dividends or the purchase of treasury stock. The 
limitation is defined as the amount available for distribution to the 
shareholders, but the amount of net assets after dividends must be 
maintained at no less than ¥3 million.

(b)  Increases/decreases and transfer of common stock,
reserve and surplus

The Corporate Law requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends 
must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of retained 
earnings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus) 
depending on the equity account charged upon the payment of such 
dividends until the total of aggregate amount of legal reserve and 
additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the common stock. Under the 
Corporate Law, the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal 

reserve may be reversed without limitation.
 The Corporate Law also provides that common stock, legal reserve, 
additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus and retained earnings can 
be transferred among the accounts under certain conditions upon 
resolution of the shareholders.

(c) Treasury stock and treasury stock acquisition rights
The Corporate Law also provides for companies to purchase treasury 
stock and dispose of such treasury stock by resolution of the Board of 
Directors. The amount of treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the 
amount available for distribution to the shareholders which is determined 
by specific formula.
 Under the Corporate Law, stock acquisition rights, which were 
previously presented as a liability, are now presented as a separate 
component of equity.
 The Corporate Law also provides that companies can purchase both 
treasury stock acquisition rights and treasury stock. Such treasury stock 
acquisition rights are presented as a separate component of equity or 
deducted directly from stock acquisition rights.

Issuance of common stock
The Company issued 70,000,000 shares of common stock by public 
offering on November 8, 2006, and 4,591,300 shares of common stock 
through an over-allotment program in Japan on December 5, 2006. The 
issue price was ¥2,593.6, per share and gross cash proceeds was 
¥193,459 million, of which ¥96,729 million was recorded as additional 
paid-in capital (capital surplus) in accordance with the Corporate Law.

Purchase of treasury stock
During the year ended February 20, 2008, the Company acquired 
34,692,200 shares of the Company’s common stock under its acquisition 
plan at a price per share of ¥1,749 ($16.19). The total amount was 
¥60,676 million ($561,820 thousand). These acquisitions were made under 
a stock acquisition plan approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 
October 4, 2007 authorizing the Company to acquire an aggregate of up to 
¥70,000 million ($648,148 thousand) in stock or up to 35,000,000 shares.

Restriction of dividends and repurchase of its stock
In related to the issuance of two series of subordinated bonds of ¥31,000 
million on September 26, 2006 (see Note 8), the Company may defer the 
payment of interest for up to ten years in the event its financial condition 
deteriorates to a certain level and certain other events. If the Company’s 
financial condition deteriorates further, the source of funds for interest 
payments will be limited to proceeds from the issuance of new stock and 
certain other sources. In this situation, the Company shall not pay any 
dividends from capital surplus or repurchase any of its stock.

12. Equity

U.S. subsidiaries The liability for retirement benefits at February 20, 2007 and 2008 for 
directors and corporate auditors is ¥1,999 million and ¥1,387 million 
($12,843 thousand), respectively.

’06 ’07 ’08

Discount rate 5.50% 6.00% 6.50%

Expected rate of return

 on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 
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13. Stock-based compensation
1. The Company and consolidated domestic subsidiary
The Company recognized expenses regarding stock options of ¥7 million ($71 thousand), which are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses, for the year ended February 20, 2008.

The stock options outstanding as of February 20, 2008 are as follows:

The summary of stock option activity during the fiscal year 2008 is 
as follows:

The Company

Origin Toshu

Stock Option Persons Granted
Number of 

Options Granted
Date of Grant

Exercise Price 
Yen

Exercise Period

2003 Stock Option
1 director, 2 corporate auditors, 
  and 138 employees
1 director and 3 employees of the subsidiary

102,000 shares June 22, 2002  ¥ 2,469
From July 1, 2004
To June 30, 2007

2004 Stock Option 162 employees 
4 employees of the subsidiary 91,500 shares June 21, 2003  ¥ 1,393

From July 1, 2005
To June 30, 2008

2005 Stock Option 12 directors, 128 employees
2 directors and 1 employee of the subsidiary 106,500 shares June 19, 2004  ¥ 1,875

From July 3, 2006
To June 30, 2009

2006 Stock Option
12 directors, 4 corporate auditors, 
and 174 employees
4 employees of the subsidiary

176,000 shares June 18, 2005  ¥ 2,090
From July 2, 2007
To June 30, 2010

Stock Option Persons Granted
Number of 

Options Granted
Date of Grant

Exercise Price 
Yen

Exercise Period

2008 Stock Option 30 executive officers 66,500 shares April 21, 2007 ¥1
From May 21, 2007

To May 20, 2022

The Company Origin Toshu

’08 ’03~’06
Stock Option Stock Option

Non-vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year

Granted   66,500 

Expired

Vested   66,500 

Outstanding at end of year

Vested (Shares)

Outstanding at beginning of year   239,700 

Vested   66,500 

Exercised

Expired   (63,200) 

Outstanding at end of year   66,500   176,500 

Exercise price  ¥ 1 ¥1,393~¥2,469 

Average stock price at exercise

Fair value price at grant date  ¥ 2,085

The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options of the 
Company were as follows:

’08

Estimated fair value ¥2,085

Measurement method
Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model

Risk-free interest rate 1.47%

Expected life of option grants 7.5 years

Expected volatility of underlying stock 34.0%

Expected dividend payment rate, as a percentage 
of the stock price on the date of grant

0.68%
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2. Consolidated foreign subsidiary
The Talbots, Inc. (“Talbots”)
Amended and Restated 2003 Executive Stock Based Incentive Plan
Talbots’s 2003 Plan provides for the grant of stock options and nonvested 
stock awards to certain key members of management. In accordance with 
the 2003 Plan, Talbots has issued stock options that generally vest over a 
three-year period at each anniversary date and expire no later than ten 
years from the grant date.
 Additionally, under the provisions of the 2003 Plan, upon the grant of 
nonvested stock, the recipient or Talbots on the recipient’s behalf is 
required to pay the par value of such shares, $0.01 per share. The shares 
of nonvested stock generally are forfeited to Talbots, through the 
repurchase of such shares, at the $0.01 par value if the employee 
terminates employment prior to the vesting date. Certain shares granted 
as performance accelerated nonvested stock vest at the end of a five-
year service period, however, all or a portion of the vesting may be 
accelerated to three years after the grant date depending on the 
achievement of certain corporate financial goals. Certain other shares of 
nonvested stock are time vested and generally vest between two and four 
years.

Amended and Restated Directors Plan
Talbots’s Directors Plan provides for the grant of stock options and 
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to non-management directors on Talbots’s 
Board of Directors. In accordance with the Directors Plan, Talbots had 
issued stock options that generally vest over a three-year period, but 

accelerate upon retirement, and expire no later than ten years from the 
date of grant. No stock options were granted under the Directors Plan 
during fiscal years 2007 and 2008.
 Additionally, in accordance with the Directors Plan, Talbots has 
awarded RSUs which generally vest over one year. The RSUs may be 
mandatorily or electively deferred, in which case the RSUs will be issued 
as common stock to the holder upon departing from the Board, but not 
before vesting. If the RSUs are not deferred, the RSUs will be issued as 
common stock upon vesting. Holders of RSUs are entitled to dividends 
equivalent to common stock dividends but RSUs do not have voting 
rights.
 Talbots intends to issue shares from exercises of stock options and 
future issuances of nonvested stock and restricted stock units from its 
unissued reserved shares under its 2003 Plan and Directors Plan.
 On January 29, 2006, Talbots adopted SFAS No. 123R which 
requires all stock-based compensation to employees to be recognized in 
the financial statements at their fair values. Talbots elected to use the 
modified-prospective application as its transition method and accordingly, 
prior period amounts have not been restated. Talbots is recognizing stock-
based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite 
service period of the awards for those awards granted following the 
adoption of SFAS No. 123R. For nonvested awards outstanding upon the 
adoption of SFAS No. 123R, Talbots is recognizing stock-based 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
requisite service period of the awards. 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Cost of sales, buying and occupancy  ¥ 303  ¥ 197  $ 1,695

Selling general and administrative  ¥ 938   1,800   2,047   17,547 

Total  ¥ 938  ¥ 2,104  ¥ 2,244  $ 19,242

Note: Japanese yen amounts are translated at the average foreign exchange rates of each fiscal year.

Number of 
Shares

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price per Share

Outstanding at beginning of year 8,438,930  $ 28.44 

Granted 1,695,200   23.75

Exercised (173,720)   10.83

Forfeited (384,707)   26.34

Expired (83,997)   34.37

Outstanding at end of year 9,491,706  $ 27.96 

Exercisable at end of year 7,146,058  $ 28.97 

The consolidated statements of income for the years 2006, 2007, and 2008 include the following stock-based compensation expense related to stock 
option awards, nonvested stock awards, and restricted stock unit awards:

Stock options
Talbots measures the fair value of stock options on the date of grant by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The estimated weighted average 
fair value of options granted during 2006, 2007, and 2008 were $12.14, $8.85, and $7.58, per option, respectively. Key assumptions used to apply this 
pricing model were as follows:

The summary of stock option activity during the fiscal year 2008 is as follows:
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’06 ’07 ’08

Estimated weighted average fair value $12.14 $8.85 $7.58 

Measurement method Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model option-pricing model option-pricing model

Weighted average risk-free interest rate 4.0% 4.7% 4.5%

Weighted average expected life of option grants 4.2 years 4.5 years 4.6 years

Weighted average expected volatility of underlying stock 47.9% 41.8% 38.5%

Weighted average expected dividend payment rate,

as a percentage of the stock price on the date of grant 1.5% 2.0% 2.4%

The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options were as follows:

The risk-free interest rate represents the implied yield available on U.S. 
Treasury zero-coupon bond issues with a term approximately equal to the 
expected life of the option. The expected life of an option is based on the 
historical experience for the population of option holders. Expected 
volatility is based on Talbots’s historical realized volatility over the period 
that matches the expected life of the option. Expected dividend yield is 

based on the expected annual payment of dividends divided by the 
exercise price of the option award. In determining the assumptions to be 
used, when Talbots has relied on historical data or trends, Talbots has also 
considered, if applicable, any expected future trends that could differ from 
historical results and has modified its assumptions if applicable.

Nonvested stock awards and RSUs
A summary of nonvested stock awards and RSU activity for the fiscal year 
2008 is as follows:
The fair value of nonvested stock awards and RSUs granted are based on 
the closing traded stock price on the date of the grant.

Number of 
Shares

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 

per Share

Nonvested at beginning of year 1,204,427  $ 29.04

Granted 1,036,336   21.04

Vested (65,890)   25.28

Forfeited (244,575)   28.45

Nonvested at end of year 1,930,298  $ 24.95

14. Other income (expenses)
Other income (expenses)—net for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007and 2008 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Reversal of (provision for) allowance for doubtful accounts–net  ¥ 8,280  ¥ (484)  ¥ 3,436  $ 31,823

Loss on disposals of fixed assets   (2,611)   (3,061)   (4,452)   (41,229)

Gain on sales of fixed assets   1,399   2,552   4,979   46,107 

Provision for loss on refund of interest received   (2,402)

Provision for store closing expenses   (5,106)   (1,846)   (3,051)   (28,253)

Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization proceedings of subsidiary   5,391 

Net gain on sales of securities   2,670   7,950   8,648   80,080 

Equity in earnings (losses) of associated companies   2,040   (5,226)   (548)   (5,081)

Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries   4,805   44,494 

Loss  on store closings   (2,431)   (1,386)   (5,587)   (51,732)

Gain on bad debts recovered   1,372   1,992   2,896   26,822 

Other   1,757   1,019   13,532   125,301 

Total  ¥ 12,763  ¥ (893)  ¥ 24,660  $ 228,333 

Note: Gain on forgiveness of debt under reorganization proceedings of subsidiary in 2006 includes ¥4,625 million causing from the early repayments of obligations by Mycal.
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15. Income taxes
The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities at February 20, 2007 
and 2008 are as follows:

A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rates and the actual effective tax rates reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements 
of income for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 is as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08
Deferred tax assets:

Enterprise tax  ¥ 4,707  ¥ 3,896  $ 36,081 
Merchandise inventories   4,675   3,950   36,580 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   19,324   22,495   208,291 
Receivables   2,954   1,133   10,498 
Payables and accrued expenses   7,851   8,820   81,672 
Property, buildings and equipment   63,245   61,409   568,608 
Liability for retirement benefits   15,525   16,533   153,083 

Investment securities, including investments in unconsolidated
  subsidiaries and associated companies   16,415   15,783   146,139 
Provision for store closing expenses   5,273   7,262   67,248 
Tax loss carryforwards   23,467   26,554   245,870 
Write-down of assets under the reorganization proceedings   40,351   38,520   356,669 
Other   21,471   34,491   319,365 
Less valuation allowance   (113,471)   (117,117)   (1,084,420)

Total   111,793   123,734   1,145,689 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated companies   (4,255)   (5,263)   (48,733)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities   (16,370)   (9,933)   (91,975)
Undistributed earnings of consolidated foreign subsidiaries   (5,165)   (6,978)   (64,612)
Property, buildings and equipment   (6,485)   (6,240)   (57,784)
Prepaid pension cost   (60)

Depreciation and amortization of consolidated foreign
  subsidiaries applicable for local taxation   (7,752)   (5,749)   (53,240)
Identifiable intangible assets   (7,203)   (5,288)   (48,963)
Other   (188)   (1,825)   (16,900)

Total   (47,482)   (41,279)   (382,209)
Net deferred tax assets  ¥ 64,310  ¥ 82,455  $ 763,479 

’06 ’07 ’08
Normal effective statutory tax rate 40.3% 40.3% 40.3%
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries (4.6) (2.4) (3.4)
Foreign tax credit (0.9) 
Undistributed earnings of consolidated foreign subsidiaries 1.0 0.3 

Dividends from consolidated foreign subsidiaries eliminated
  for consolidation purposes 1.7 0.6 2.2
Per capita portion of inhabitant tax 3.1 2.1 2.7 
Amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill-net (3.4) (0.8) (0.9) 
Impairment loss on goodwill 4.3
Equity in (earnings) losses of associated companies (0.8) 1.4 0.2 
Change in valuation allowance 5.2 (2.3) 1.2 
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1.6 1.8 2.2 
Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries (1.6) 
Other—net (0.6) (0.8) (1.1) 
Actual effective tax rate 43.5% 40.2% 45.2%
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At February 20, 2008, certain consolidated subsidiaries have tax loss 
carryforwards aggregating approximately ¥40,012 million ($370,482 
thousand), which are available to be offset against taxable income of such 
subsidiaries in future years. These tax loss carryforwards, if not utilized, 
expire as follows:

b. Purchases of newly consolidated subsidiaries
For the year ended February 20, 2006,  Aeon Marché Co., Ltd. was 
acquired. Assets and liabilities of the Company at the date of acquisition,  
cash paid for the capital and cash paid in conjunction with the purchase 
of consolidated subsidiary was as follows:

For the year ended February 20, 2007, Origin Toshu, Diamond City, The J. 
Jill Group, Inc. and 5 other companies were acquired. Assets and liabilities 
of these companies at the date of acquisition,  cash paid for the capital 
and cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of consolidated 
subsidiaries were as follows:

Year Ending February 20 Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2009  ¥ 4,204  $ 38,927 

2010   1,937   17,943 

2011   934   8,652 

2012   3,497   32,385 

2013 and thereafter   29,437   272,573 

Total  ¥ 40,012  $ 370,482 

Millions of Yen

Assets  ¥ 20,233

Goodwill   3,061

Liabilities   (13,291)

Cash paid for the capital   10,003

Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiary   1,730

Cash paid in conjunction with the purchase of
  consolidated subsidiary  ¥ 8,273

Millions of Yen

Assets  ¥ 198,183

Goodwill   124,815

Liabilities   (116,012)

Minority interests   (21,955)

Cash paid for the capital   185,030

Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiaries   16,482

Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of
  consolidated subsidiaries—net  ¥ 168,548

16. Supplemental cash flow information
a. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents between the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of cash flows at February 20, 
2006, 2007 and 2008 is as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets  ¥ 286,410  ¥ 386,855  ¥ 161,833  $ 1,498,461 

Bank overdraft   (292)   (3,620)   (1,649)   (15,276)

Money deposited as insurance premiums   (731)   (383)   (439)   (4,067)

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows  ¥ 285,387  ¥ 382,851  ¥ 159,744  $ 1,479,118 
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For the year ended February 20, 2008, Aeon Hokkaido, Joy Co., Ltd., 
Kohyo, and 1 other company were acquired. Assets and liabilities of these 
companies at the time of consolidation, cash paid for the capital and cash 
paid in conjunction with the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of
 U.S. Dollars

Assets  ¥ 95,071  $ 880,289 

Goodwill   16,086   148,947 

Liabilities   (91,354)   (845,876)

Minority interests   (1,293)   (11,976)

Cash paid for the capital   18,509   171,383 

Cash and cash equivalents of
  consolidated subsidiaries   17,060   157,963 

Cash paid in conjunction with the 
  purchases of consolidated 
  subsidiaries—net  ¥ 1,449  $ 13,419 

a. Lessee
The Group leases certain store buildings, store equipment and other assets.
 Total rental expenses for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 
and 2008 were ¥238,203 million, ¥265,442 million and ¥265,509 
million ($2,458,422 thousand), respectively, including ¥21,499 million, 
¥20,139 million and ¥19,237 million ($178,125 thousand) of lease 
payments under finance leases.
 For the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008, the Group 
recorded an impairment loss of ¥7,137 million, ¥1,898 million and ¥1,669 
million ($15,459 thousand), respectively, on certain leased property held 

under finance leases that do not transfer ownership and an allowance for 
impairment loss on leased property, which is included in other current 
liabilities and long-term liabilities–other.
 Pro forma information of leased property such as acquisition cost, 
accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment loss, obligation under 
finance lease, depreciation expense, interest expense and other 
information of finance leases that do not transfer ownership of the leased 
property to the lessee on an “as if capitalized” basis for the years ended 
February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 for the Company and consolidated 
domestic subsidiaries was as follows:

17. Leases

Millions of Yen

’07
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  ¥ 20,524  ¥ 77,661  ¥ 2,043  ¥ 100,229 

Accumulated depreciation   (6,490)   (43,213)   (1,019)   (50,723)

Accumulated impairment loss   (5,220)   (5,574)   (8)   (10,803)

Net leased property  ¥ 8,813  ¥ 28,873  ¥ 1,014  ¥ 38,702 

Millions of Yen

’08
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  ¥ 16,478  ¥ 75,633  ¥ 1,881  ¥ 93,993 

Accumulated depreciation   (6,439)   (42,277)   (980)   (49,697)

Accumulated impairment loss   (2,694)   (5,943)   (3)   (8,642)

Net leased property  ¥ 7,343  ¥ 27,412  ¥ 897  ¥ 35,653 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’08
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  $ 152,574  $ 700,310  $ 17,422  $ 870,307 

Accumulated depreciation   (59,626)   (391,459)   (9,074)   (460,160)

Accumulated impairment loss   (24,950)   (55,035)   (34)   (80,020)

Net leased property  $ 67,997  $ 253,815  $ 8,313  $ 330,126 
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Depreciation expense and interest expense, which are not reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of Income, are computed by the 
straight-line method and the interest method, respectively.

The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases 
at February 20, 2008 were as follows:

Depreciation expense and interest income under finance leases for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due within one year  ¥ 127,222  $ 1,177,984

Due after one year   810,470   7,504,356

Total  ¥ 937,692  $ 8,682,340

b. Lessor
The Group leases certain store space to tenants and other assets.
 Total rental revenues for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 
and 2008 were ¥146,373 million, ¥205,829 million and ¥227,316 million 

($2,104,782 thousand), respectively and receipt of rental payments under 
finance leases of ¥97 million is included in total rental revenue for the 
year ended February 20, 2006.

Obligations under finance leases:

Depreciation expense, interest expense and other information under finance leases:

Future rental revenues from subleases under finance leases for the years ended February 20, 2007 and 2008 were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Due within one year  ¥ 16,053  ¥ 14,151  $ 131,029 

Due after one year   32,555   26,735   247,553 

Total  ¥ 48,608  ¥ 40,888  $ 378,601 
Note: Allowance for impairment loss on leased property of ¥4,195 million ($38,842 thousand) as of February 20, 2008 is not included in obligations under finance leases.

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’07 ’08 ’08

Due within one year  ¥ 92 

Due after one year   309 

Total  ¥ 401

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Depreciation expense  ¥ 18,714  ¥ 16,501  ¥ 15,522  $ 143,726 

Interest expense   1,335   1,247   1,156   10,712 

Total  ¥ 20,050  ¥ 17,748  ¥ 16,679  $ 154,439 

Reversal of allowance for impairment loss on leased property  ¥ 2,366  ¥ 2,634  ¥ 2,185  $ 20,240 

Impairment loss   7,137   1,898   1,669   15,459 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’06 ’07 ’08 ’08

Depreciation expense  ¥ 84

Interest income   2 

Note: Interest income, which is not reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, is computed by the interest method.
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The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases 
at February 20, 2008 were as follows: Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due within one year  ¥ 834  $ 7,731

Due after one year   1,149   10,646

Total  ¥ 1,984  $ 18,377

The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts and currency 
swap contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with certain 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The Group also 
enters into interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap contracts and 
interest rate option contracts to manage its interest rate exposures on 
certain liabilities.
 All derivative transactions are entered into to hedge interest and 
foreign currency exposures incorporated within its business. Accordingly, 
market risk in these derivatives is basically offset by opposite movements 

in the value of hedged assets or liabilities.
 Because the counterparties to these derivatives are limited to major 
international financial institutions, the Group does not anticipate any 
losses arising from credit risk.
 Derivative transactions entered into by the Group have been made in 
accordance with internal policies which regulate the authorization and 
credit limit amount.
 The Group had the following derivatives contracts outstanding at 
February 20, 2008:

Derivatives which qualify for hedge accounting for the years ended 
February 20, 2007 and 2008 are excluded from the disclosure of 
market information.

 The contract or notional amounts of derivatives which are shown in 
the above table do not represent the amounts exchanged by the parties 
and do not measure the Group’s exposure to credit or market risk.

a. Commitments
The Company has agreements with J-one Assets Corporation (“J-one”), 
an unconsolidated special purpose entity (“SPE”), under which it is 
committed to execute loans as the first back-up line for the Asset Backed 
Commercial Paper program of J-one, unless certain agreed-upon terms 
such as the default of J-one are met. In cases when the Company cannot 
finance the loans under this agreement to J-one, a certain financial 
institution has agreed to provide loans to J-one instead of the Company. 
At February 20, 2008, the total unused credit available to J-one is 
¥80,000 million ($740,740 thousand).
 The consolidated financial services subsidiaries have agreements 
under which they are committed to card members to execute loans as 

long as the agreed-upon terms are met. At February 20, 2008, the total 
unused credit available to card members is ¥4,834,981 million 
($44,768,342 thousand).
 The consolidated SC development subsidiary has agreements with 
Petrus Funding Corporation (“Petrus”), an unconsolidated SPE, under 
which it is committed to excecute loans as the first back-up line. At 
February 20, 2008, the total unused credit available to SPE is ¥550 
million ($5,092 thousand).
 Commitments outstanding at February 20, 2008 for construction of 
property, buildings and equipment and for lease deposits approximated 
¥12,913 million ($119,572 thousand).

18. Derivatives

19. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Millions of Yen

’08
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Loss

Forward exchange contract ¥14 ¥14 

Interest rate swap contracts (fixed rate payment, floating rate receipt) 40

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’08
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Loss

Forward exchange contract $137 $130 $6 

Interest rate swap contracts (fixed rate payment, floating rate receipt) 370 
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b. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at February 20, 2008 for guarantees of bank loans 
mainly to store lessor were ¥1,732 million ($16,038 thousand).
 In February 2000, the Company entered into noncancelable 
operating lease contracts with Forester Special Purpose Company 
(“Forester”), an unconsolidated SPE incorporated by the Law on the 
Securitization of Assets in Japan. In connection with these lease contracts, 
the Company also entered into a total rate of return swap contracts with 
Forester, principally to swap repayments of ¥8,700 million ($80,555 
thousand) senior secured note issued by Forester for construction of 
leased assets and certain proceeds from sales of the leased assets.
 In November 2002, the Company entered into noncancelable 
operating lease contracts with Neo Pas FIS Ltd. (“Neo Pas”), an 
unconsolidated SPE. In these lease contracts, the Company has agreed 
that when Neo Pas incurs losses on the sales of the beneficiary rights to 
trustees representing the ownership of the leased land at the end of the 
noncancelable lease term, the Company will compensate Neo Pas for a 

certain portion of the losses up to ¥4,400 million ($40,740 thousand). In 
addition, if the sales price is below 50% of the acquisition cost of these 
beneficiary rights, the Company is also obligated to compensate half of 
the deficiency up to ¥5,150 million ($47,685 thousand).
 The Company and its consolidated subsidiary entered into 
noncancelable operating lease contracts with unconsolidated SPEs, 
named as Takakura Funding Corporation and Mebius Alfa (“SPEs”). SPEs 
financed the construction of the lease assets from financial institutions, 
and the Company entered into a contract with these financial institutions, 
which entitles the financial institutions with put options to sell a portion of 
their senior secured loans to SPEs in certain cases including their 
insolvency. If the financial institutions exercise their put options, the 
Company will be able to terminate these lease contracts with SPEs. The 
borrowings of SPEs from the financial institutions and minimum lease 
payment under these lease contracts as of February 20, 2008 were 
¥11,894 million ($110,132 thousand) and ¥18,714 million ($173,278 
thousand), respectively.

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

Shares
Yen

Year Ended February 20, 2006 Net Income
Weighted-average

Shares
EPS

Basic EPS:

Net income  ¥ 28,932

Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors   (216)

Net income available to common shareholders  ¥ 28,715   724,875  ¥ 39.61

Effect of dilutive securities—Warrants of associated companies   (41)

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation  ¥ 28,673   724,875  ¥ 39.56

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

Shares
Yen

Year Ended February 20, 2007 Net Income
Weighted-average

Shares
EPS

Basic EPS:

Net income  ¥ 57,656 

Net income available to common shareholders  ¥ 57,656   745,767  ¥ 77.31

Effect of dilutive securities—Warrants of associated companies   (3)

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation  ¥ 57,653   745,767  ¥ 77.30 

20. Net income per share
Basic and diluted net income per share (“EPS”) for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are as follows:



80

Annual Report 2008

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 

Shares
Yen U.S. Dollars

Year Ended February 20, 2008 Net Income
Weighted-average 

Shares
EPS

Basic EPS:

Net income  ¥ 43,932 

Net income available to common shareholders  ¥ 43,932   787,955  ¥ 55.75  $ 0.52 

Effect of dilutive securities—Warrants of the Company   55

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation  ¥ 43,932   788,010  ¥ 55.75  $ 0.52 

Transactions with companies of which directors of the Company were 
representative for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 
were as follows:

The Company separates its operations into four segments, which consist 
of GMS and other retail store operations, specialty store operations, SC 
development operations and service and other operations, and reviews 
operating results of the segments to make decisions about resources to 
be allocated to the segments and to assess its performance regularly.
 GMS and other retail store operations include mainly GMS, 
supermarket, convenience store and department store operations. Stores 
in this segment offer various types of goods. The specialty store 
operations include women’s apparel, casual wear items for men and 
women, cosmetics and toiletries, and shoes. The Company management 
assesses the operating results of stores categorized in this segment 
separately from those of GMS because of the differences in target 
customers and level of value added to the merchandise.

 The SC development operations provide store development and 
rental services. The service and other operations segment includes credit 
card operations, consumer financing, amusement facility operator, 
restaurants and store maintenance.
 The Company also separates its operations into three geographic 
areas, which consist of Japan, North America and Asia and Others. This 
segmentation is based on location of operations.
 Information about industry segments, geographic segments and 
sales to foreign customers of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries 
for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008, is as follows:

21. Related party transactions

22. Segment information

Millions of Yen

’06 ’07 ’08

Rental expense of land and buildings ¥365
Note: These transactions are on an arm’s length basis and in the normal course of business.

Millions of Yen

’06

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 3,608,475  ¥ 496,512  ¥ 45,229  ¥ 280,068  ¥ 4,430,285

Intersegment sales   33,266   2,619   23,180   327,203  ¥ (386,269)

Total revenues   3,641,742   499,132   68,409   607,271   (386,269)   4,430,285 

Operating expenses   3,578,395   477,221   47,386   546,636   (385,459)   4,264,179 

Operating income  ¥ 63,346  ¥ 21,911  ¥ 21,023  ¥ 60,635  ¥ (810)  ¥ 166,105 

(1) Industry segments
a. Sales and operating income
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Millions of Yen

’07

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 3,801,701  ¥ 607,076  ¥ 90,871  ¥ 325,126  ¥ 4,824,775 

Intersegment sales   34,700   2,589   36,120   337,225  ¥ (410,635)

Total revenues   3,836,401   609,665   126,992   662,351   (410,635)   4,824,775 

Operating expenses   3,761,216   593,447   88,454   600,765   (408,835)   4,635,047 

Operating income  ¥ 75,184  ¥ 16,218  ¥ 38,538  ¥ 61,586  ¥ (1,800)  ¥ 189,728 

Millions of Yen

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,094,073  ¥ 636,795  ¥ 99,745  ¥ 336,752  ¥ 5,167,366 

Intersegment sales   39,614   3,086   42,195   398,752  ¥ (483,648)

Total revenues   4,133,688   639,881   141,940   735,504   (483,648)   5,167,366 

Operating expenses   4,064,346   640,438   106,107   683,764   (483,331)   5,011,325 

Operating income  ¥ 69,341  ¥ (556)  ¥ 35,832  ¥ 51,740  ¥ (316)  ¥ 156,040 

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

a. Sales and operating income

a. Sales and operating income

Millions of Yen

’06

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,649,497  ¥ 272,428  ¥ 312,273  ¥ 840,507  ¥ (146,024)  ¥ 2,928,682 

Depreciation and amortization   72,135   12,088   9,950   9,696   103,871 

Impairment loss   76,829   3,808   2,173   523   83,335 

Capital expenditures   135,930   12,827   33,843   16,580   199,182 

Note: Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2006 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment 
 securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2006 were ¥34,959 million.

Millions of Yen

’07

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,776,098  ¥ 424,292  ¥ 536,951  ¥ 992,997  ¥ (195,994)  ¥ 3,534,346 

Depreciation and amortization   77,353   17,711   14,475   13,121   122,663 

Impairment loss   29,194   2,689   579   341   32,804 

Capital expenditures   135,889   19,574   67,614   21,813   244,892 

Note: Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2007 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment 
 securities maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2007 were ¥28,474 million.
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b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

Millions of Yen

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,815,157  ¥ 367,371  ¥ 578,101  ¥ 1,038,363  ¥ (207,586)  ¥ 3,591,406 

Depreciation and amortization   82,120   21,171   15,622   15,542   134,457 

Impairment loss   20,725   19,886   5,492   234   46,339 

Capital expenditures   170,496   19,324   48,327   32,356   270,505 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  $ 16,807,013  $ 3,401,585  $ 5,352,787  $ 9,614,477  $ (1,922,095)  $ 33,253,768 

Depreciation and amortization   760,379   196,030   144,651   143,914   1,244,975 

Impairment loss   191,904   184,136   50,854   2,173   429,069 

Capital expenditures   1,578,671   178,931   447,479   299,597   2,504,680 

Notes: 1. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2008 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities
  maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2008 were ¥30,768 million ($284,888 thousand).
 2. The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for business combinations described in Note 2.b was to decrease operating income of GMS and other retail store 
  operations, specialty store operations, SC development operations and service and other operations for the year ended February 20, 2008 by ¥3,078 million ($28,508 thousand), ¥2,110 million 
  ($19,544 thousand), ¥2,938 million ($27,210 thousand) and ¥218 million ($2,023 thousand) respectively, from such segments in the prior year.

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  $ 37,908,086  $ 5,896,254  $ 923,566  $ 3,118,077  $ 47,845,984 

Intersegment sales   366,802   28,574   390,698   3,692,149  $ (4,478,224)

Total revenues   38,274,888   5,924,828   1,314,264   6,810,227   (4,478,224)   47,845,984 

Operating expenses   37,632,838   5,929,984   982,479   6,331,148   (4,475,290)   46,401,160 

Operating income  $ 642,050  $ (5,156)  $ 331,785  $ 479,078  $ (2,933)  $ 1,444,823 

a. Sales and operating income
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Millions of Yen

’06

Japan North  America Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,001,704  ¥ 198,465  ¥ 230,114  ¥ 4,430,285 

Interarea transfer   1,233   1,984   3,489  ¥ (6,707)

Total revenues   4,002,938   200,449   233,604   (6,707)   4,430,285 

Operating expenses   3,867,073   182,776   221,102   (6,771)   4,264,179 

Operating income  ¥ 135,865  ¥ 17,673  ¥ 12,502  ¥ 64  ¥ 166,105 

Total assets  ¥ 2,507,673  ¥ 148,548  ¥ 243,320  ¥ 29,140   ¥2,928,682 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada
  Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore and Australia
 2. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2006 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities
  maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2006 were ¥34,959 million.

Millions of Yen

’08

Japan North  America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,590,918   ¥ 264,586  ¥ 311,862  ¥ 5,167,366 
Interarea transfer   1,735   1,616   3,112  ¥ (6,465)

Total revenues   4,592,654    266,203   314,974   (6,465)   5,167,366 

Operating expenses   4,454,577    268,311   294,828   (6,391)   5,011,325 

Operating income  ¥ 138,077  ¥ (2,108)  ¥ 20,146  ¥ (73)  ¥ 156,040 

Total assets  ¥ 3,041,372  ¥ 169,878  ¥ 354,498  ¥ 25,657  ¥ 3,591,406 

Millions of Yen

’07

Japan North  America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,300,522  ¥ 257,957  ¥ 266,295  ¥ 4,824,775 

Interarea transfer   1,234   1,883   3,780  ¥ (6,899)

Total revenues   4,301,757   259,841   270,076   (6,899)   4,824,775 

Operating expenses   4,137,912   250,479   253,784   (7,129)   4,635,047 

Operating income  ¥ 163,845  ¥ 9,361  ¥ 16,291  ¥ 230  ¥ 189,728 

Total assets  ¥ 2,956,301  ¥ 228,293  ¥ 325,753  ¥ 23,997  ¥ 3,534,346 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada
  Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia and Australia
 2. The Company changed the name of segment “Others” to “Asia and Others,” since the Group advanced store development in China and Malaysia and strategic importance of Asia is getting greater.
 3. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2007 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities 
  maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2007 were ¥28,474 million.
 4. Certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries changed the presentation of Revenues from  concessionaire to net, in order to conform to the presentation of the Company and the current accounting 
  practice in those countries.
  The effect of this change was to decrease total revenues of “Asia and Others” segment for the year ended February 20, 2007, by ¥25,283 million.

(2) Geographical segments
The geographical segments of the Company and its subsidiaries for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are summarized as follows:
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’08

Japan North  America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  $ 42,508,496   $ 2,449,875  $ 2,887,613  $ 47,845,984  
Interarea transfer   16,072   14,969   28,820  $ (59,863)

Total revenues   42,524,568   2,464,845   2,916,434   (59,863)   47,845,984 

Operating expenses   41,246,076   2,484,367   2,729,896   (59,179)   46,401,160 

Operating income  $ 1,278,491  $ (19,522)  $ 186,537  $ (683)  $ 1,444,823 

Total assets  $ 28,160,859  $ 1,572,952  $ 3,282,389  $ 237,566  $ 33,253,768 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada
  Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia and Australia
 2. Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2008 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities 
  maintained with regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2008 were ¥30,768 million ($284,894 thousand).
 3. The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for business combinations described in Note 2.b was to decrease operating income of Japan and of Asia and other for the year ended 
  February 20, 2008 by ¥7,228 million ($66,928 thousand) and by ¥1,118 million ($10,358 thousand), respectively, from such segments in the prior year.

(3) Sales to foreign customers
Sales to foreign customers for the years ended February 20, 2006, 2007 and 2008 amounted to ¥428,580 million, ¥524,252 million and ¥576,448 
million ($5,337,488 thousand), respectively.

a. Appropriations of retained earnings
The following appropriations of retained earnings at February 20, 2008 
were resolved at the Board of Directors meeting held on April 7, 2008:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Year-end cash dividends,
¥17 ($0.1) per share

 ¥ 13,008  $ 120,448 

b. Stock option plan
Stock options fourth plan
The following stock option plan of the Company was approved at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting and subsequently resolved at the 
Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors meeting, 
both held on May 15, 2008. Directors and executive officers of the 
Company were granted new stock options totaling 216 units at maximum.

These stock options will be issued on November 20, 2008, and can be 
exercised from November 21, 2008 to November 20, 2023. The number 
of shares to be issued by the exercise of each stock option unit shall be 
100 shares.

Stock options fifth plan
The following stock option plan of the Company was approved at the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting and subsequently resolved at the 
Company’s Compensation Committee and Board of Directors meeting, 
both held on May 15, 2008. Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and 
associated companies were granted new stock options totaling 203 units.
These stock options will be issued on May 20, 2009, and can be 
exercised from May 21, 2009 to May 20, 2024. The number of shares to 
be issued by the exercise of each stock option unit shall be 100 shares.

23. Subsequent event
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Corporate history

1758 

  Sozaemon Okada establishes 
Shinoharaya, the forerunner of 
Jusco, in Yokkaichi and begins 
trading in kimono fabrics and 
accessories.

1887

  Soemon Okada moves Shinoharaya, 
located in Yokkaichi-hisaroku 
machi, to Yokkaichi-tsuji machi. 
Shinoharaya changes name to 
Okadaya.

1920

  Okadaya discounts products during 
big economic crash after the World 
War I, following the family motto, 
“Do not earn with higher price; earn 
with lower price.”

1926 

Sept.  Soemon Okada restructures 
Okadaya as a joint stock company. 
Okadaya kimono store established.

1937

Nov.  Kazuichi Futagi establishes Futagi 
clothing store in Himeji.

1946

June  Takuya Okada named President of 
Okadaya kimono store.

1949

July  Futagi restructured as a joint stock 
company. Kazuichi Futagi named 
as President.

1955

Aug.  Jiro Inoue establishes Iida in 
Toyonaka.

1959

Nov.  Okadaya kimono store changes 
name to Okadaya.

1968 

May  Business tie-up established 
between Okadaya and Futagi.

June   Shiro joins the partnership between 
Okadaya and Futagi. 

1969 

Feb.  Jusco established as a joint 
purchasing organization through 
joint venture of Okadaya, Futagi 
and Shiro. 

Mar.  Jusco and Mitsubishi Shoji 
Corporation jointly establish 
Diamond City.

1970 

Mar.  Okadaya merges with Futagi, Okadaya 
chain, Kawamura and Jusco.

Apr.  Okadaya changes name to Jusco.

1972 

Aug.  Jusco merges with Yamateya, 
Yamateya Sangyo and Keihan Jusco.

1974 

June   The R. MI. Jusco farm (current 
Tasmania Feedlot) established 
in Australia.

Sept.  Jusco listed on Second Sections 
of the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya 
Stock Exchanges.

1976

Aug.  Jusco moved up to First Sections 
of the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya 
Stock Exchanges. 

Aug.   Jusco establishes a headquarters 
in Tokyo and begins the “2 
headquarters, 1 branch system.”

1980

Sept. Jusco credit card issued.

Dec.   Abilities Jusco established as 
joint venture with Japan Abilities 
Incorporated.

1984

Sept.  Jaya Jusco Stores established 
in Malaysia. 

Oct.  Business agreement concluded 
with U.K.’s Laura Ashley. 

Dec.  Siam Jusco established in Thailand.

1985

June  Jaya Jusco Stores opens the first 
overseas store for Jusco. 

Dec.  Jusco Stores (Hong Kong) 
established.

1986

Feb.  Laura Ashley Japan established as 
joint venture between Jusco and 
Laura Ashley.

Oct.   Shinshu Jusco becomes the first 
subsidiary of Jusco Group to list 
on Second Section of the Nagoya 
Stock Exchange.

1988

June  Talbots, a U.S. women’s fashion 
specialty chain store, joins Jusco 
Group.

Sept.  Well Mart listed on the OTC market.

1989

Sept.  Jusco Group renamed Aeon 
Group, and Aeon Group 1% Club 
established to promote activities of 
benefit to society. 

Oct.  Diamond City listed on Second 
Section of the Osaka Stock 
Exchange.

1990

Apr.  Jusco forms joint venture with U.K.-
based The Body Shop. 

June   Ministop concludes a contract for 
technical support with Miwon 
(current Daesang Distribution & 
Services) of South Korea.

June  Aeon Forest, which carries out 
domestic operations of The Body 
Shop, established. 

Aug.  Cox listed on the OTC market. 

Aug.  Aeon Group announces 
participation in management of 
U.K.’s Laura Ashley. 

1991

Jan.  Aeon Group Environment 
Foundation established. 

Sept.   Business and capital partnership 
established with home center 
operator, Keiyo.

Oct.  Jaya Jusco Stores Malacca Store 
opens in Malaysia—first store to 
have trees planted under “Aeon 
Hometown Forests” program.

1992

Jan.  Jusco, Keiyo and Ishiguro Homa 
conclude business and capital 
tie-up to develop new type of 
discount store.

Apr.   Twenty thousand trees planted 
at the Jusco Shin Hisai Store, 
the first Japanese store of “Aeon 
Hometown Forests” program.

Oct.   Aeon Environment Foundation 
officially recognized as a 
corporation operating for the 
public good.

1993

July  Ministop listed on Second Section 
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Nov.  Talbots listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange.
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1994

Feb.  Jusco Stores (Hong Kong) listed on 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 

Mar.   Business and capital tie-up with 
Nakasan Department Store, a 
leading department store in Tohoku.

May   Construction of a new office building, 
the “Aeon Tower,” completed.

July  Tie-up with Claire’s Stores, 
America’s largest chain store of 
fashion accessories, to develop 
chain in Japan. 

Sept.  Private brand Topvalu launched. 

Nov.   Business and capital tie-up with a 
large liquor discounted store chain 
operator, Yamaya.

Nov.   Ministop concludes a franchise 
contract overseas with Philippine 
MCA Corporation.

Dec.  Aeon Credit Service listed on the 
OTC market.

1995

Jan.  Operational and capital partnership 
established between Jusco and 
Tsuruha. 

Feb.   My Land Shoes renamed Nustep 
after merging with Diamond 
Takada.

Aug.  Ishiguro Homa, Make and Ishiguro 
Jusco merge to establish Homac. 

Sept.  Aeon Credit Service (ASIA) listed 
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 

Nov.  Blue Grass listed on the OTC 
market. 

Dec.  Guangdong Jusco Teem Stores 
established. 

Dec.  Jusco becomes capital participant 
in Home Wide.

1996

Mar.  Qingdao Dongtai Jusco 
established.

July  Guangdong Jusco Teem Stores 
opens Jusco’s first store in China.

July  Jusco, Mitsubishi Shoji Corporation 
and Mitsubishi Shoji Sekiyu Co., Ltd. 
jointly finance the establishment of 
Mega Petro. 

July   Mega Sports opens the first store 
of the U.S. No. 1 sports-related 
specialty store, Sports Authority, in 
Nagoya, Japan.

Aug.  JUS-Photo listed on the OTC 
market. 

Aug.  Ministop moves from Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange to First Section.

Dec.  Aeon Credit Service listed on 
Second Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange. 

Dec.  Jaya Jusco Stores listed on main 
board of the Kuala Lumpur Stock 
Exchange.

1997 

Feb.  Aeon Fantasy established. 

Feb.   Jusco Maintenance renamed Aeon 
Techno Service.

June   Motoya Okada named President of 
Jusco.

1998 

July  Jusco becomes a capital participant 
in Kojima, the largest pet shop 
chain in Japan, to form the fully 
capitalized Petcity. 

July  Jusco begins cooperating with the 
major American fashion apparel 
chain Liz Claiborne. 

July  Over 2,500 volunteers from China 
and Japan participate in first tree-
planting along the Great Wall of 
China.

Aug.  Aeon Credit Service listed on 
First Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange.

1999 

Jan.  Donation drive held for Cambodian 
artificial limb center.

Jan.  Jusco, Tsuruha and Kraft 
establish business tie-up. Jusco 
becomes capital participant in Kraft. 

Feb.  Liz Japan established as joint 
venture between Jusco and Liz 
Claiborne.

Apr.   Cinema complex operator, Aeon 
Cinemas established.

July   The second tree-planting session of 
the “Great Wall Reforestation” 
project held.

Aug.  Jusco merges with Shinshu Jusco 
and Ogiya Jusco. 

Aug.  Kyushu Jusco and Asahi Jusco 
merge. 

Aug.  Primart and Okinawa Jusco merge 
to establish Ryukyu Jusco. 

Aug.  Jusco, Tsuruha and Drug Eleven 
establish business tie-up, and 
Jusco becomes capital 
participant in Drug Eleven. 

2000 

Jan.  Jusco, Tsuruha and Sugi Pharmacy 
establish business and capital tie-up. 

Feb.  Jusco and Greencross · Coa 
establish business and capital tie-up.

Feb.  Jusco merges with Hokuriku Jusco. 

Mar.  Yaohan Japan changes name 
to Yaohan and enters into Aeon 
Group.

Mar.  Private brand Topvalu rejuvenated.

Apr.  Jusco and Hac-kimisawa establish 
business and capital tie-up. 

May  Jusco, Takiya Shoji and Sugi 
Pharmacy establish business tie-up. 
Jusco becomes capital and 
business participant in Takiya Shoji. 

May  The third tree-planting session of 
the “Great Wall Reforestation” 
project held.

May  Takuya Okada retires as Chairman 
of Jusco and becomes Honorary 
Chairman and Adviser. Toshiji 
Tokiwa becomes Chairman.

May  Tohoku Well Mart changes name to 
Maxvalu Tohoku. 

May  Aeon Group “My Basket” campaign 
initially launched.

June  Jusco obtains ISO 14001 
certification for all of its offices and 
stores. 

Aug.  Kyushu Jusco listed on the OTC 
market. 

Aug.  Maxvalu Tohoku listed on Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange. 

Aug.  Well Mart and Sanyo Maxvalu 
merge and change name to 
Maxvalu Nishinihon. 

Sept.  Aeon Group acquires Organic-JAS 
certification for Topvalu 
Green-Eye products from Ministry 
of Agriculture Forestry and Fishery 
of Japan.

Oct.  Sapporo Food Center and 
Hokkaido Jusco merge and change 
name to Maxvalu Hokkaido. 
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Oct.  Frex Acore changes name to 
Maxvalu Chubu. 

Dec.  The total number of trees planted 
under “Aeon Hometown Forests” 
program exceeds 4 million. 

2001 

Jan.  “Aeon Welcia Stores” selected as 
the group name for the Aeon Group 
Pharmacy and Drugstore Alliance. 

Feb.  Welpark joins Aeon Welcia Stores 
drugstore alliance.

Mar.  Maxvalu Nishinihon integrates 
Mammy, a supermarket chain in 
Yamaguchi.

Apr.  Aeon Group begins to gather 
donations for school construction 
program in Cambodia. 

June  Aeon Group’s Sendai Distribution 
Center becomes operational. 

June  Aeon Kosan changes name to 
Aeon Mall. 

Aug.  Takiya Shoji and Drux merge as 
Takiya. 

Aug.  Jusco Co., Ltd. becomes Aeon 
Co., Ltd. and Aeon Group name 
changed to Aeon. “Global 10” vision 
announced.

Oct.  Greencross · Coa listed on the OTC 
market.

Dec.  Aeon Thana Sinsap (Thailand) 
listed on the Thai Stock Exchange. 

2002 

Jan.  The first “Aeon Clean Road” 
campaign held.

Feb.  Aeon Fantasy listed on the OTC 
market. 

Feb.  Terminals for customer access to 
Japanese beef production records 
introduced.

Mar.  Yaohan recovery plan completed 
and Yaohan becomes Maxvalu 
Tokai. 

Mar.  Yamaya listed on Second Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Mar. Maxvalu Kyushu established.

Apr.  Aeon starts the second charity drive 
for school construction program in 
Cambodia.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Drug Terashima 
establish business and capital tie-up.

May  Shenzhen Aeon Friendship 
established in Shenzhen, China.

May  Tsuruha listed on First Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

May  Five Jusco stores adopt 13 
customers as a deputy store 
manager.

May  Hallo, a supermarket chain, joins 
Aeon.

July  Aeon Mall listed on First Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Sept.  Tree-planting project performed in 
Shiretoko, Hokkaido.

Sept.  Iino joins Aeon Welcia Stores 
drugstore alliance.

Oct.  “Deputy Store Manager” system 
expanded to 89 customers and 34 
stores.

Nov.  Sales of Food Artisan products 
begins.

Nov.  Diamond City listed on Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange.

2003 

Feb.  Diamond City listed on First 
Sections of the Tokyo and Osaka 
Stock Exchanges.

Feb.  Kansai NDC, one of the largest 
distribution centers in Japan, begins 
operation.

Apr.  Talbots opens its first store for men 
in Connecticut, U.S.A.

Apr.  Aeon starts the third charity drive 
for school construction program in 
Cambodia.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. adopts a Company 
with Committees governance 
structure.

June  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Kasumi establish 
business and capital tie-up.

July  Taiwan Aeon Stores opens its first 
regional Jusco store in Taiwan.

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Sunday establish 
business and capital tie-up.

Sept.  Kyushu Jusco and Home Wide 
merge to form Aeon Kyushu.

Oct.  “Deputy Store Manager” system 
expanded to 110 customers and 
43 stores.

Nov.  Mycal and Mycalkyushu become a 
part of Aeon.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Posfūl establish 
business and capital tie-up.

Nov.  Aeon Fantasy listed on Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange.

Nov.   Maxvalu Kyushu, Nishi Kyushu Well 
Mart and Hallo merge as Maxvalu 
Kyushu.

2004

Jan.  Gourmet D’Or and Jack merge as 
Gourmet D’Or.

Mar.  Aeon begins to collect donations 
for a program to support school 
construction in Nepal. 

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Inageya 
establish business tie-up.

Apr.  The total number of trees planted 
under “Aeon Hometown Forests” 
program exceeds five million.

June  Joy becomes a subsidiary of Aeon 
Co., Ltd. 

July  Maxvalu Tokai relisted on Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange. 

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. increases its capital 
through a publicly subscribed issue 
of 27 million shares. 

Sept.  The “ ” brand 
message launched as a new brand 
strategy. 

Sept.  Topvalu range updated to mark the 
brand’s 10th anniversary. 

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. announces its 
participation in the United Nations 
Global Compact.

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. celebrates the 30th 
anniversary of its stock exchange 
listing.

Sept.  Jaya Jusco Stores Bhd. changes 
name to Aeon Co. (M) Bhd. and 
launches a tree-planting campaign 
in Malaysia to commemorate its 
20th anniversary. 

Sept.  Aeon (China) established in 
Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province, China. 

Oct.  Zwei listed on the JASDAQ market.

Oct.  Aeon launches a campaign to 
collect donations to help victims of 
the Niigata-Chuetsu Earthquake 
and Typhoon Tokage. 

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. achieves SA8000 
certification for its Topvalu supplier 
management systems and Aeon 
corporate operations. 
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Nov.  Medical Ikkou listed on the 
JASDAQ market. 

Dec.  Certo listed on the JASDAQ 
market.

Dec.  Aeon collects donations to help 
victims of the tsunami triggered 
by the Sumatra-Andaman Island 
Earthquake.

Dec.  Aeon Fantasy listed on First Section 
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

2005 

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Carrefour S.A. 
agree on a strategic business tie-
up. Aeon acquires management 
rights of Carrefour Japan, and 
changes name to Aeon Marché.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. and home center 
operator Sunday agree to 
strengthen their existing business 
and capital tie-up. 

May  Aeon Chikusa Shopping Center 
opened as Aeon’s first “Eco Store.”

June  Aeon Co., Ltd. presents to UNICEF 
donations for victims of the tsunami 
triggered by the Sumatra-Andaman 
Island Earthquake.

Sept.  Emergency relief campaigns held 
for the victims of Hurricane Katrina 
in the U.S.

Oct.  Super Center Operations divided 
to be succeeded by the newly 
organized Aeon Supercenter.

Oct.  Fundraising campaign for 
emergency relief for the victims of 
the Pakistan Earthquake performed.

Oct.   Tree-planting in the area 
surrounding the Mount Lao Dam in 
Qingdao City, China held.

Nov.  Aeon Co. (M) Bhd. opens its first 
supermarket in Malaysia, J-One 
Damansara Damai. 

Nov.  Tree-planting activities performed 
in tsunami-affected areas of 
Phuket, Thailand.

Dec.  East Japan Railway Company 
and Aeon Co., Ltd. agree on a 
comprehensive business tie-up.

Dec.   Aeon announces the establishment 
of a human-resource general 
training institute for Aeon Welcia 
Stores.

Dec.   Aeon enters business and capital 
tie-up with Tsuruya Shoe Store.

Dec.  Mycal completes corporate 
rehabilitation seven years ahead of 
schedule.

2006 

Feb.   Talbots in the U.S. announces a 
friendly acquisition of J. Jill Group.

Feb.  Celebration of the 15th anniversary 
of the Aeon Environment 
Foundation with invited guest, 
Nobel Peace Prize laureate 
Wangari Maathai.

Mar.  Welcia Kanto merges with Iino.

Mar.  SPA-type everyday clothing 
introduced under Topvalu brand.

Mar.   Aeon Co., Ltd. announces its 
participation in banking business 
activities.

Mar.  Origin Toshu becomes a 
consolidated subsidiary.

Mar.   Aeon Co., Ltd. agrees to introduce a 
mobile credit payment service, “iD”* 
with NTT DoCoMo, Inc.

Mar.  Six subsidiaries of Aeon Co., Ltd. 
and four subsidiaries of Mycal were 
consolidated for the reorganization 
and reinforcement of Service 
Operations. Japan Maintenance, 
Aeon Fantasy, Certo, Gourmet D’Or, 
and Research Institute For Quality 
Living become new consolidated 
companies.

Apr.   Sunday becomes a consolidated 
company.

Apr.   Aeon begins collecting donations 
for the construction of schools in 
Laos.

May   Nafukohasegawa Corporation 
becomes a consolidated subsidiary 
of Maxvalu Chubu.

May  Diamond City becomes a 
consolidated subsidiary.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. presents to 
Indonesian Embassy donations 
for victims of the Java Indonesia 
Earthquake.

July  Nafukohasegawa Corporation 
changes name to Maxvalu Nagoya.

July  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Yamaya 
establish the joint-venture import 
company, Cordon Vert.

July  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Belc establish 
business and capital tie-up.

Sept.  New Mycal store opens for the first 
time in five years and nine months.

Sept.  Sunday and Joy, home center chain 
in Yamagata, establish business 
and capital tie-up.

Sept.  JAPAN POST and Aeon Co., Ltd. 
agree on a comprehensive business 
tie-up.

Oct.  The second tree-planting project 
in Qingdao and a workshop about 
a Chinese historical figure, Jofuku, 
held both in China.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. issues 70 million 
shares through a public offering.

Nov.  Tree-planting project performed in 
Kenya.

Nov.  Sales of seafood certified by the 
Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
begins. Aeon Co., Ltd. becomes 
the first retail company in Japan to 
acquire MSC-CoC Certification.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. issues 4,591,300 
shares through third-party 
allocation of shares.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. completes license 
agreement with Walt Disney 
Japan, and begins sales of original 
products with Disney characters.

2007 

Jan.  A new method to reduce checkout 
bag consumption tried at Jusco 
Higashiyama-Nijo Store.

Feb.   Aeon stores accept electronic 
payments called “iD™” using 
mobile phones developed by 
NTT DoCoMo, Inc. and “Suica”* 
cards from East Japan Railway 
Company after becoming the first 
company in Japan to install shared 
infrastructure for both of these 
payment systems.

Feb.  Aeon takes over Joy-Copain and 
establishes a new company, Aeon 
Bakery Systems. 

Feb.   Aeon introduces a new human 
resource management system, 
under which employment for all 
employees is extended to age of 65. 

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd., The Daiei, Inc., and 
Marubeni Corporation agree on 
capital and business partnership. 
Part of the Daiei’s shareholding in 
The Maruetsu, Inc. is transferred to 
Aeon. 

Mar.   Aeon collects donations for 
emergency assistance to victims 
of the 2007 Noto Peninsula 
Earthquake. 
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Apr.   Aeon Co., Ltd. and Posfūl agree to 
split off Aeon’s general retailing 
operations in Hokkaido and transfer 
them to Posfūl.

Apr.   Aeon Co., Ltd. becomes the first 
company in the general retailing 
industry to sign an agreement 
with the Japanese Ministry of the 
Environment concerning initiatives 
toward the establishment of a 
recycling-oriented society. 

Apr.   Aeon Co., Ltd. acquires private 
placement of shares in Posfūl, 
which becomes a subsidiary. 

Apr.   Aeon launches its own branded 
e-money system, Waon.

Apr.  East Japan Railway Company and 
the Aeon Environment Foundation 
plant trees on the Akita Shimohama 
Coast. 

May  Aeon donates funds collected by 
Aeon companies to assist victims of 
an earthquake that struck the Noto 
Peninsula in the Hokuriku region. 

May  Three new preparatory companies 
are established to take over private-
brand product development, demand 
aggregation and supply chain 
management from Aeon Co., Ltd. 

June  Aeon Stores (Hong Kong) and Aeon 
Credit Service (Asia) plant trees to 
commemorate the 20th anniversary 
of the commencement of business 
operations in Hong Kong. 

July  The Aeon Environment Foundation 
and the Beijing Municipal People’s 
Government implement a tree-
planting project along the Great 
Wall of China at Badaling in 
Yanqing County, Beijing. 

July  Aeon Co., Ltd., Maruetsu, and 
Marubeni Corporation agree to form 
a business alliance. 

July  Aeon donates funds to UNICEF to 
support school construction in Laos.

Aug.  Diamond City merges with 
Aeon Mall. 
Mycalkyushu merges with Aeon 
Kyushu.

Aug.  Aeon donates funds collected by 
Aeon companies to assist victims of 
an offshore earthquake that struck 
the Niigata-Chuetsu region.

Oct.  Aeon Bank is granted a banking 
license by the Financial Services 
Agency. 

Oct.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Japan Airlines 
agree to form a business alliance. 

Oct.  Agreement is reached on business 
alliance between Aeon Co., Ltd. and 
SIIC Shanghai (Holdings) Co., Ltd. 

Oct.  Aeon Bank increased capital 
through a third-party allotment of 
new shares and was reorganized 
as an equity method associated 
company.

Nov.  The Aeon 1% Club and Sophia 
University open the Preah Norodom 
Sihanouk Angkor Museum near the 
Angkor Wat World Heritage site. 

Nov.  The Aeon 1% Club welcomes 20 
high school students from Vietnam 
to Japan under the “Teenage 
Ambassador” program. 

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. establishes Beijing 
Aeon in the capital of the People’s 
Republic of China.

Nov.  The Aeon 1% Club donates 
emergency relief funds to the 
Embassy of Bangladesh to assist 
victims of a devastating cyclone. 

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and SANYO Electric 
Co., Ltd. agree to collaborate on 
the development of electrical 
appliances for the Topvalu private 
brand goods. 

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Aeon Forest 
establish Aeon Body with the aim 
of creating a new business format 
combining retail operations and 
services relating to health and 
beauty.

Dec.  Kohyo becomes a subsidiary of 
Aeon Co., Ltd. as a result of a share 
transfer. 

2008 

Feb.  Aeon and Sumitomo Mitsui Card 
Co., Ltd. agree to form a business 
alliance.

Feb.  Aeon Co., Ltd., Aeon Credit Service 
and Aeon Mall establish Aeon 
Insurance Service to integrate their 
insurance agency activities. 

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd., NTT DoCoMo, Inc., 
East Japan Railway Company, and 
West Japan Railway Company 
expand their e-money systems 
(Waon, iD™, Suica, ICOCA*) 
nationwide. 

Mar.  The Aeon Environment Foundation 
and Aeon donate funds raised 
through the “Save the Panda” 
Christmas wrapping campaign 
to the China Conservation and 
Research Center for the Giant 
Panda in Sichuan Province. 

Mar.  Aeon becomes the first Japanese 
retail organization to establish 
specific numerical targets for the 
reduction of CO2 emissions with the 
adoption of the Aeon Manifesto on 
the Prevention of Global Warming.

Apr.  Joy merges with Maxvalu Hokkaido. 

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. signs an absorption-
type split agreement transferring 
its supermarket operations in the 
Kyoto-Osaka-Kobe areas of the 
Kinki region to its consolidated 
subsidiary, Kohyo. 

Apr.  The Aeon Environment Foundation 
and the Beijing Municipal People’s 
Government implement a tree-
planting project along the Great 
Wall of China at Badaling in 
Yanqing County, Beijing. 

Apr.  Aeon resumes sales of American 
beef. 

May  The Aeon 1% Club donates 
emergency relief funds to the 
Embassy of the Union of Myanmar 
to assist victims of the major 
cyclone that struck central and 
southern Myanmar. 

May  CFS Corporation and Aeon Co., Ltd. 
sign a business and capital tie-up 
agreement. 

May  Tsuruya Shoe Store, Nustep 
and Aeon Co., Ltd. sign a basic 
agreement on a merger between 
Tsuruya Shoe Store and Nustep with 
Tsuruya Shoe Store as the surviving 
company. 

May  Aeon donates emergency relief 
funds to assist victims of the 
earthquake in China’s Sichuan 
Province. 

*”iD™” is a registered trademark of NTT DoCoMo, Inc.

“ICOCA” is a registered trademark of West Japan Railway Company

“Suica” is a registered trademark of East Japan Railway Company
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91Major group companies (as of Feb. 20, 2008)

General Merchandise Stores (GMS)
 ÆON CO., LTD.
* ÆON Hokkaido Corporation
* AEON Stores (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
* AEON Co. (M) Bhd.
* ÆON KYUSHU CO., LTD.
* ÆON Marché Co., Ltd.
* MYCAL CORPORATION
* RYUKYU JUSCO CO., LTD.
* AEON (China) Co., Ltd.
* Beijing AEON Co., Ltd.
* Guangdong JUSCO Teem Stores Co., Ltd.
* Qingdao AEON Dongtai Co., Ltd.
* Shenzhen AEON Friendship Co., Ltd.
* Taiwan AEON Stores Co., Ltd.

Supermarkets
 The Maruetsu, Inc.
 Inageya Co., Ltd.
 KASUMI CO., LTD.
* Maxvalu Chubu Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Nishinihon Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tohoku Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd.
 Belc CO., LTD.
* Maxvalu Hokkaido Co., Ltd.
* KOHYO CO., LTD.
* Maxvalu Kyushu Co., Ltd.
* JOY CO., LTD.
* AEON (Thailand) CO., LTD.

Convenience stores
* MINISTOP CO., LTD.

Drugstores
 CFS Corporation
 WELCIA KANTO CO., LTD.
 Terashima Co., Ltd.
 Medical Ikkou Co., Ltd.
 Welpark Co., Ltd.
 Kraft Holdings Inc.
* TAKIYA Co., Ltd.

Other retail stores
* SUNDAY CO., LTD.
* ÆON SUPERCENTER CO., LTD.
* JOY Co., Ltd.
* Bon Belta Co., Ltd.

Specialty stores
* The Talbots, Inc.
 Taka:Q Co., Ltd.
 YAMAYA CORP.
 TSURUYA SHOE STORE Co., Ltd.
* COX CO., LTD.
* BLUE GRASS Co., Ltd.
* Abilities Jusco Co., Ltd.
* ÆON FOREST CO., LTD.
* ÆON Bakery Systems Co., Ltd.
* ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.
 Claire’s Nippon Co., Ltd.
* Talbots Japan Co., Ltd.
* NUSTEP CO., LTD.
* PETCITY CO., LTD.
* MYCAL CANTEVOLE Co., Ltd.
* MIRAIYA SHOTEN CO., LTD.
* Mega Sports Co., Ltd.
* MEGA PETRO Co., Ltd.
* LAURA ASHLEY JAPAN CO., LTD.

SC development operations
* ÆON Mall Co., Ltd.
 LOC DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

Financial services
* ÆON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) CO., LTD.
* AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (M) BERHAD
 ÆON BANK, LTD.
* A•C•S CREDIT MANAGEMENT CO., LTD.
* N•C•S KOSAN CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT CARD (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT GUARANTEE (CHINA) CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (TAIWAN) CO., LTD.
* AEON INFORMATION SERVICE (SHENZHEN) CO., LTD.
* PT.AEON CREDIT SERVICE INDONESIA

Services
* ÆON DELIGHT CO., LTD.
* ÆON Fantasy Co., Ltd.
* ZWEI CO., LTD.
* CERTO Corporation
* ÆON CINEMAS CO., LTD.
  ÆON Demonstration Service Inc.
* ÆON BODY Co., Ltd.
* JUSVEL CO., LTD.
*  Research Institute For Quality Living Co., Ltd.
* Reform Studio Co., Ltd.
 Warner Mycal Corporation

Food services
* ÆON Eaheart Co., LTD.

Merchandise procurement and 
food-processing operations
* AIC Inc.
* AEON GLOBAL SCM CO., LTD.
* AEON GLOBAL MERCHANDISING CO., LTD.
* AEON TOPVALU CO., LTD.
* Cordon Vert CO., LTD.
* DELICA SYOKUHIN CO., LTD.
* Food Supply Jusco Co., Ltd.
* Tasmania Feedlot Pty. Ltd.

E-commerce businesses
* AEON VISTY CO., LTD.

 *Consolidated subsidiaries.
  Listed companies are shown in bold print.

•ÆON 1% Club
•ÆON Environment Foundation
•The Cultural Foundation of Okada

Shareholder information
Head Office 1-5-1 Nakase, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi, Chiba
 261-8515, Japan
 Te l : 81-(43)-212-6042
 Fax: 81-(43)-212-6849
 Homepage: http://www.aeon.info

Capital Stock ¥199,054 million (800,446,214 shares)

Shareholders’ Meeting  May 15, 2008

Stock Exchange Listing  Tokyo Stock Exchange

Transfer Agent  The Chuo Mitsui Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
  33-1, Shiba 3-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 

105-8574, Japan

Independent Auditors Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
 MS Shibaura Bldg., 
 13-23, Shibaura
  4-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 

108-8530, Japan



1-5-1 Nakase, Mihama-ku, Chiba-shi, Chiba 261-8515, Japan
Tel: 81-(43)-212-6042    Fax: 81-(43)-212-6849
Homepage: http://www.aeon.info/

printed in Japan
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